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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20138

The directors present the strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Review of the company's business and principal activities
The company is a member of the Linde plc group ("Linde Group") and its ultimate parent company is Linde plc.

The company's principal activity has been throughout the current and preceding year the management and
administration of its subsidiary companies whose principal activities are the sale and distribution of welding
consumables, safety and related industnal products and equipment. It 1s envisaged that this will continue to be
the principal activity of the company for the foreseeable future.

Performance of the company's business during the financial year

The company's income is mainly derived from dividends and management charges from its subsidiary
undertakings. Investment income increased during the year to £909,375 (2017: £622,500) following an increase
in dividends received.

The results for the year are contained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page 8 and show a profit
after tax for the financial year of £843,899 (2017: £574,722).

Key performance indicators

The directors refer to the company's level of income, its operating and retained profits, the value of its
investments and net asset value in evaluating the company's perfermance.

Position of the company's business at the year ended 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2018 the company held net current assets of £9,496,437 (2017: £8,622,250) and net assets
of £11,699,630 (2017: £10,755,731).

Objectives and strategies
The company's primary objective and strategy is to continue as a holding company for its subsidiary companies.
Markets

Industrial Supplies & Services Limited is the holding company for a group of companies, principally operating in
the United Kingdom.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risk and uncertainty facing the company is investment risk. As a holding company, Industrial
Supplies & Services Limited is exposed to the risk of impairment through poor performing subsidiaries.
Impairment reviews are carried out at least annually to effectively manage and mitigate this risk.

The United Kingdom’s farthcoming exit from the European Union (“Brexit”) and the uncertainty it brings, poses
potential financial risks to the markets of the company's subsidiaries and their business. However any potential
impact of Brexit will, to some extent, be mitigated by the fact that the company's trading subsidiaries hold a
significant inventory of products in warehouses in the UK, as do their suppliers. Where products and raw
materials are imported directly from mainland Europe and non- EU countries, it is via well-established processes
and robust supply chains. We have a number of workstreams considering the vanous Brexit scenarios and we
and the company's trading subsidiaries are looking at alternative supply options and associated contingency
measures to ensure that we and the company's trading subsidiaries will be prepared. We also note that any
supply risks that may exist will be consistent across our industry,
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

This report was approved by the board of directors on 19 September 2019 and signed on its behalf by

S A Williams
Director
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 21 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018,
Directors
The directors who held office during and after the year under review were:

Mr J P Black

Mr J M Bland {appeinted as alternate director to Mrs S A Williams 30 September 2018)
Mr G Gill

Mrs S A Williams

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.
Dividends

No interim dividends were paid during the year (2017. £nil) and the directors do not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: £nil).

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors holding office at the date of approval of this directors report confirm that, so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware and each director has taken all
steps that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

This report was approved by the board of directors on 19 September 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

Kelly
Secretary

10 Priestley Road
Surrey Research Park
Guildford

Surrey

GU2 7XY

England
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT,
DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the the strategic report, directors’ report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law
(UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- assess the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and

- use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safequard the assets of the company and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Industrial Supplies & Services Limited (“the
company™) for the year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the profit and loss

account, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity and related notes, including the
accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements;

¢ give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018
and of its profit for the year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

¢ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(“ISAs (UK)Y") and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the company in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our
opinion.

The impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit

Uncertainties related to the effects of Brexit are relevant to understanding our audit of the
financial statements. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made
by the directors, and related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis
of preparation of the financial statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future
gconomic enyvironment and the company’s future prospects and performance,

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this
report its effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the
full range of possible effects unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in
response to that uncertainty when assessing the company’s future prospects and
performance. However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or
all possible future implications for a company and this is particularly the case in relation to
Brexil.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do
not intend to liquidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded
that the company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded
that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability
to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial
statements (“the going concern period™).
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Going concern (continued)

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concemn
basis of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date
of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we
considered the inherent risks to the company’s business model, including the impact of
Brexit, and analysed how those risks might affect the company’s financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report in
these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events
may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the
time they were made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's
report is not a guarantee that the company will continue in operation.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit
opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so,
consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the

directors’ report;

. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements; and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

» the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or

s certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.



Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 4, the directors are responsible
for: the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s respensibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

\\y»cg« ‘Q—J’J

Nick Plumb {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountanis

1 Sovereign Square

Sovereign Street

Leeds

LSI 4DA

k?ir September 2019



INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
Administrative expenses 2
Other operating income
Operating loss
Investment income 3
Interest receivable and similar income 4
Profit before taxation
Tax on profit 5

Profit for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

All of the above relates to continuing operations.

2018 2017
£ £
(465,111)  (462,121)
335,421 356,450
{(129,690)  (105,671)
909,375 622,500
77,022 44,429
856,707 561,258
(12,808) 13,464
843,899 574,722

The company has no items of other comprehensive income in the year other than those included in the profit
and loss account above and therefore no separate statement of comprehensive income has been prepared.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 01538873

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Non-current assets

Investments in group undertakings
Tangible Fixed Assets

Current assets / {liabilities)

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

Shareholders' funds

Note

11

12

14

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

2018 2017
£ £
1,989,050 1,989,050
114,143 144,431
2,103,193 2,133,481
11,373,020 9,237,107
1,213,234 1,443,829
(3,089,817) (2,058,686)
9,496,437 8,622,250
11,599,630 10,755,731
10,250 10,250
14,998 14,998
11,574,382 10,730,483

11,599,630

10,755,731

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 19 September 2019 and were signed on its

behalf by:

Mrs S A Williams
Director
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Share
Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
£ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2018 10,250 14,998 10,730,483 10,755,731
Profit for the year - - 843,899 843,899
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 843,899 843,899
Balance at 31 December 2018 10,250 14,998 11,574,382 11,599,630
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
Share
Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
£ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2017 10,250 14,998 10,155,761 10,181,009
Profit for the year - - 574,722 574,722
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 574,722 574,722
Balance at 31 December 2017 10,250 14,998 10,730,483 10,755,731

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies

Industrial Supplies & Services Limited 1s a company incorporated in England and Wales and
domiciled in the UK. The registered number is 01538873 and the registered address is 10 Priestley
Road, Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England.

The company is exempt by virtue of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the company as an
individual undertaking and not about its group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework ("FRS 101"},

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
("Adopted IFRSs™), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act
20086 and has set out betow where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking, Linde plc, includes the company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained
from its principal trading address at, The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, Surrey Research Park,
Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:

- a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

- comparative period reconciliations for share capital, tangible fixed assets and intangible assets;

- disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned members of the Linde Group:

- disclosures in respect of capital management;

- the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

- disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set cut in this note have been applied consistently in preparing these
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the year ended 31 December 2017,
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies {continued)

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Measurement convention
The financial statement are prepared on the historical cost basis.
Going concern

The use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate because there are nc material
uncertainties related to events or conditicns that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the
company to continue as a going concern.

Functional currency

The functional currency of Industrial Supplies and Services Limited is sterling and the accounts are
prepared using its functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and
other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.,

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis, or on a reducing
balance basis, over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of tangible fixed assets. Land 1s
not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Rebrand costs - straight line 3 years uniform/ straight line 5 year signage
- Fixtures, fittings & office equipment - straight line 4 years/ 15% reducing balance
- Land and buildings - straight line 10 years buildings/ straight line 50 years property

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1.

Accounting policies {continued)

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Expenses

Operating lease payments

Payments {excluding costs for services and insurance) made under operating leases are recognised
in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives
received are recognised in the profit and loss account as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Interest receivable and Interest payable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the profit and loss account (see
foreign currency accounting policy). Other interest receivable and similar income include interest
receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange gains.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective
interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
profit and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or
other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive
income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following
temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset I1s recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Investments

Fixed assets investments are stated at cost less provision for permanent diminution in value.
Income

Income from shares in group undertakings is recognised when dividends become a legally binding
liability of the company. In the case of interim dividends declared by the board, this is on payment of

the dividend. In the case of dividends appraved by the company’'s members, this is recognised once
passed by the members,
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.10 Accounting estimates and judgements

Provided below are the key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date that may cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

Recoverability of receivables
To assess the recoverability of accounts receivable, the creditworthiness of customers is subject to
constant review. A provision for bad debts is made in line with Group policy.

Fixed assets {impairment}
Fixed assets are depreciated on an annual basis, in accordance with the company's accounting
policy An impairment review is carried out if a triggering event occurs during the year,

2, Expenses and auditor's remuneration
2018 2017
£ £
Operating lease charge:
Land and buildings 11,103 18,107
Motor vehicles 2,702 4,290
Depreciation:
Depreciation 30,291 31,358
Other expenses:
Impairment of balances owed by group undertakings - 81,989
Net foreign exchange gains / losses 1,942 2,339
Auditor's remuneration:
Audit of these financial statements 26,900 26,900
72,938 164,983
3. Income from investments
2018 2017
£ £
Dividends received 909,375 622,500
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Interest

Interest receivable and similar income

Bank interest
Loan interest received from subsidiary undertakings

Tax on profit

Analysis of charge in year
Current tax

UK corparation tax on profits of the period
Adjustments in respect of previous years

Deferred tax

QOrigination and reversal of timing differences
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previocus periods
Effect of changes in tax rates

Total deferred tax

Tax on profit

2018 2017
£ £
76,604 43,799
418 630
77,022 44,429
2018 2017

£ £
10,347 25,698
. (34,564)
10,347 (8,866)
2,828 (888)
(70) (3,814)
(297) 104
2,461 (4,598)

12,808 (13,464)
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Tax on profit (continued)

Factors affecting tax for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2017 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the

UK of 19% (2017 - 19.25%). The differences are explained below:

Profit before taxation

Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 18% (2017 -
19.25%)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Income not assessable for tax purposes
Tax rate changes

Effects of group relief / other reliefs

Current tax charge for the year (as above)

Factors that may affect future tax charges

2018 2017
£ £
856,707 561,258
162,774 108,042
14,407 36,577
(70) (38,378)
(172,781)  (119,810)
(296) 105
8,774 -
12,808 (13,464)

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK is due to change from 19% to 17% with effect from 1 April
2020. The company's deferred tax assets and liabilities have been valued accordingly.

Employee numbers

The average number of persons employed by the company (including relevant directors) during the year,

analysed by category, was as follows:

Management and sales

2018 2017
£ E
5 3
5 3
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Employee costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

Directors' remuneration

Directors' remuneration
Pension costs

2018 2017

£ £
234,253 135,866
27,394 22,919
19,486 10,574
281,133 169,359
2018 2017

£ £
75,194 73,753
6,714 2,708
81,908 76,461

Certain directors of the company are employed as managers or directors by BOC Limited and are
remunerated by this company in respect of therr services to the group as a whole. Their emocluments are
dealt with in the accounts of BOC Limited. Consequently, they have not been disclosed in this note. The

emoluments of other directors directly employed by the company are as above.

Investments

Carrying value

Cost at 1 January 2018
Impairments

Purchase of shares

Net book value at 31 December 2018

Net book value at 31 December 2017

Shares in

group
undertakings
£

1,989,050

1,989,050

1,989,050
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

10.

11.

Tangible fixed assets

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2018
Additions

At 31 December 2018

Depreciation
At 1 January 2018
Charge for the year on owned assets

At 31 December 2018

Net hook value

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017

Debtors

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors

Deferred tax asset (note 13)

Land and Fixtures and

buildings fittings Total
£ £ £
228121 137,768 365,889
- 3 3
228,121 137,771 365,892
108,174 113,284 221,458
13,689 16,602 30,291
121,863 129,886 251,749
106,258 7,885 114,143
119,947 24,484 144,431
2018 2017

£ £

153,013 234,864

11,177,796 8,958,142

36,286 35,716

5,925 8,385

11,373,020

Amounts owed by group companies are interest free and repayable on demand.

9,237,107
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

12,

13.

14,

Creditors
2018 2017
£ £
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade creditors 93,190 142,935
Amounts owed to group undertakings 2,930,823 1,640,491
Corporation tax 10,347 25698
Other creditors 46,916 230,670
Other taxation and social security 8.541 18,892
3,089,817 2,058,686
Amounts owed to group companies are interest free and repayable on demang.
Deferred tax
2018 2017
£ £
Fixed assets 5,925 6,410
Tempeorary differences trading - 1,975
5,925 8,385
At 1 January 8,385 3,786
Adjustment in respect of prior years 70 3,814
Deferred tax charge to P&L for the period {2,530) 785
At 31 December 5,925 8,365
Share capital
2018 2017
£ £
Allotted and fully paid
10,250

10,250 ordinary shares of £1 each 10,250

The holder of the ordinary shares is entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and is

entitled to receive one vote per share at general meetings of the company.

Page 19



INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

15.

16.

17.

Contingent liabilities

The company has a contingent liability in respect of agreements entered into by certain subsidiary
undertakings with the minority shareholders of those undertakings, whereby upon death, retirement or
termination of employment of those mincrity shareholders, the subsidiary or the company may purchase
the ordinary shares at a price determined by the relevant agreement.

Related party transactions
In accordance with FRS 101.8, the company 1s exempt from disclosing transactions with entities that are
part of the Linde Group, or investees of the Linde Group qualifying as related parties, as it is a wholly

owned subsidiary of a parent publishing consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions and balances concern related parties, transactions and balances which are
not wholly owned subsidiaries,

Management and administration charges of £160,629 (2017: £137,914) have been charged to non-
wholly owned subsidiary undertakings.

At 31 December 2018 the following balances were held:

2018 2017

£ E

Amounts due from non-wholly owned subsidiary undertakings 76,635 96,329
Split by:

Gaffney Industrial & Welding Supplies Limited 40,296 75,701

Welder Equipment Services Limited - 3,297

Rock Industrial & Welding Supplies Limited 36,339 17,331

Ultimate parent undertaking and parent company of larger group

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Welding Products Holdings Limited, a company registered
in England & Wales.

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party of the company is Linde plc which is registered in
Ireland at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 7380, lreland.

Linde plc is the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Copies of Linde
plc's consclidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at its principal trading
address, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England. The
ultimate parent company was Linde AG, a company registered in Germany at Klosterhofstrasse 1,
80331 Munich, until 31 October 2018 when Linde plc acquired the majority of the shares of Linde AG.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Participating interests

iubsidiary uqqertakings

% of nominal % of nominal

value held value held
Country of as at as at Nature of
incorporation Name 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 interest Notes & Registered Office
VUmteci T wAllwe_ld industnal & ST T 10 Priestley Read, ‘_Surrey
Kingdom Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Express Industrial & 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom Welding Suppflies 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Future industral & 10 Priestley Road, ‘Surreuya
Kingdom Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Gaffney Industrial & 10 Prnestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom Welding Supplies 80 80 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
~_ Limited o - ~___ Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
UnI;d ' _ _ 10 Priestley Road, $urrey
Kingdom Gas & Gear Limited 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Industrial & Welding 10 Priestiey Road, Surrey
Kingdom Supplies (North 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
West) Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Industrial & Welding _ 10 Priestley Road, Surr‘ey"
Kingdom Management 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
R Mted e R §urrey, hGU2 7XY, England
WS (Industnal &
Weldin .
United Limlltedg(filisglrf:) 10 Priestiey Road, _Surrey
. 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildforg,
Kingdom Gwynedd Industnal Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
& Welding Supples ’ ’
Limited)
United Leen Gate Industral . 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom & Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1 Research Park, Guildford,
{Scotland) Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
Unied Leengate Industrial 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom & Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1 Research Park, Guildford,
{Lincoln) Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Leengate Industrial 10 Pnestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom & Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1 Research Park, Guildfoerd,

(North East) Limited

Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

United Leengate Industrial 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom & Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1 Research Park, Guildford,
{(Nottingham) Surrey, GU2 7XY, England

Umted """ Leengate Industrial T " 10PriestleyRoad, Surrey
Kingdom & Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1 Research Park, Guildford,
Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Pennine Industrial & . 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom Welding Supplies 100.0 100.0 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,

. Limtted S o Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United Rock Industrial & h . 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom Welding Supples 87.5 87.5 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
Limited ) Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United - 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
Kingdom Ryval Gas Limited 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
Surrey, G}JZ 7XY, England
. . 10 Priestley Road, Surrey
m;‘im ;‘fﬂf;:ﬁ?ﬂ;plgsm 100 100 Ordinary£1  Research Park, Guildford,
) o o _ Surrey, GU2 7XY, England
United WessexIndusirial & 10 Priestiey Road, Surrey
Kingdom Welding Supplies 100 100 Ordinary£1 Research Park, Guildford,
Limited Surrey, GU2 7XY, England

* Indirectinterest
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Our Mission

Making
our
world
more

productive

We are making our world more productive by
providing products, technologies and services

that help our customers to improve their economic
and environmental performance in a connected

~ world. And even more by operating as One Linde.
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Letter {0

Shareholders

Dear tis my pleasure to present the
SharehOIdGI'S, newly formed Linde ple, the
leading industiial gascs and
engIoeerng company. Last Dctobes we merged Prasar,
Inc. and finde AG, two workd-class companies with nearly
FAU vears of shared lnstory and successiul acducevemaents,
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Building a High-Performance Culture
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lor s o campany

Our mission statement is “Making oui world more praoductive.”
This includes resource elficiency - moking mare with less -
and bomng a responsible steward ol ous envitonment in
the communities we hyve and work 1w around the world

1t also means developing innovative lechnelogies and
sustainable soluiions which allow out customers Lo teduce
their enviconmentalimpact, Our apphcation technologies
enablod twice as many grecnhouse 9as conssions 1o be
avorded thanm were diecty contted from o operabions.
Hydtagen tuchng capacty cnabled Saa nulhen zero
crinsstun velin e mules per yean Both companies have o
Toneg Tnstory of berg recogmized as deaders i the World
Doy Jetes Sustamabiiity nde s and et s o proud track
pecend ne vall stiive Ta confnagg

Strategy
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Nextwith respect te our growth profile. our base husiness

by prcally grows i line with qlabal industos production,

We augment that rase volume groveth with new project stint-
aps and price  excess of pass thiough inflation. The aew
clement to oor growlh algoritheos mergen synengies. Though
we have begun 1o see some successes alieady, s too carly
1o quantity the value of aur growth synergies. ftowever, what
Pam cortan aboul s the exclement genetanted intocmally

a5 wu beyin o appreaate cadh other's capabiliiies and look
to utihze thereom new narkets and regions.

Noally one of our mostomipar ant prontics s disaplined
captal gllocatimn, The fiest step s to establish an appropnate
and strong ciedit rating for the new company. Tollowed by
mnkaning ouf tack recure of growing o competitive dividend
cachand every year AHer that, we want o mvest the bulk

al our cash How an oft the aitrsctve progects and acquisiions
Hiat nnectoyr steategy andbivestinent citetg, Frondly, we will
depoy oy execss cashilo o sl repnnchase progeans.,

Looking Forward

Never beforean ounindasioy s one company possessed
the breadthand depth ol techimcal capabiities, cngnieetingg
proveess industiy know-how and tabost balanee sheet

We e niely posttiionesd Lo capitalize oncatl patentil
et apportunties icludmeg the demand Yor clean eocngy
healthieore veceds ol ancaguug papsalation cmerging ek
development and digtal nanstormstion. 10is dilticult for

e o anyone clse to predict the next coononmie downtuin,
Lt Hhove confidence in our hysmess maodel and stiong
fursdamentals. wWe have atiack record of stiong ¢ash How
gencrstion throughoul the coonomic cyde in penods

ol cxpansion, woeanvestin canjunchivn with our customers
Lystig thee Tonndation for futuse carnmimags growth. wWhen
coonone srowdh slows and copesinvestinent Tor new
projects subisides s continge 1o dienetabe steane aperatiog
Cash Henw aned cven Twghor free cash flove whieh canothen be
returned o sharchobdver i the form of deadend growth and
share boybacks. Has makes tinde o company lor all seasons.

ook farwand ty out joumey ahical.

Sincerely,

i oy

Steve Angel

Chaef Execotive Officer
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One
Linde

Our One Linde philosophy encompasses
what we do and how we do it.

Qui vision, mission and strategic direction
describe what we do, focusing our efforts
around shared goals that deliver long-term
value tor our stakeholders.

Our Strategic Direction

e eronh s One Finde to harld oo oot ivdividual and
codfes lve strennthis acmss o bger global tootpront we sl
e nehveork densaty o mdustoalgas geagiaphies
and vl e coute Gur robast backlog wWe e fully comnnitted
P ccp e e St walie of T et

Cur Vision

b b the Best o fomiaeg glehob ddustinad gases
v engreeneg connpany, where our people
Actieer mmovative and sos b le solutions o
c LU ST s B e Chod world

Our Mission

W hiee oo st of moking o world more
produchve overy day thiowgh our Inghi-gquality
sofutions, technologres and services we are
inaakineg o customers inere successtul and
Belppneg T sustain agnd prate o our planet




Our Core
Values

Safety

Inclusion

we put safety first. we believe all intidents
ae preventable, and our goal is ne harm to
people, communitics or the envitonment.
We continuausiy work lo improve our safety
culture and performance worldwide.

integrity

We always stive 1o schieve aur gonls e hically aiud
with the lighestimtegrnly, We expocl tans el
And tespectiul ierac tions e i manage et
cinployoes and oo busiess portine s, consistent
wth aur Cade af Busise ss [t gy,

Community

W ate comnnut fod fo nnpev g the commiuroties
whcrewe hve cibwn b G chianabl
coninbutione o eath canplovec volit oy
suppott intioteees thot makbc spaot et ond

stsbarebbe condnbagtions to our world

we embrace diversity and inclusion in order to
attract, develop and retain the best talent and
build high-peiforming teams. By hearing all voices
and benefiting fram diversc opinions, thoughts
and perspectives, we achieve our full promise and
potentiil,

Accountability

We hold ourselves accountable forour pedtormance,
medividually and collectively, We tocos hoth on what
we accomplish and how vo docomphshot, and

v e committed to delivenng on mdivigual and
Cotnnny Goals.




From left to right:

Eduardo Menezes Executive Vice President EMEA

Matt White txecutive vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Christian Bruch Executive Vice President and CEQ Linde Engineering
Steve Angel Chief Excrutive Officer and Member of the Board of Direct
Anne Roby executive vice President

Sanjiv Lamba executive Vice President APAC

Bernd Eulitz Executive vice Peesident Americas




Wolfgang Reitzle
Chairman /
Executive Committee,
Chairman

Mpens: 'unf:ommlttee,
Mémﬁen’
Nomination and
Goversiance Committee,
Member

Victoria Ossadnik
Audit Commitice,
Member /

canjpensgtloa Cnmamttee, _
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Steve Angel

Executive Committiee,
Member

Nance Dicciani

Audit Committee,

Member /

Compensatien Commitiee,
Member

Edward Galante

Compensation Committee,
Chairman /
Audit Committee, Member

Martin Richenhagen
Compensation commcttee,
Member /
Nominationand - =

Governance Comipittes; :
Member

Ann-Kristin Achleitner
Compensation
Commitiee, Member /
Nomination and

Governance Committee,
Member

Thomas Enders

Executive Commitiee, .
Mmember /

Audit Committee,
Member

tarry McVay

Audit Committee,
Member /

Nomination and
Governance Committee,
Member

Robert Wood
Nominatioh:and
Gmremm tmmiﬂee

_chqmuan {.

‘ Fof maore informaticn about Linde corporate governance,
. please visit our website at wmv.iIn,de.tom/abt)yt—linde/corpma!z-qonmame
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This decunent contams ~forward-looking statements”™ within the meaning of the Private Secunities Litigation Reform
Actof 1995 These forward-fooking statements are identified by rerms and phrases such as; anticipate. believe. intend.
estimate. expect. continue. should. could. may. plan. project. predict. will. potential. forecast., and sumilar expressions They
are based on management’s reasonable expectations and assumptions as of the date the statements are made but involve nisks
and uncertamties. These risks and uncertamties mclude, without limitation. the ability to successfully integrate the Praxair
and Linde AG businesses: regulatory or other requirements imposed as a result of the business combination of Praxair and
Linde AG that could reduce anticipated benefits of the transaction: the risk that Linde ple may be unable to achieve expected
synergies or that 10 may take longer or be more costly than expected to achieve those synergies: the performance of stock
markets generally: developments in worldwide and national economies and other international events and curcumstances.
mchudny wade conflicts and tariffs: changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates: the cost and avarlabiliny of electric
now er. natural gas and other raw materials: the ability to achieve price mcreases to offset cost increases: catastrophic events
including natural disasters. epidemics and acts of war and terrorism: the ability to attract. hire. and retain qualified personnel:
the impact of changes in financial accounting standards: the impact of changes in pension plan liabiiities: the impact of tax.
ensyronmental. healthcare and other legistation and govermment regulation in junsdictions 1 which the company operates.
meludme the impact of the LS Tas Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, the cost and outcomes of investigations, hitigation and
regularory proceedings. the impact of potential unusual or non-recurring 1items. continued tunely deyelopment and market
acceptance of new products and applications: the impact of competstive products and pricmg. future financial and operatmg
performance of major customers and mdustries served: the impact of information technology system taifures, network
disruptions and breaches n data security. and the effectiveness and speed of integrating new acquisitions into the business
These tisks and uncertamues may cause actual future results or circumstances to differ materially fiom accounting principles
zenerally aceepted im the United States of America. International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted protections.,
estimates or other forward-looking statements

Linde ple assumes no obligation wo update or provide tesisions 1o any torw ard-looking statement 1 response to
changing crrcumstances The above Tisted nshs and uncertainves are further deseribed i Irem 1A (Risk Tactorsy i ths
report whinch should be reviewed carefully: Please constder Limde ple™s forward-tooking statements i hight of those risks



Linde plec and Subsidiaries
PART1
ITEDM 1. BUSINESS
General

Linde ple 15 a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland with its principal offices in the United
Kingdom Linde pic was formed m 2017 n accordance with the requirements of the business combination agreement, dated
June 1. 2017. as amended. between Linde plc. Praxair. Inc (“Praxair™ and Linde Aktiengesellschaft (“Linde AG™). Effective
October 31, 2018, the business combination was completed and Linde plc is comprised of the businesses of Praxair and
Linde AG (hereinafter the combined group will be referred to as “the company” or “Linde™.

The business combination brought together two leading companies in the global industrial gases industry. leveraging
the proven strengths of each. Linde believes the merger will combine Linde AG's long-held expertise 1n technology with
Praxaic’s efticient operating maodel. thus creating a global leader. The company is expected to enjov strong positions in key
geographies and end markets and will create a more diverse and balanced global portfolio.

Linde 1> the largest industrial gas company worldwide. It continues to be a major technologteal mnovator in the
ndustrial gases industry Its primary products in its industral gases busmess are atmospheric gases (oxvgen, nitrogen. argon,
and rare gases) and process pases (carbon diovide, hebum. hydrogen. electrome gases. specialty gases, and acetylene). The
company also designs, engmeers, and builds equipment that produces industrial gases prunanly for internal use and offers 1ts
customers a wide range of gas production and processing services such as oletin plants. natural gas plants, air separation
plants. hvdrogen and synthesis gas plants and other types of plants. The surface technologies segment supphes wear-resistam
and high-temperature corrosion-resistant metallic and ceramic coatings and powders.

Linde serves a diverse group of mdustries meluding healtheare, petroleum refining. manufacturing, food. beverage
carbonation. fiber-aptics. steel making. aerospace. chenncals and water treatment.

In 2018, the company. Praxaw and Linde AG entered into vanous agreements with regulatory awthorities to satisfy
antitrust reduirements 1o secure approval to consummate the business combination These agreements required the sale of the
majority of Prasaw’™s European industrial gases busimess (completed on December 3, 20183 the majority of Linde AG s
Amertcas nduestrial gases business (completed on March 12 2019), as well as certain dinvestitures of other Prasair and Linde
Al businesses 1n Asta that are expected to be sold in 2019, Ax of December 31. 2018 and until the completion of the
majority of such divestitures. Linde AG and Prasair were obligated to operate their businesses globally as separate and
independent compamies. and not coordimate amy of their commercial operations. The U S. Federal Trade Commussion’s (the
“FTC™) hold separate order (*HSO™) restrictions were hifted March 1. 2019, concurrent with the sale of the required merger-
related divestitures 1n the United States. See Notes 4 and 23 to the conselidated financial statements for additional
mtormation relaung to disestitures,

Praxamr was determined to be the accounting acquirer m the business combination. Accordingly. the historical tinancial
statements of Praxair for the periods prior to the business combination are considered to be the historical financial statements
of the company. The results of Linde AG are included in Linde’s consolidated results from the date of the completion of the
business combination forward. Also, during 2018 the company reported its continuing operations in six reporting segments
under which it managed 11s operations, assessed performance, and reported earnings: North America, South America. Asia.
Europe. Surface Technologies and Linde AG. Linde AG became the sixth reportable segment effectiv e with the merger on
October 31, 201K,

Linde’s sales were $14.900 milhon, $11.437 million. and $10.534 million for 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectinvely.
Refer to Ttem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis, for a discussion of consolidated sales and Note 20 to the
consohdated financial statements for additional information related to Linde’s reportable segments.

Tndustrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmospheric gases are the highest volume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material. Linde produces
oxy gen. nitrogen and argon through several air separation processes of which cryogenic air separation 15 the most prevalent.
Rare gases. such as krvpton. neon and xenon. are also produced through cryogenic air separation. As a pioneer in the
industrial gases industry. Linde is a leader in developing a wide range of proprietary and patented applications and supply
systems technology. Linde also led the development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for
the production of industrial gases. These technologies open miportant new markets and optimize production capacity for the
company by lowermg the cost of supphy ing mdustrial gases These technologies include proprietary vacuum pressure swing
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adsorption ("VPSA™) and membrane separation (o pioduce gaseous ovy gen and nirogen. tespectit ely

Process gases. ncludmg carbon dioaide. hvdrogen. carbon menoxide. helium. specialty gases and accetyiene are
produced by methods other than air separation. Most carbon dioxide 15 purchased from by -preduct scurces, including
chemical plants. refineries and industrial processes o1 is recovered from carben dioxide wells. Carbon dionide 15 processed 1n
Lmde’s plants to praduce commercial and food-grade carbon diovide Hydrogen and carbun monoade can be produced by
erther steam miethane refonming or auto-thermal 1eformmg of natural gas or other feed streams such as naphtha Hydrogen is
atso produced by purityving by-product sources obtained from the chemical and petrochemical industrics Most of the helium
sold by Linde 1» sourced from certain helium-rich natural gas streams in the United States. with additional supplies being
acquired from outside the United States. Acetvlene is primarily sourced as a chenucal by-product. but may also be produced
from calcium carbide and water.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three basie distribution methods for imdustrial gases 11) on-site or tonnage: (1) merchant ot bulk Liquid: and
tin) packaged of cylinder gases. These distribution methods are often integrated. with products from all three supply modes
coming from the same plant, The method of supply 15 generally determined by the fowest cost means of meeting the
customer’s needs. dependimg upon taciors such as volume requirements. purits . pattern of usage. and the form in which the
product 1s used {as a gas ar as a eryogenic figuid)

(hi-sire Customers that reguire the Targest volumes ot product (nvpreally onvgen. nitrogen and hyvdrogeny and that han ¢
a relatinely constant demand pattern are supplied by civogenie and process was on-site plants. Linde constructs piants on or
adracent to these customers” <ites and supphies the product directly 1o customers by pipehine. On-site product supply contracts
venerally are wital requnement contracts with terms o preally ranging from 10-20 vears and contmmg minusmum purchase
regquirements and price escalation provisiens Many of the envogenie on-site plants also produce higmd products for the
mercham market. Therefore, plants are & picalls not dedicated to a single customer Adianced an separation provesses allow
onssite delivery o customers with smaller volume regquirenients Cusiomers usang these systems usually enter mto
requiiement contiacts witl terms typrealls ranginge from 10220 veas

Vierhanr The merchant business s genetally associated with distnbutabic hgud oxyeen. nittogen. argon. carbon
dionade. hvdrogen and heliim The dehiveries generally are made from Linde™s plants by tanker truch< w storage comtamers
a1 the customer’s site which are owned and mastamed by Linde and leased to the customer Due to hstribution cost,
merchant oxveen and nitrogen generally have g relatively small distribution radrus from the plants at which they are
produced Merchant argon. Iy drogen and helivm can be shipped much longer distances The castomer agreements used m the
metchant business are usually three-1o seven-vear requireiment contracts

Puchaved Gases Customers requairimg small volumes are supplied products in metal contamers called ¢y linders. undet
medium o high pressure Packaged gases ictude atmospheric gases. catbon dievide. hydrogen. helium. aeetvlene and
refuted products Linde also produces and distributes in oy hinders a wade range of specialty gases and mustures Cxhinders
may be dehivered o the customer's site a1 picked up by the customer at a pachaging facility or retanl store Packaged gases
are generally sold under one to three-year supphy contracts and through purchase orders

A substantial amount of the evhnder gases sold i the United States 1» distributed by independent distributors that bus
merchant gases 1n iquid form and repackage the products in their tacihities Packaged gas distmbutors. including Linde. also
distribute hardgoods and welding equipment purchased frony independent manutacturers Over time. Linde has acquired a
number of independent mdustrnial gases and welding products distributors at various locations i the Umited States and
continues to sell merchant gases to other independent distributors. Between #ls own distribution busimess. jomt ventures and
sales to independent distributors. Linde ¢ represented 1 48 states. the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico,

Engineering

Linde s Engmeering Diviston has a global presence. with its focus on market segments such as olefin. natural ga~. an
separation. hydrogen and syvnthesis gas plants The company utilizes 1its ¢wn estensive process engineering know-how m the
plunning. project devclopment and construction of turnkes mdustrial plants and associated services. Linde plants are used
a wude variets of fields i the petrochemical and cheniical industries, m refinernes and fertilizer plants. to récover air gases,
to produce hydrogen and synthesis gases. to treat natural gas and to produce noble gases, The Engineermg Bivision either
supplies plant components and services directiy to the customer or 1o the mdustoial gas business of Tinde. which operates the
plants on behaif of the customer under a long-term gases supply contract



Surface Technologies

Surface Technologies is a leading worldwide supplier of coating services and thermal spray consumables to customers
i the arcrafl, energy, printing. primary metals. petrochemical. textile. and other mdustries lis coatings are used to provide
wear resistance. corrosion protection. themmal insulation. and many other surface-enhancmg functions which serve to extend
component life. enable opumal performance. and reduce operating costs. It also manufactures a complete line of electric arc.
plasma and wire spray. and high-velocity oxv-fuel ("HVOFE™) equipiment,

Inventories — Linde carries inventories of merchant and cylinder gases. hardgoods and coatings matenals to supply products
to its customers on a reasonable delivery schedule. On-site plants and pipelme complexes have limited inventory  Inventory
obsolescence is not material to Linde’s business.

Customers — Linde is not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers.

International — Linde is a global enterprise with approximately 60°%; of 1ts 2018 sales outside ot the United States. The
company also has majority or wholly owned subsidiaries that operate in approximately 43 Furopean. Middle Eastern and
African countries (including Germany. France. Sweden. the Republic of South Africa. and the United Kingdom »;
approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countrnies (including China. Taiwan. India and Australia): and approxamately 20
Americas countries (including Canada. Mexico and Brazih.

The company alzo has equity method my estments operating 1n Europe. Asja. Africa, the Muddle East, and North America
twith the largest located in Germany. China. India. Malaysia. and the United States)

Linde™s mternational busmess is subject to rishs customanly encountered 1n foreign operations, including fluctuations n
foreign currency exchange rates. import and export controls, and other econonute. pohitical and regulatory policies of Jocal
governments, Also. see [tem | A “Rusk Factors™ and Item 7A “Quantitative and Quahitative Disclosures About Market
Risk ™

Seasonality — Linde s business 15 generallv not subject to seasonal fluctuations to any significant extent.

Research and Development - Lindc’s research and development s directed toward devcloping new and improved methods
for the production and distribution ot imdustral gases and the development of new matkets and applications for these gases
This results in the development of new adhanced wir separation and hydrogen process technologies and the frequent
introduction of new industrial gas applications. Research and development fon mdusirial gases 1s primeipally conducted at
Pullach, Germany: Tonawanda. New York and Burr Ridge. Ilhinors

Linde conducts research and development for its surface technologies to improve the quahity and durability of coatings and
the use of specialty powders tor new applicutions and industries. Surface Technologies research 1s conducted at Indianapolis,
Indiana.

Patents and Trademarks — Linde owns or Ticenses 4 large number of patents that relate to a wide variery of products and
processes. Linde’s patents expire at vartous times over the next 20 vears. While these patents and heenses are considered
important to its tndividual businesses. Linde does not consider 1t~ business as a whole to be materially dependent upon any
one particular patent, or patent license, or family of patents. Linde also owns a large number of trademarks. of which the
“Linde™ trademark is the most significant.

Raw Materials and Energy Costs — Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industriat
gases. Most of Linde’s energy requirements are in the form of electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. The
company mitigates electricity. natural gas. and hydrocarbon price fluctuations contractually through pricing formulas.
surcharges. and cost pass—through and tolling arrangements.

The supply of energy has not been a stgnificant 1ssue n the geographic areas where the company conducts business.
However. energy availability and price 15 unpredictable and may pose unforeseen tuture risks

For carbon dioxide. carbon monoxide. helium. hvdrogen. specialty gases and surface technologies. raw matenals are largely
purchased from outside sources. Linde has contracts or commutments for. or readily available sources of, most of these raw
materials: however. their long-term availability and prices are subject to market conditions.

Competition — Linde participates in highly competitive markets in the industnial gases. engineering and healthcare
businesses. which are characterized by a mixture of local, regional and global plavers. all of which exert competitiv e pressure
on the parties. In locations where Linde has pipeline nerworks, which enable the company to provide reliable and economic
supply of products to larger customers. Linde derives a competitive advantage.

Competitors in the industrial and medical gases industry include global and regional companies such as L Air Liquide S.A
Air Products and Chemicals. Inc.. Messer Group GmbH. Mitsubishi Chemical Holdings Corporavon (through Taive Nippon
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Sanso Corperation' as well as ap extensive munber of small 1o medium size independent industrial gas compames which
compete Jocally as producers or distributors Jn addition. a sigrificant pertion of the international gases market relates w
customer-cwned plants.

Emplovees and Labor Relations — As of December 31. 2018, Linde had 80.820 employvees worldwide. Linde has collectiv e
bargaining agreements w ith untons at numerous locations throughout the world. which expire atvanious dates. Linde
considers relations with its employvees to be good.

Environment — Information required by this item 15 wcorporated herein by reference 1w the section captionad
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis ~ Emvironmental Matters™ m Item 7 of this 10-K.

Available Information — The company makes is periodic and current reports available, free of charge. on or through its
website. www linde.com. as soon as practicable atter such material s electronically filed with. or furnished 1o, the Securmes
and Exchange Commussion {"SECT) Investors may also access from the company website other wnvestor information such as
press releases and presentations. Information on the company s website is not incorporated by reference heremn. In addinon.
the public may read and copy any matenals filed with the SEC free of charge at the SEC's website, www . sec.goy. that
contains reports. provy information statements and other information regarding ssuers that file electromically

Executive Officers — The following Executive Officers have been elected by the Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure
ol the Board. It s expected that the Board will efect officers annually following each annual meeting of shareholders.

Stephen FoAngel. 63,15 Chiet Execuin e Officer of Linde. Prior to that. Mr. Angel was Charrman. President and CEQ of
Prasau. Inc ~mee 2007, Angel joined Praxair in 2001 as an exceutn e vice president and was named president and chef
operanng officer in February 2006 Prior to tomning Praxaur. Anget spent 22 vears in a variety of management positions with
General Electrie Angel serves on the board of directors of PPG Indusiries und the 1.5 -Chma Business Council and 1s a
member of The Business Council, Angel recenved a bachelor of s¢ience degree in el engmeering from North Caroling State
Lnnersity and an MBA from [ osyala College in Balumore

D Christuan Bruch, age 49, became an executnve ofticer and i« member of the Munagement Commattee of Linde
connection with the busmess combimation i Cretober 2018 He s also the Head of Engineermy tor Linde and 1< o member of
the Executive Board ot Linde AG. Dr Bruch jomed The Linde Group™s Gases Division i 2004 as ¢ Busmess Deyvelopment
Manager tor Airgases in 2006 he became the Head of Tonnage Busuness Development for awr separation projects iy Europe.,
the Middle Fast and Atnica In 2009 he transferred to the Engieermg Dinviston. where he was responsible for the product hne
A1 Separation Mants 10 2013 he was appomted a member of the Board of Directors at the Engimeering Division, a pesition
he held until beconung a member of the Executive Beard of Linde AG at the begmning of 2015 responsible for the Linde
Engineering Dnvision and the Corporate & Support Function Technology & Innoyation. Prior to jomng The Linde Group.

Dr Bruch worked for the Swiss Institute of Technology in Zirich and for the RWE Group in Essen. Germany

Bernd Bubitz age 53, became an executinve officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde 1n connection with
the business comnation in Geteber 2018 He s also the Head of the Americas Prior 1o this. he was appointed a Member of
the Executnve Board of Linde AG m January 2015, responsible tor the Gases Division ot Europe. Vhiddle East and Atrica. He
alse fed the global functions Centre of Excellence and Procurement. Mr. Eulitz jomed Linde AG in 2004 as head of the Sales
Region East i Germany, In 2008 he was appointed CEO of PanGas AG in Switzerland and 2011 he moved to Singapore to
head the Busmess Unit South & East Asia covering eleven countries from India to South Korea. Prior to jormng Linde A,
Mt. Eulitz worked for Air Liquide and A T. Kearney 1n various roles

Keleey E Hovt age 50. became the Chiet’ Accounting Officer of Linde 1n connection with the business combination in
October 2018 Prior to this. she served as Vice President and Controllet of Praxair. Inc effectis e August 1. 2016, Priot o
becorming Controller. she served as Praxair’s Director of Imv estor Relations since 2010 She jomed Praxair m 2002 and
served as Director of Corporate Accounting and SEC Reporting through 2008, and Tater seived as Controller Tor v arous
dovisions withun Prasar's North American industnal Gas business. Previously . she had five vears of experience i audit at
KPMG. LLP She 1= a certified public accountant

Sanpiy Lamba age 34 became an executive ofticer and a member of the Management Commitiee of Linde i connection with
the business combiation m October 2018 He 1s the Head of APAC Mr Lamba was appomted a Member of the Executive
Board of Linde AG 1 2011, responsible for the Asia. Pacific segment of the Gases Division, for Global Gases Busimesses
Helium & Rare Gases. Flecnonies as well as Asia Fomt Venture Management Mr Lamba started s career 1989 w th BOC
ndia in Fiance whete he progressed to become Dnector of Finance He was appomnted Managing Director for BOC



India’s business ju 2001 Throughout Ins 22 vears with BOC Linde, he has worked in a number of geographies including
Germany. the UK, Smgapore and India where he has held numerous roles across the organization.

Eduardo F. Menezes. age 53, became an executive officer a member of the Management Comimittee of Linde in connection
with the business combination in October 2018, He 15 also the Head of EMEA., Mr, Menezes previously served as Executiv e
Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since 2012, responsible for Praxair Europe. Praxair Mexico, Praxair South America and
Praxair Asia From 2010 to March 2011, he was a Vice President of Praxair with responsibility for the North American
Industrial Gases business and was named senior vice president in 2011. From 2007 to 2010, he was President of Praxair
Europe. He served as Managing Director of Prasair’s business in Mexico from 2004 to 2007, as Vice President and General
Manager for Praxair Distribution. Inc. from 2003 to 2004 and as Vice President, U.S. West Region, for North American
Industrral Gases. from 2000 to 2003,

Anne K. Roby. age 54. became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection
with the business combination in October 2018. She is the Head of Global Functions. Prior to this. Dr Roby served as Senior
Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since January 1. 2014. responsible for Global Supply Svstems. R&D. Global Market
Development. Global Operations Excellence, Global Strategic Sales, Global Procurement, Sustainability and Safetv. Health
and Eavironment From 2011 to 2013, she served as President of Praxair Asia, responsible for Praxair’s industrial gases
business i China. India. South Korea and Thailand as well as the electronics market globally. In 2010, Dr. Roby became
President of Pranair Llectromics. after having served as Vice President, Global Sales, for Praxair from 2009 to 2010. Prior to
this. she was Viee President of the Praxair U.S South Region from 2006 to 2009, Dr. Roby joined Praxair in 19971 as a
development associate in the Company s R&D orgamization and was promoted 1o other positions of increasing responsibibiny

Matt 1 Whate. age 46, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Comnuttee of Linde 1n connection
with the business combinanon m October 2018, He 15 the Chief Financial Officer for Linde. He preyiously served as the
Semor Vice President and Chief Financial Ofticer of Praxair, Inc since January 1, 2014, Prior to this, Mr. White was
President of Praxar Canada from 201 1-2014, He joined Praxaw in 2004 as finance director for the company”s largest
business unit, North Amencan Industrnial Gases. In 2008, he became Vice President and Controller of Prasair. Inc.. then w as
named Vice President and [reasurer in 2000 Before joinmyg Prasair, W hite was vice president, finance. at Fisher Scientific
and betore that he held varnous financial posittons. metuding sroup controtler. at GenTek, a manufacturmy and pertorance
chemicals company



ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Due to the size and geographic reach of the company’s operations, a wide range of factors. many of which are outside of
the compans ‘s control. could materially affect the company™s future operations and financial performance. Management
believes the following risks may sigmficantly impact the company:

The company may fail 1o realize the anticiputed straregic and finuncial benefits sought from the business combination.

The company may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the business combination between Praxair. Inc. and
Linde AG. which was completed on October 31. 2018. The success of the business combination will depend on, among other
things. the compans s ability to combine Praxair, Inc.”s and Linde AG’s businesses in a manner that facititates growth and
realizes the anticipated annual svnergies and cost reductions without adversely atfecting current revenues and mvestments in
future growth. The actual integration will conunue 0 nvolve complex operational, technological and personnel-related
challenges. Difficulties m the integration of the businesses. which may result in significant costs and delays, include,

»  managing a sigmficant]y larger combined group,
« aligning and executing the strategy of the company:

» integrating and umtving the offerings and services available to customers and coordmating distribution and
marketing efforts 1 geagraphically separate organizations.

«  coordimating corporate and adminstrative infrastructures and aligning insurance coserage:
+  coordinating accounting. reporting. information technology . communications. admsmistration and other svstems:

«  addressimg possibie differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies:

. 1C COmpans SINZ sUbject 1o iresn iaws and regulations an A Action iﬂ reland.
it v bemg subject 1o frish | d regulat d legal act Ireland

«  coordinating the comphance program and uinform financiad reportimg. mformation technology and other
~tundards. controls. procedures and pelicies,

»  the implementation. ulnimate impact and outcome of post-completion reorganization transiactions, such as the
squeeze-out with respect 1o remaining mimority Linde AG shareholders. which may be delayed:

« untforeseen and unexpected habthities related to the business combimation o1 the combined busimesses:
s managmng s costs or inefticiencies associated with integrating operations:

* identitving and elnmating redundant and underperforming functions and assets. and

»  effecting acoons that may be required in connection with obtaming regulatory approvals,

These and other tactors could result in imereased costs and diversion of management’™s time and encrgy. as well as
decreases in the amount of expected revenue and earnings. The mtegration process and other disruptions resuiting from the
business combimation mayv also ady ersely affect the company s relationships with employees, suppliers. custemers.,
distributors. Licensors and others with whom Praxair. Inc. and Linde AG have business or other dealings. and difficulties in
integrating the businesses could harm the reputation of the company.

It the company 1s not able to successfully integrate the businesses of Praxair. Inc and Linde AG 1o an efficient. cost-
effective and tumely manner, the anticipated benefits and cost savings of the business combination may not be realized fullv,
or at all. or may take longer to realize than expected

Wewheming cconomice conditons in markers v hich Linde does business mav adversely impact s financral residts and o
cashi flons

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across meore than 100 countries. which generalhy leads to financial stability
through various busmess cyveles, However. a broad dechine in general econonmic o business conditions in the industries
served by 1ts customers could adversely affect the demand tor Tinde’s products and imparr the ability of 115 customers o
~ansfy ther abligations to Linde. resulimg in uncollected 1ecenables and or unanticipated contract termunations o1 project
delaxs For example. global polineal and economic uneertainty could reduce n estment activittes of Linde s customers.
which cowdd adsersely affecr Linde™s engmeering project business

In adduton. many of Lmde’s customers are 1 businesses that are cvehical in nature. such as the chemicals. electronics,
metals and energy industries Downturns in these industrics may adversely impact Linde during these cyeles Additionaliy.
<tich conditions could mmpact the uthzaton of inde’s manutacturme capacity which mas require 11 te recogmze impairment
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foszes on tangible assets such as property. plant and equipment. az weli as imtangible assets such as goodwill. customer
relationships or intellectual properts

Tncteases t the cost af energn and rav marevials and or disruption in the supph of these marerials could resulr in lost sales
or reduced profitabilin

Energy 1s the suigle largest cost item 1n the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy
requirements are in the form of electricity. natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. Linde attempts to minimize the
tinancial impact of v ariability in these costs through the management of customer contracts and redueing demand through
operational productivity and energy efficiency. Large customer contracts typically have escalation and pass-through clauses
to recover energy and feedstock vasts. Such attempts may not successfully mingate cost vanabifity. which could negarively
mpact Linde’s financial condition or results of operations. The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the
geographie areas where Linde conducts business. However. regional energy conditions are unpredictable and may pose
future risk.

For carbon dioxide. carbon monevide. helium. hvdrogen. specialty gases and surface technologies. raw materials are
largely purchased frem outside sources Where feasible. Linde sources several of these raw materials. including carbon
dioxide, hvdrogen and calcium carbide. as chemical or industrmal byvproducts In addinon. Linde has contracts or
commuments for. or readily available sources of. most of these raw materials. however. their long-term availabilin and
prices are subject to market conditions A disruption in supply of such raw materials could impact Linde’s ability to meet
contractual supply comnutments.

Linde s infernational operanons ure subjecr (o the visks of doung business ubroad and iternational events and
Corcumstances may adverselv pipact inchusiness, financial condinon o results of operanions

Linde has substantial jnternationat operatrons which are subject o rishs imcluding devaluations in curreney exchange
rates, transportation delay s and interruptions. peliieal and economie mstabibity and disruptions. restrictions on the transfer of
fimds. trade conflicts and the umposition of duties and 1ariffs, import and export controls. changes in gosernmental policies.
labor unrest. possible nattonabzation and-or expropriation of assets. domestic and mternational tax laws and comptiance with
gonernmental regulations. Fhese events could have an adverse effect on the mtemational operations of Linde in the future by
reducing the demand tor its products. decreasimg the prices at which 1t can sell ity products. reducing the revenue from
international operations or otherwise having an ady erse effect on 1ts business. bor example. Linde has a meanmgful presence
in the UK. and the U K.'s ongomg exit process from the EU has continued 10 cause, and may in the future cause. political
and economic uncertamnty, which could have an adverse impact on the markets which Linde supplies.

Currency exchange rate thictuanons and other reiated risks may adverselv affect Linde s resulis

Because a aignificant portion of Limde’s revenue 1x denomiated in currencies other than its reporting currency . the
LS. dollar. changes m exchange rates will produce fluctuations m revenue. costs and earnings and may also atfect the book
value of assets and Labilities and refated equity. Although the company from tune to time utilizes foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge these exposures. its efforts to mininuze currency exposure through such hedging transactions may not be
successtul dependig on market and business conditions. As a result. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could
adversely affect Linde’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Macroecononitc factors may mmpact Linde s abiliny to obtam financing ot increase the cost of obtaimng financing which may
adverselyv impact Linde s financial vesults and/or cash flows.

Volatility and disruption in the U.S.. European and global credit and equity markets, frem time to time. could make it
more difficult for Linde to obtain financing for its operations and-or could increase the cost of obtaining financing. In
addition. Linde’s borrow g costs can be affected by short- and long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating
agencics which are based. in significant part. on its performance as measured by certain criteria such as interest coverage and
leverage ratios. A decrease in these debt ratings could increase the cost of borrowing or make it more difficult to obtain
financing.
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A imperment of goodyall o nangihle asseis condd neguativel impact the compain s linanc il results,

As of December 31. 2075, the net carry ing » alue of goodw ill and other mndefinite-T ed mtangible assets was
§27 ballion and $2 bullion. respectively. primartly as a result of the business combinaton and the reiated acquisttion micthod
of accounting applied to Linde AG. In accordance with generally accepted accountmg principles. the company periedically
asseyses these assets 1w determume it they are impared, Significant negatihe indusuy or econonue trends. distupnons to
business. unexpected significant changes o1 planned changes in use of the assets, divestitures and sustained market
capitalization declines may result mn recognition of impairments to goodwili or other indefinite-lived assets Am charges
relating 1o such impairments could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s results of operanions in the perinds recagnized

Cutastroplite evernts could disrupt the operativns of Linde and or s customer s and suppliers and may have a significan
adverse mmpact on the vesults of operurions

The occurrence of catasuophic events o1 natural disasters such as extremie weather. including hurricanes and floods:
health epidemuics: and acts of war or rerrorism. ceuld disrupt or delay Linde’s ability to produce and distribute 1ts products to
customers and could potentially expose Linde w third-parts liability clauns, In addinen, such events could impact Linde s
custoamers and suppliers resulting in temporany or long-term ourages and or the Timtahon of supply of energs and other ras
muaterials used 1n normal business operations Lmde evaluates the direct and inditect busmess nishs, consults with vendors.
insurance prosiders ind mdustry experts, makes inmvestments 10 sutably resthent desipn and technology . and conducts segular
ieviews of the busiess risks with management Despite these steps. howeser. these <ituations are vutside Linde’™s control and
mas huve a stgnificant ads erse impact on s financial resulrs.

The anahihiny revarniacr and rercn gualitied pecsocd men adverse v ompact Dmnde « hiaeese

It Linde farls to attract. hire and 1etam qualified personnel. it may not be abie 1o develop. market ot <ell s products or
suceesstully manage 1ts business. Linde s dependent upon a hughiy ~hilled. expenenced and efficient workforee 1o be
successtul Much of Linde™s competin e adyvantage i« based on the expertise and expenience of key personnel regarding
marketing. technologs . manufacturing and distribution imtrastructure. sy stems and prodacts The mabibity o atract and hire
qualitied mndividuats or the foss ot key employees movers shilled areas could huve o neaatn e effect on Timde’~ financial
results

[t Donde taids o heep pace witl rechnologicad aebvances on the imdisiry or 1 non recinefogy prtiaives deror oo
commercialh accepied Cistomers man nof continne to bay Linde s produces and vesadre of operatoons conldd feady el
u'fflj{ h’-:i

Linde™s research and developament 1~ directed toward dev eloping new and mproved methods tor the production and
distribution of industrial gases as well as for the design and construction of plants and onard developimg new marketrs and
appheatiens for the use of ndustnial gases This results i the introduction of new idustrial gas appheations and the
development ol new advanced air separation process technologres As aresalt of these eftoris. T mde deselops new and
proprictary technologies and employs necessary measures 1o protect such technologies within the global geographies in
which Linde operates. These technologres help Linde to create a competinive adh antage and to provide a platfornn 1o grow it~
business. I Linde’s research and development activities do not keep pace with competitors or if Linde does not create new
technologies that benetit customers. future resuits of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks velated 1o pension bencfit plans may adversely mipact Linde s resudis o operations and casi lovs

Penston benefits represent surmificant financial obligations that will be ulumately sertled in the futare with emplovees
who meet eligibility requirements. Because of the uncertainties i olved in estimating the timing and amount of future
pasments and asset returns, sigmficant esumates are requited to calculate pension expense and habthities related to Linde s
plans Linde unlizes the services of mdependent actuaries. whose models are used ro facilitate these caleatanomy Several key
assumprions ate used 10 the actuarial models we calculate pension expense und habihity amounts recorded 1 the consahdated
financial statements In partreular. significant changes m actual iy estment returns on pension assets. discount rates, or
legislative or regulatory changes could impact future results of operations and required pension contibutions



Onerational risks may adhersely impact Linde s business or results of operarions

Linde s operating results are dependent on the continued eperation of its production facilities and its ability to meet
customer contract requirements and other needs. Insufficient or excess capacity threatens Linde’s ability t¢ generate
compettive profit margins and may expose Linde to liabilities related to contract commutments Operating results are alse
dependent on Linde’s abtlity to complete new construction projects on time. on budget and in accordance with performance
requirements Failure 1o do so may expose Linde’s business to loss of revenue, potential litigation and loss of business
reputation.

Also inherent m the management of Linde’s production facilities and delivery systems, mcluding storage, velucle
transportation and pipelines. are operational risks that require continuous tramnmg, oversight and control. Material operating
fatlures at preduction, storage facilities or pipelmes, including fire, toxic release and explosions, or the occurrence of vehicle
transpoitation accidents could result 1n loss of life, damage to the environment, loss of production and/or extensive property
damage. all of which may negatively impact Linde’s financial results,

Linde may be subject to informution technology svstem failures, nerwork disruprions and breaches in duta security

Linde relies on mformation technology systenms and networks for business and operational activities. and also stores
and processes sensiive busmess and proprietary information m these systems and networks. These svstems are susceptible te
outages due to fire, flood. power loss. telecommunications failures. viruses. break-ins and sinular events. or breaches ot
security

Linde has taken steps to address these nisks and concerns by implementing ads anced security technologies, internal
controls, network and data center resilicncy and recovery process Despite these steps. however, operational faylures and
breaches of security from increasmgly sophisticated cyber threats could lead to the less or disclosure of confidentiai
mformation. result 1 busingss interruption or malfunction or regulatory actions and have a material adverse impact on
Linde’s operations. reputation and tinancial results,

The mmabdin 1o cffectively integraie acquisitions or colfahorate wih jome ventr ¢ parers coutd adversely impact Lnde s
financied peosinon and resulis of operarions

In addition to the business combination. Linde has evalusted and cypeets to continue to evaluate. a wide array of
potential strategic acquisitions and jomt sentures Many of these transactions, if consummated. could be material to its
financial condimion and results of operations In addition, the process of integrating an acquired company. business or group
of assets may create untoreseen operating difficulties and expenditures  Although historically Linde has been successful with
its acquisition strategy and execution, the areas where Linde may face rishs melude:

+  the need 1o 1mplement or remediate comrols. procedures and polictes appropriate for a karger public company at
companies that prior to the acquisition lacked these controls. procedures and pohcies,

+ diversion of management time and focus from operating existing busmess to acquisition mtegration challenges.

. cultural challenges assoctated with integrating employees flom the acquired company into the existimy
organization:

+ the need to integrate each company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other
administratinve systems to permit effective management:

< difficulty with the assimilation of acquired operations and products;
+  failure 1o achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions, and
» inabihty to retain key employees and business relationships of acquired companies.

Foreign acquisitions and joint ventures invelve unique risks in addition to those mentioned herein. including those
related to integration of operations across different cultures and languages. currency risks and the particular economic.
political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.

Also. the anticipated benefit of potential future acquisitions may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions
could result in the incurrence of debt. contingent Liabilities or amortization expenses, or imparrments of goodwill. any of
which could adversely impact Linde’s financial results.




Linde 1s subject to g varrciy of uiternational lavw s and govermment regulutions and changes in oy jailure to comply with
these law s or regulanons could have an adverse impact an the compuny s business. financial position and resulrs of
aperations

Linde :s subject to regulations in the followmg areas, among others:
+  environmental pratection. mecluding climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies:

+  domestic and international tax laws and cusrency controls:

+  safeny:

«  secursties laws applicable m the United States. the European Union. Germany, Ireland. and other jurisdictions:
» trade and import export restrictions. as well as economic sanctions Jaws.

* antirust matters:

+  data protection.

+  global ant-bribers laws including the U S Forergn Corrupt Practices Act, and

»  healthcare regulations.

Changes in these or other regulutors areas. such as evolving enmvironmental Tegislation in China. may umpact Linde's
prefitability and may give nse 1o new orinereased compliance rishs' 1t may become more complex and costly 10 ensyre
comphiance. and the level of sanctions i the event of non-compliance may ris¢ Such changes may also restrict Linde™s
ability 1o compete effectns ely m the marketplace Noncompliance with =uch laws and regulations could result in penalties or
sanctions, cancellation of marketing rights or restrictions on participation m. o1 even exciusion from. public wender
proceedings. all of which could have a matenal ady erse impact on Tnde’s tinancial results and o reputanon

Domyg business globatly reguires Linde to comply with anti-corruption. trade. comphianee and cconomie sanctions and
similar laws, and to implement policies and procedures designed 1o ensure thut its emploaees and other imtermediaries
compls with the apphicable restrictions These restrictions imclude prohibrtions on the sale or supply of certam products,
services and any other econonuie resources to embargoed or sanctioned countries. goy ernments. persons and entities
C omphance with these restrictions requires. among other things, screening of business partners, Despite tts commitment to
legal compliance and corporate ethies, the company cannot ensure that 11s poficies and procedures will always protect it from
mtentonal, reckless or neghgent acts commutied by employees o1 agents under the apphicable laws If Linde fails to comply
with laws governing the conduct of international operations. Linde may be subject to enmunal and envil penalties and other
remedial measures. which could materially adversely affect its reputation. husmess and results of operations

The onlceme of [nigation o goveramentdal pnestigations muy adversely onpacr the companv s business oo resulis of
OPCHAHONN

Linde’s subsidiaries are party to vanous law suwits and governmental mnvestigations arnsmg m the ordinary course of
business, Adverse outcomes in same or &ll of the claims pending mas result in significant monetary damages or mjunetine
relief that could adversely affect Linde’s ability to conduct business. Linde and its subsidiaries may n the future become
subject to further clmims and Itigation, which 1s impossible 1o predict. The hitigation and other claims Linde faces are subject
to inherent uncertainties Legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements might give rise to expenses which are not
covered. or are not fully covered. by insurance benefits and mas also lead to negative publicity and reputational damage An

unfavorable outcome or determmanon could cause u material adverse impact on the company’s tesults of operations
Porential product defects or madegirate cistomer care mea wedversely imguecr Loedc s braness or vosulic of operations

Risks associated with products and services mas result in potential liabihiny clamms. the loss of customers or damage to
Linde’s reputation Principal pessible causes of rishs assoctated with products and cervices are product defects oran
madeguate level of customer care when Linde 1s providimg services.

Linde v exposed to tegal rishs relating to product fiabiny in the countries where 1t operates. includmyg countrtes such
as the U nited States. where fegal risks am particular through class actuons) has e historically been more significant than m
other countries. Lhe ouicome of any pendmeg or futare products and services proceedmgs o v estigations cannot he
predicted and legal or tegulatory judgments or agreed settlements may give rise to significant losses, costs and expenses

The manufacturing and sale of products as well as the construction of plants by Linde may give rise 10 mishs assoviated
with the producthion, filling ~torage handhing and ttansport of ras materials. oods orwaste Industrial cases are potentialls



hazardous substances and meadical gases and the 1elated liealtheare services must comply with the reley ant specitications in
order to not adversely affect the health of patents treated with them.

Linde s products and services. 1if detective or not handled or performed appropriately. may lead to personal inuries.
business interruptions, eny jronmental damages or other significant damages. which may result, among other consequences.
w1 hiability. losses. monetary penalties or compensation pavinents. environmentat clean-up costs or other costs and expenses.
exclusion from certain market sectors deemed important for future development of the business and loss of reputation. All
these consequences could have a material adverse effect on Linde’s business and results of operarions,

U8 civel habilities muy not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde 15 organized under the laws of Ireland and substantial portions of its assets will be located outside of the United
States. In addition. certain directors and officers of Linde and its subsidiaries reside outside the United States. As a result, it
may be difficult for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon Linde or such persons. or 1o enforce
outside the United States judgments obtained agamst such persons in U.S. courts in any action. including actions predicated
upon the civil babihty provisions of the U.S federal securities laws. In addiuon. it may be difficult for investors to enforce.
11 original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located outside the United States. rights predicated upon the U.S. federal
securities laws

A judgment for the pavment of money rendered by g court m the Unuted States based on ¢ivil habihty would not be
automatically enforceable in Ireland There 15 no treary between Ireland and the Unued States providing for the reciprocal
enforcement of foreign judgments The follow ing requirements must be met before the foreign judgment will be deemed to
be enforceable i lreland (1) the judgment must be for a defintte sum. (i) the judgment must be final and conclusine: and
{1113 the judgment must be provided by a court of competent jurisdiction,

An Irish court will also exercise its right to refuse judgment 1f the foreign judgment (1) was obtamned by fraud.
(i) violated Irish public pohiey: (i) s 1y breach of nataral justice. or (v if the tudgment 15 irreconcilable with an carlier
forelgn judgment

In addinon, there s douht as 1o whether an Insh court would acceps jurisdiction and impose civit habiliny on Linde or
such persons m an origmal action predicated solely upoun the Us federal securities Iaws brought 1 a court of competent
qunisdiction in lreland agamst Limde or sudy member, officer or expert, respectively

Changes i tav laows or poliey coudd adversely mmpact the company s finaneral posirion or resadis of operations

Linde and its subsidianes are subject to the tax rules and regulations in the U S, Germany, Ireland, the UK. and other
countries m which they operate. Those tax rules and regulations are subject 1o change on a prospective or retroactine basis
Under current econonue and political conditions, includimg the UK “s ongomy exit process from the EUL tay rates and
polictes in any jurisdiction. imcluding the U.S. the UK and the EUC are subject o stgmficant change In particular, since
Linde 1s expected to be treated as UK. tax resident. any potential changes in the tas rules applving 1o U K tas-resident
companies would directly affect Linde.

A change 1 Linde s tay residency could have a negative effect on the company s future profitability. and may tnigger
taxes oit dividends or exit charges. [f Linde ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom and becomes resident in another
jurisdiction. it may be subjgect to United Kingdom exit charges. and or could become hable for additional tax charges n the
other jurisdiction. If Linde were to be treated as resident in more than one juniscdiction. it could be subject to duplicative
taxation. Furthermore, although Linde is incorporated in Ireland and is not expected to be treated as a domestic corporation
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 1t 18 possible that the IRS could disagree with this result or that changes in LS. federal
mcome tax law could alter this result. If the IRS successfully asserted such a position or the law were to change. significant
adverse tax consequences may result for Linde. the company and Linde’s shareholders.

When tax rules change. this may result in a higher tax expense and the need to make higher tax payments. In addition,
changes in tax legislation may have a significant impact on Linde’s and 1ts subsidiaries” tax recervables and tax habilites as
well as on their deferred tax asseis and deferred tax liabilities and uncertainty about the tax environment in some regions may
restrict their opportunities to enforce their respective rights under the law. Linde will also operate in countries with complex
tax regulations which could be interpreted in different wavs, Interpretations of these regulations or changes in the tax system
might have an adverse nmpact on the tax liabilities, profitability and business operations of Linde. Linde and its subsidiaries




are subject to periodic audits by the tax authorities in varnous jurisdictions or other review actions by the veley anr finaacial or
tas authorities. The ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amoums recorded 1n Linde's or 1ts subsicharies” financial
statements and may materially affect their respective financial resubts for the penod when such deternunation s made.



ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Linde has recerved no written SEC staff comments regarding any of its Exchange Act reports which remain
unresolved

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Linde ple’s principal executive offices are located in owned office space in Guildford, United Kingdom. Linde also
owns principal administrative office space 1n Danbury, Connecticut and Tonawanda. New York, United States; Pullach and
Dresden. Germany: and Schiedam. Netherlands. Other principal administrative offices are leased in Munich. Germanv: Rio
de Janeiro, Brazil: Hangzhou and Shanghai, China: Lidingd. Sweden; Basingstoke, United Kingdom: Bridgewater, New
Jersey, Houston, Texas and Tulsa, Oklahoma, United States: North Ryde, Australia; Samara, Russia: Vadodara, India: and
Singapore

Due to the nature of Linde’s mndustrial gas products. it is generally uneconomical to transport them distances greater
than a few hundred miles from the production facility. As a result, Linde operates a significant number of production
facilities spread globally throughout a number of geographic regions

The following 1s a description of production facilities for Linde by segment No significant portion of these assets w as
leased at December 31. 2018, Generally. these factlities are fully utilized and are sufficient to meet the Company s
manufacturing needs

North America

The North America segment vperates production facilities in the LLS.. Canada and Mexico, approxamately 260 of
which arc cryogenic air separation plants. hydrogen plants and carbon dioxide plants. There are five major pipeline
complexes in North America located in northern Indiana, Houston, along the Gulf Coast of Texas. Detroit and Louisiana
Also located throughout North America are noncryogenic air separation plants. packaged gas facilities. specialty gas plants.,
helium plants and other smaller plant facilities.

Europe

On December 3. 2018 Praxair completed the sale of the majority of its European industrial gas business as required fon
the merger (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements). Ungj the divestiture, the Europe segment had production
facthities primarily in Jtalyv. Spain. Germany, the Benelux region, the United Kingdom. Scandinasvia and Russia which imcliude
approximately 70 crvogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. There were three major pipeline complexes in
Europe located in Northern Spain and the Rhine and Saar regions of Germany. These pipetine complexes were primarily
supplied by cryogenic air separation plants Also located throughout Europe were noncrvogenic air separation plants.
packaged gas facihitics and other smaller plant facilities

South America

The South America segment operates more than 60 cryogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. primarils
located in Brazil. Many of these plants support a major pipeline complex in Southern Brazil. Also located throughout South
America are packaged gas facilities and other smaller plant facilities.

Asia

The Asia segment has production facilities lacated primarily in China. Korea. India and Thailand. approximately 70 of
which are cryogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants Also located throughout Asia are noncrvogenic air
separation plants. hvdrogen. packaged gas and other production facilities.

Surface Technologies

The Surface Technologies segment provides coating services and manufactures coating equipment at approximately 43
sites. The majority of these sites are located 1n the United States and Europe. with smaller operations in Asia and Brazil.

Linde 4G

Linde AG conducts its operations in approximately 100 countries worldwide. Its gases facilities in Europe Middle East
and Africa include approximately 230 plants. of which approximately 150 are crvogenic air separation plants. approximately
50 are hydrogen plants and approximately 30 are carbon dioxide plants. Its current facilities i the Americas include
approximately 120 plants. of which approximately 60 are cryogenic air separation plants. approximately 30 are hydrogen
plants and approximately 30 are carbon dioxide plants. Its facilities 1n the AsiaPacific mclude approximately 170 plants. of
which approximately 110 are ervogenic air separation plants, approximately 40 are hyvdrogen plants and approxamately 20 are
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carbon dioxide plants. Smaller compact plants for aim gases are not included n these figures. Addiional plants are operated
cooperation with jomnt-\enture partners.

On Mareh 1. 2019 Linde AG completed the sale of a majority of s North American industnal gases business and
certain of its South American business activities as tequired by the merger (see Nete 4 1o the consolidated financial
statements ).

The Linde Engineering Division designs and constructs turnkey process plants for third-party customers as well as for
the Linde Gases Division in many locations woridwide, such as olefin plants, natural gas plants. aw separaton plants,
hvdrogen and svnthesis gas plams Plant components are produced in owned factories in Puliach and Tacherting, Germany:
Hesingue, France. Tulsa, Oklahoma. United States. and Dalian, China.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information requiied by this ilerm Is incorporated herewn by reference to the section captioned ~Notes to Consolidated
Fmancial Statements — 19, Comunitments and Contingencies”™ 1 [tem 8§ of this 10-K

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Apphicable



PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Linde plc shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (“FSE™} under
the ticker symbol "LIN™, At December 31. 2018 there were 10,439 shareholders of record.

Purchases of Equiry Securities — Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalf of the company or any
affiliated purchaser (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of its ordinary
shares during the three months ended December 31, 2018 is provided below.

Total Number of

Total Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Number of Part of Publicly Value of Shares that
Shayes Average Announced May Yet be Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Program (1) Under the Program (2)
Period (Thousands) Per Share (Thousands) (Miliions)
October 2018 — 3 — — ¢ -—
November 2018 -— 3§ — % —
December 2018 4,009 § 154 .48 4,069 § 371
Fourth Quarter 2018 4,069 § 154,48 4.069 § 371
th On December 10. 2018 the company’s board of directors approved the repurchasc of $1.0 billion of its ordinary

shares ("2018 program™) which could take place from time to time on the open market (which could include the use
of 10b5-1 trading plans). subject to market and business conditions The 2018 program has a maximum repurchase
amount ot 5%y of outstanding shares and a stated expiration date of Apnil 3G, 2019,

(2) As of December 31. 2018 the company had purchased $629 million of its ordinary shares pursuant to the 2038
program. lear ing an addittonal $371 millon remaimng authorized under the 2018 program.

On January 22. 2019 the company’s board of directors approved the repmichase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares
{2019 program™) which could take place from tune to time on the open market (which could include the use of
10b5-1 trading plans), subject to marhet and business conditions. The 2019 program has a maximum repurchase
amount of 15% of outstanding shares and a stated expiration date of February 1. 2021



Peer Pertormance Table — The graph beiow compares the most recent five-vear cunulative retuins of the common
stock of Praxair. the company’s predecessor. through October 31, 201X and Linde’s ordinary shares from October 31, 2018
through December 31, 2018 with those of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index ("SPX™) and the 55 Materials Indey
*SSMATR ™ which covers 20 compames, mmcluding Linde The figures assume an mtial v estment of $100 on
December 31, 2013 and that all dividends have been reinvested.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(Dollar amounts in millions. except per share datay

The vear ended December 31. 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire vear and the results of Linde AG for the
period beginmng after October 31, 2018 (the merger date). imcludmg the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1. * and
4 to the consolidated financial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxair.

Year Ended December 31, 2018¢a) 2017(a) 2016(4a) 2015(a) I4(a)
From the Consolidated Statements of Income
Sales 3 14900 % 11437 % 10,534 % 10,776 & 12.273
Cost of sales exclusive of depreciation and amortization 9.084 6.461 5855 2018 6.933
Selling. general and adnnnistrativ e 1,629 1207 1.145 1132 P08
Depreciation and aniottization 1.830 Tla4 122 1.106 1,170
Research and development 113 93 92 RE Qo
Transacton costs and other charges 30 A2 90 j6s 131
Net gain un sale of busing.s 3294 — — — —
Othiet INCOMC LCRPENSES) — et T 4 23 n Yy

Operating profit 5.247 2o 2247 1370 264
Interest cxpense — net 20z 16l 160 Ial 213
Net penston und OPEB cost thenefity, exchuding service cost 4 4 9 4 30

lacome flont contthunyg operations betore meome tases and

cquns v esimenls Sk 2287 RASESS Z.aen 2308
Incame Lnes o1l Continuing operatians NET 1026 S8 hl2 4

Income from continuing operations belore equiny myestments 4232 1.261 1497 [t .74
lienme trom equity mmestments S6 17 41 43 42

Income rom conttumg opetations fincluding noncontiolling

mrerestsy F28S KLY [R5 J.5ul 74
Noncontolling meiests from contimuing operations (15 10l (3 144 (32
¢TI oM COnDmuImg apeanons kS 4273 0% 1.247 % |50 % 154708 1 .6vad
Per Share Data - Linde ple Shareholders
Busic carmings per share fram continumg oper ations - 1283 4in % ) IR S5
Drluted carmimgs per share from continuing operations ™ 1279 % 32004 S0 RERRE R
Cash divdends pes share ki EIRIVE SR 000 TN 2l
W oeighted A\verage Shares Outstanding (0007<) (by)
Basie shares ouistandimg 20400 2Nelet TRSATT RS LA (Y51
Diluted shares outstanding 334927 aNed 287757 289,053 205 AU
Ocher Informativn and Ratios
Total assets % ERTERT 20436 % 19332 % 18319 % 19,764
Fotal debt 5 15296 % 9,000 & 9515 % 0231 % 9.225
Net debt (¢) s 10830 § 5383 % 5991 3§ D084 S 9.089
Cash Mow from operations $ ibsd % A4 2780 % 2693 % 2,923
Net cash provided by (used tory myesting activities % 5363 0% [REERE TR (.77t % (1.303) & 11.803)
Net cash used tor financing acuvities S 4908 % (1.036) % hig) § (1.310) % (1.063)
CRBITDA () S T34 I6TE S 340005 CRY R 2856
Adjusted EBITDA 1) & +3l6 0~ RV I % 3nkd & 2ORT
Capulal expenditures £ HEY N 1311 % l465 & P54 % 1.680
Shares outstanding (000 5) S47.242 286.777 2R4.901 284.87 2RG 262
Nuntber of emplovees 80,520 26 461 26498 26,657 27780
{an Amounts for 2018 include: (i) charges of $309 millton (5306 nullion after-tax, or $0.92 per diluted share) for

transaction costs and other charges primarily related to the merger. (i) pension settiement charges of $14 million
($11 million after-tax. or $0.03 per diluted share) related to Jump sum benefit payments made from pension plans.
{(1t1) n¢ome tas benefit. net of $17 million ($0.05 per diluted share’ due to U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and other tax
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charges. (17 | a net gan on sale of businesses of $2,294 million ($2.923 nullien after-tax. or $8,75 per diluted share ),
i+ 1 bond redemption costs of $26 miilion t 320 million afler-tax. or $0.06 per diluted share). and (vi) the purchase
accounting impacts of the merger of $714 mullion ($451 million after-tax and non-cenuelhing interests. or $1.33 per
diluted share)

Ameunts for 2017 include: (i) charges of $52 million (548 million after-tax. or $0.17 per diluted share) for
transaction costs related to the merger. (111 a pension settlement charge of $2 million (%1 millien after-tax) related to
lump sum benefit payments made from an international pension plan. and (iii) income tax charges. net of

$394 nutlion (51.36 per diluted share) due to U.S, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

Amounts for 2016 mclude’ (i a $16 mitlion charge to interest expense ($10 mullion after—ax. or $0.04 per dituted
share) relared to the redemption of the $325 million 5.20% notes due 2017, (11) a pre—tax pension settlement charge
of $4 million (53 million after—tax, or $0.01 per diluted share) related 1o lump sum benefit pavments made from the
LS. supplemental pension plan. and (iij) pre—tax charges of $96 million (§63 multion after—tax and non—centrolling
mterests. o1 $0.22 per diluted share) prumarnily related 1o cost reduction actions

Amounts for 2013 include. (i) a pre-tax charge of $165 nulhon (3123 million after-tax. or 50.43 per diluted share)
refated to the cost teduction program and other charges. and tiiy a pre-tax charge of 37 milhon (55 milhon after-tax.
ot $0 02 per diluted share) related to a penstion settlement

Amounts for 2014 include: (i) a pre-tax charge of $131 nuilion 1$131 million afier-tax, ot $0.45 per diluted share)
related 1o the Venezuela curtency deyaluation. (11 a pre-tay charge of $7 meilion (33 milhon after-tax. or $0 02 pes
diluted sharei rejated to pension settlements, and (11) a pre-1as chaige of $36 nulhian (522 milhon after-tax. or $0.07
per diluted share) related tv 4 bond redempuon.

See Notes 1, 30405, 70 13 and 18 to the consolidated financial stateiments,

A g result ot the merget. share amounts o1 the vear ended December 31, 201K reflect the werghted averagmg ettec
of Pranair shares outstanding prior ro October 31, 201 and [ inde shares outstanding from October 31 2015
through December 31, 2018

Non-G A AP measures See the “Non-GAAD Frnancial Measures™ section in Item 7 for definmtions and reconcilianion
to reported amuounts Net deht, as presented 1n the thle abon el is caleulated as total debt less cash and cash
equiy alents



1ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the company’s {inancial condrtion and results of operations should be read together with
1t consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Ttem 8 of this Form 10-K.
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MERGER OF PRANAIR, INC. AND LINDE 4G

On October 31. 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction. and
became subsidiaries of Linde (collectively referred to as the “busmess combination™ or “merger™) Prior to the business
combination. the company did not conduct any business activities other than those reguired for its formation and matters
comtemplated by the business combination agreement. Prazarr was determined ta be the accounting acquirer for the metger.
Accordingly. the liustorical financial statements of Prasamr for the periods prior to the merger are considered to be the
historical financial statements of Linde The results of Linde AG are included in Linde™s consohdated resules from the merge
date forward. The Linde shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange and the Frankfurt Stoch Fxchange under the ticker
svmbol “LINT See Notes | and 3 to the consohidated financial statements for additional informaton

In connection with the business combination. the company. Praxair and Linde AG. entered mnto various agreements
with regulatory authorities to satisfy anti-trust requirenients to secure approval to consummate the business combination.
These agreements required the sale of the majonty of Praxair's Furopean businesses (completed on December 3. 2018} the
majority of Linde AG s America’s business (completed on March 1. 2019). a~ well as certam divestitures of other Praxar
and Linde AG businesses m Asia that are expected to be sold in 2019 (eollectively. the “merger-related divestitures™ In the
consohidated financial statements. Praxair’s merger-related divestitures are included n the results ot operations until sold and
Linde AG™s merger-related di estitures are accounted for as discontinued operations See Notes 4 and 23 to the consohdated
financial statements for additional information relating to merger-related divestitures.

Additionally. to obtain merger approval in the United States Linde. Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement
with the U.S. Federal Trade Commission dated October 1. 2018 (“"hold separate order” or "HSO™). Under the HSO. the
company. Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent. ongoing. economically
vitable. competitive businesses held separate, distinct. and apart from each other’s operations: and not coordinate any aspect
of their operations until certain divestitures in the United States were completed. Accordingly. Linde has accounted for Linde
AG as a separate segment for 201 R reporting purposes etfective with the merger date Prior to the merger date, the
company’s Linde AG segment did not exist. Since the FTC hold separate order restrictions were hfted effective March 1,
2019, the company subsequently implemented a new operating segment structure as follows: Americas. EMEA (Europe-
Mhddle East'Africa); APAC {Asia/Pacific). Engineering and Other. This new management structure will be used for 2019
reporting and comparative prior perted information will be presented on a consistent basis.




BUSINESS OVERVIERW

With the merger. Linde 15 the leading industrial gas company worldwide. The company”s primary products i s
industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxvgen. nitrogen. argon. rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioaide,
helium, hydrogen, electrome gases, specialty gases, acetylene). The company also designs. engineers. and builds equipment
that produces industrial gases prumarily for internal use, and offers its customers a wide range of gas production and
processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants. air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants and other
types of plants. The company’s surface technologies segiment supplies wear-resistant and high-temperature corrosion-
resistant metallic and ceramic coatings and powders,

Linde s mdustrial gas operations are managed on a geographical basis and in 2018, 76% of sales were generated by
Praxair's four geographic segments (North Amernica. Europe. South America. and Asial. and since the merger date. the Linde
AG segment generated 19%5 of consolidated sates. The surface technologies segment generated the remaining 5%5 of sales.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including heatthcare. petroleurs refining. manufacruring. food. beverage
carbonation. fiber-optics, steel making. acrospace. chemicals and w ater treatment. The diversity of end-markets supports
financial stability for Linde in vaned busmess cycles

Linde generates mast of its revenues and earnings n the following geographies where the company has 1ts strongest
market positions and where distribution and production operations allow the company to delnver the highest Ievel of senvice
1o its customers at the lowest cost

North and Sowth Amerca (“Americas_‘_‘) Lurgme:}‘lig;lvlﬁ Last and Africa ("EMEA™} Asia and Pacific (“APACT)
L'nted States ) Germany China i
Cunada United kingdom India
hMevieo Scandmania South Korea
Brazil Republic of South Afiicea? Austrai New Zealand#
Tarwan

“Added with the | inde AG merges

The company manufiactures and distributes its products through networks of thousands of production plants, pipeline
compleses. distribution centers and delivers velneles Major prpelne comiplexes me prnmanly fecated m the United States
These networks are a competitne advantage, providing the foundanon of rehiable product supply 10 the company s customer
base. The majority of Linde’s busmess 1 conducted through long-term contracts which provide stabtiity i cash flow and the
abihity (o pass through changes 1in energy and feedstoch costs 1o customers. The company has growth opportunities in all
magor geogtaphies and in diserse end-markets such as energy. electronices. chenticals. metais, healtheare, food and bey erage.
and aerospave.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY — FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOR
2018 Year in review

On October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined thewr respective businesses through an all-stock merger
transaction. and became subsidiaries of Linde plc. The vear ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the
entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018,

+  Sales of $14,900 million were 30% above 2017 sales of $11.437 nullion. primarity driven by the merger with
Linde AG that contributed 24°% to sales, net of divestitures. Underlying sales increased 6% driven by volume
growth primarily in North America and Asia. including new project start-ups. and higher price

*  Reported coperating profit of $5.247 million was 113% above 2017 Adjusted operating profit of $2.976 million
was 19%% above adjusted operating profit in 2017. Adjusted operating profit growth was driven by higher volumes
and price across the geographic segments and the unmpact of the merger *

+  Income from continuing operations of $4,273 nullion and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
of $12.79 increased from $1.247 nullion and $4 32, respectively n 2017. Adjusted income from continuing
operations of $2.121 nmulhon and adjusted diluted earmings per share from continuig operations of $6.33 were
26%0 and 9%.. respectively above 2017 adjusted amounts. *

+  Cash flow from operations was $3.654 nullion, or 25 of sales Capital expenditures were $1.883 million.
dividends paid were $1.166 nullion: and debt repayments, net were $2.908 nuliion

*  Cash on hand at December 31. 2018 was $4.466 nullion versus $617 million at December 31, 2017, This increase
1s primartly a result of the stock only merger with Linde AG and proceeds from the sale of Praxair’s European
industrial gases business, The cash is available for Corporate uses. includimg among others the planned
squecze-out ot the 8%, Linde AG noncontrolling interests and stock buvhacks

* A reconcihation of the Adjusted amounts can be found in the “Non-GAAP Fuuncal Measures™ section in tis
MD&A See Notes 10340570 13 and 1R 10 the consolidated financial statements

2019 Outlook

The company’s busmess 1~ to build. own. and operate mdustrial gas plants in ordet to supply atmospheric and process
gases to customers As such. Linde believes that 1ts sale of gax project backlog is one mdicator of future sales growth, At
December 31, 2018, Linde’s backiog of large projects under construction was $3 3 billion, This represents the tatal estimated
capital cost of large plants under construction. APAC and Americas represent 49 percent and 42 percent of the backlog.
respectively. with the remaming backlog m EMEA. These plants will primarily supply custemers in the energy. chemical,
and electronics end-markets,

The abosve guidance should be read in conjunction with the seeuon enttled “Forw ard-Looking Statements.™

Linde pron ides quarteriy updates on operating results. material trends that may affect financial performance. and
financial guidance via earnings releases and investor teleconferences. These materials are available on the company's
website. hitps://www.linde com/en/investors but are not incorporared heren.




CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxaw for the entire vear and the results of Linde AG for the
pertod beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date). including the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1. 2 and
410 the consohdated financial stalements . The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxarr. Ine.

The following table provides selected data for 2018. 2017, and 2016:

Lo
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(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share rdqta)
Year Ended December 31,

Reported Amounts
Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation
and amortization

Gross margin (a)
As a percent of sales
Selling. general and administrative
As a percent of sales
Depreciation and amortization
Transaction costs and other charges (b}
Net gawn on sale of businesses (b)
Other income texpense) — net
Operating Profit
Operating margin
Interest expense — net
Nert pension and OPEB cost (benefit). excluding
SCrVIce COst
Effective tax rate
Income from equity mvestments
Noncontrolling interests from contimuimg operanons
income from continuing vperations
Diluted carnings per share from continwmng
operations
Dituted shares vutstanding (o)
Number of emplovees
Adjusted Amounts (¢)
Operating profit
Operating margin
Interest expense — net
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding
service cost
Effective tax rate
Noncontrolling mterests {rom continuing operations
Income from continuing operations

Diluted earmings per share from continuing
operations

Other Financial Data (e)
EBITDA
EBITDA Margin

Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(a)

Variarce

2018 2017 {d) 2016 ¢d) 20618 vs. 2017 2617 vs, 2016
$ 14900 % 11.437 $ 10,534 30 % 9
h) 9.084 S 6.461 $ 5.855 41 9% 10 %
$ 5,816 $ 4,976 S 4,679 17 %% 6 %
39.0% 43.5% 44 4%,
$ 1,629 $ 1,207 $ 1.145 35 % 5 %
10.9% 10.6% 10.6%
g 1.830 g 1.184 § 1122 55 % 6 %
5 309 $ 52 $ 96
% 3.294 % — b —
S 18 h 4 b 23
hS 3247 $ 2444 § 20247 115 ", Qg e,
3500, 21.4%, 21.3%
b 202 & I61 $ 190 259, (150
$ 4 % 4 » 9 Oy (1440,
16.2% 34.9uy 26,00
Y 56 h 47 h 41 19 v, 15 ¢,
4% 15 % (61 % 13%) (73, a1 "y
4 4273 & 1047 5 1.500 243 0, 7"
A 12.74 A 432 hY 520 196 7y [REATH
334127 289114 2RT7.757 16"y, — "y
30820 264061 26,498
$ 2,976 $ 2496 % 2.343 9, 7 %
20,00, 2180y, 222
h 197 Ay 161 $ 174 220, (73
S (18 S (0) $ 5 2081 vy {22019,
23.8% 3720, 27.1%
$ 73 % tehy % (43 20 % 42 4,
§ 0 2,121 $ 1,690 $ 1.576 26 %o 7 %
% 6.35 $ 5.85 3 548 9 2 7%
$ 7133 hS 3,675 § 3410 94 9, Sey
47.9%, 32.1% 32.4% 49 9 {11%%
S 4,516 $ 3.727 S 3.506 21 9% 6 %
30,39, 32.6% 33.3% (7)o (217

Gross margin excludes depreciation and amortization expense.

~0




by See Notes 5 and 4 1o the consolidated financial statements

ey As a result of the merger. share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect the weighted averaging effecr
of Prasarr shares outstanding prier 1o October 31, 2018 and Linde shares ourstanding from October 31, 2018
through December 31, 2018

tdy Prior period mformation has been reclassified to conform with current year presentation as a result of the adoption
of new accounting guidance on the presentation of net period pension and postretirement benefit costs. See Note 2
to the consohdated financial statements

e Adjusted amountis and other financial data are non-GAAP performance measures. A reconcihiation of reported
amounts to adjusted amounts can be found m the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section of this MD& A See
Notes 3.4, 5. 13 and 18 1o the consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations

The tollwing table provides a summary of changes 1o consehidated sales and adjusted operatng profit

2018 vs, 2017 2017 v, il
%o Change o Change
Sales Operating Profit Sales Operating Profit

Factors Contributing to Changes
N olume RN IR s N
Price Mix 29 9y 1" S
Cont pass-through 1" — 2t Yo
Cuirency cht - [ i
Acquisttions: [hvestitures

Larope divesrinir R Iy i

Nergain on salc of hisiesses - f3T 0, — " -—

Foide 10— exeluding purchase aocounting 250 e, — — .

P hase acceninig unpacis - Linde 16 T AT — " —
(_)ﬂ'lc]" N { 1 l ]ﬂu -y ‘5]“;»
Repoited 30 Py s v, Yy Gy
Transsction costs and other charges - " Tt — (2%
Net gain on saje of businesses - (132 Y —
Purchase accounting mmpacts - Linde AG =" 29 Yo Yo
Adjusted 30 % 19 v, CA T

The toliow mg tabies provde consulidated sales by end-imarket and Jdistribution method.



%o of Sales” %o Change~

2018 2017 2016 20185 217 2017 vs. 2016

Sales by End-Markets

Manufacturing 229 22% 23% T % 4%
Netals [7% 7% 17% 7 %n T
Energy 1% 12% 12% 6 % 5%
Chenucals 11% 10% 10% 14 % 9%
Electromes 9o, 9% 8% ¥ % 13%
Healthcare 8% &% 8% %9 4%
Food & Beverage 90, 9%% 9% 7 % 5%
Aerospace 4o 3% 3% 14 % 11%
Other 9% 10% 10% (1% 39

100%  100%  100°%

* Percentage of sales mfuumation excludes Linde AG Percentzgc Change information excludes mpact of curteney. natural gas precious metdls cost pass-
through and acquisinions divestitures. mcludimg the impact of the Linde AG merger, Sev Lmde AG segment discussion

%o of Sales*

2018 o7 2010
Sales by Distribution Method
On-Site 28% 30" 209,
Merchant 3% 340 3509
Packaged Gas 30 27% 289,
Other [ 9 &
1000 OOV o 100%,

* See Note 21 10 the consehdated financtal statements

2018 Compared With 2017

Sales mereased 3090 to $14.900 nuthon in 2018 compared to $11.437 million in 2017 primarily reflecting the merger
with Linde AG which contributed 24%6 to sales. net of divestitures. Undertving sales mereased 6% driven by hugher volumes
and pricing. Volume growth of 4% was driven by higher volumes in North Amenica and Asia. including new project
start-ups. Higher overall pricing across atl geographic segments contributed 2% to sales. Currency translation impact
decreascd sales by 120, Higher cost pass-through. primarily natural gas. increased safes by ["o with minimal impact on
operating profit. The divestiture of Praxair’s European businesses in December of 2018 decreased sales by 190

Gross margin increased $840 milhon, or 17%, versus 2017 primarily due to the merger Gross margin as a percentage
of sales declined to 39.0%0 1n 2018 from 43.5% in 2017 and was negatively impacted by a $368 million charge for the fair
value step-up of inventories acquired in the merger. Excluding this charge. gross margin in 2018 was 41 3%.

Selting, general and admmistrative (“SG&A™) expenses increased $422 million. or 35%6. in 2018 10 $1.629 million
primanly due to the merger. SG&A was 10.9% of sales in 2018 versus 10.6% m 201 7. primanly due to the merger.

Depreciation and amortization expense mcreased $646 million. or 5%, versus 2017 The increase is primanly due Lo
the merger. including $346 million of purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of fixed assets and intangible
assets acquired in the merger

Transaction costs and other charges were $309 mullion and $52 nuflion 1n 2018 and 2017. respectively and are
primarily related to the merger. See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Net gain on the sale of businesses was $3.294 million and related primarily to the divestiture of Praxanr’s Furopean
industrial gases business in connection with the merger. See Note 4 to the consolhidated financial statements.



Other icome (espenses) — net in 2018 was u S18 mulhon benefit versus a $4 nulhon benefit n 2017 (see Note 9 to the
consalidated financial statements for a summars of major components). In North America. 2015 included a $30 nullion asset
mipairment charge which was mote than offset by S43 mulhon of gains on asset dispesals. In A<ia. 2018 mdduded a
$22 muliion asset impairment charge. offset by a htigation settlement gam

Reponed operating profit of $5.247 mmlhon in 2018 was $2.803 million. or 115% higher than reported operating profia
of $2.444 mmilion m 2017, 2038 includes a ner gam on sale of businesses of 33,294 puilion. partially cffset by wransaction
costs and other charges of $309 mitlion. and purchase accounting impacts ot $714 million related to the Linde AG merger
see Notes 4. 5 and 3. respectively. to the consoldated financial statements) 2017 included transaction costs of $32 millien

(see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements . Excluding the impact of these items. adjusted operating profit of
$2.976 muihon 1n 2018 was 5480 mullion. or 19%.. higher than adjusted operating profit of 52.496 nullion in 2017 driven
primarily by the merger. Higher volumes and price i the geographic segments and surface technelogies also conwributed 1o
operating profit growth A disenssion of operating profit by segment 15 included in the segment discus<ion that follows

Reported interest expense — net m 2018 increased $41 mulbon, or 23" versus 2017 2018 meluded charges of
S26 millton relating o the early redemption of notes and a decrease of $21 mutlion related to purchase accounting impacts
refated 10 the fair value of debt acquired in the merget tsee Notes 13 and 3 o the vonsohidated financial statements.
respectively ) Excluding these unpaces. adjusted miterest expetise 0 3197 mihon increased $36 nullion. or 2274, largeh
artnbutable to mterest on the debrt acqured in the merger and [ower capitalized interest. See Note ¥ 1o the wn:.ohdatcd
financial statements for further informanon relating to mterest expense

The reported eftective tax rate ("ETR7 1 tor 201 was 1o 2V 0 versus 44 9901 2017, The decrease i the ETR tor the
2018 pertod versus the U S sratutory rate of 2190 was primaniy due to the impact of the sale of Pravan ™~ European nudustrial
guses busimess. The morease in the ETR tor the 2017 pertod versus the LS, statutorny rate of 35"« was prmanly due o the
net $394 mullron charge related to the Tay Act Lxcluding these and other smaller mapacts as «et forth in the "Non-G A AP
finuncial measures” section of this MDA AL on an adjusted basts the T'TR tor the 2018 and 2007 periods was 23 8" and
27 2ncrespectivels The decrease was denen primianls by the impact of the Tax At enacted it the fourth quarter of 2017
which loweted the U S stapurory tas rate from 35370 m 2017 1o 2120 1m 200N tsee Note 7 1o the consehdated flinanaal
statementsa

Linde s equity mvestments are prinvtily focated m the Umited States, ¢ hina and the Middle Cast Equiny income
mereased S9 nullion i 200 s yversus 2007 and imcluded charges ol S9 mullion 1o purchase accountung impacts relaied 1o the
famr value step up of equity myvestiments acquired in the merger, Excluding this impact. equity income inereased S8 mithon,
primarily driven by imcome from equity iy esunents acquired it 1the merget

At December 31 2015 reported noncontrolling mitcrests from contmuing operations consisted primaniy of
noncontrothmg shareholders nvestments i Asia (primaridy m Chinay and surface technologies Reported noncontrolhing
interests from contmumg operations decreased S46 million to $15 mallion in 2618 from $6 1 mullion i 2017 2018 includes
the impact of the merget and related purchase accounting impacts Eacludimg these impacts. adjpusted noncontrolimg interests
trom contmumy operations of 873 nulhon mereased 512 milhon, of 200 primarthy due to nonconttolling nterests acquired
1m the merger

5

Reported meome from continmng opetations for 201 was S4.273 nulhiop, 83.076 nullion. or 243%. higher than
reported income from contimuing operanions of $1.247 nullion in 2017 Adjusted meome from continuing operations of
S2.121 mulhon 1n 2018 was $431 mullion. or 26", higher than adjusted mcome from contimnng operations of §1.690 million
i 2017 prmarily due to higher adjusted operatng profit and a low et effective tax rawe

Reported diluted carmngs per share fiom contmumg operations C"EPS7) of %12 79 in 2018 mereased SEAT per diluted
shares or [96% from 43293 2017 Adjusted dihed EPS of %6 35 i 201X ncreased S0 30 per diluted share, or 9%, from
adjusted diluted BPS of ST 851 2017 The icrease m adjusted diluted EPS was primartly due to the merger and hugher
adpusted income trom continuing operanons= partialiy offset by an increase mn diluted shares resulting trom equity acguired
m the merger

Other comprehensinve losses for the vear ended December 31, 2018 of 8299 mullion resulted primardy from¢iia

S22 midhon unfavorable impact in the funded status of Linde s retnement obligavions and (i) adverse currency transiation
adrostments of 576 nullion, net of a benefit of $318 mulhion related (o the release of curreney translation adjustments on
Prasvair’™s European business «See Note 4 to the consehidated financia) statementsy The decrease i the funded status of
retrement obhigations was primartly the result of higher curtent sear actuaniad fosses. as the impact of ligher U S discount
rates was largels offset by o lower actual retum on assets Unfavorable ranslattion adustments 1eflect the impact of
tuanslk currenes forergn subsidiary financoal statements into US dellazs, and are Targely driven by the
trencthenng of the bos dollor acamst mugor currcnetes ictuding the Euros Brazihan real and Canadian dollar

I



Unfayvorable cwrrency transkation adjustments mcluded 342 million in South America and S149 mmllion n Asia.
parally offset by favorable currency translanon adjustments of $231 milhon related to Linde AG (primarily Europe and
Asial represenfing translation impacts for the pertod from merger date through December 21. 2018, Remaining other
comprehensive [osses of $2 nullion relate to the amortization of deferred Josses on the company’s derivatives and unrealized
losses on avatlable for sale securities. Refer to the Currency section of the MD& A and Notes 9 and 18 1o the consolidated
financial statements.

The number of emplovees at December 31, 2018 was 80,820, an increase of 54.359 emplovees from December 31,
20117 primarily driven by an increase of approximately 56.000 related to the merger partiallv offset by a decrease of

approvmately 2,500 from the divestiture of Praxair’s European industrial gases business,
Other Financial Dara

Earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA™) increased $3.458 millien to $7.133 million m
2018 from $3.675 mithon in 2017, EBITDA 1n 2018 mcludes a gain on sale of businesses and purchase accounting impacts,
and both periods include transaction and other costs. Excluding the impacts of these items. adjusted EBITDA ncreased
$78%9 nullion fo $4.516 million 1n 2018 from $3.727 million in 2017 driven by the consolidation ot Linde AG starting
Ocrober 31, 2018, and higher adjusted income from conumuing operations plus depreciation and amortization versus the prior
vear

Sce the “Non-GA AP Fmancial Measures™ sectton for definitions and reconciliation of these non-G A AP measures to
reported amounts

2617 Compared With 2016

Sales mcreased 9Vo to $11.437 million 1 2017 compared to $10,534 mithon m 2016 Excludmg tavorable currency
translation of 1%e and higher cost pass-through. primarily natural gas. which mcereased sales by 2%, sales growth was 6%
Volume growth of 5V was driven by higher volumes in North America. Furope and Asia. including new project start-ups.

and growth in all end-markets. Higher price imcreased sales by 17

Gross margin increased %297 nudhon, or 6% versus 20016 primarthy due to lugher sales. Gross margm as a percentage
of sales declined to 33 3% m 2017 ftom 4442 m 2016 largely deven by the contractuad pass-through of hrgher natueal gas

COsIS 1o Customers

selling. general and administrative expenses mereased $62 nullion or 320 1m 2017 @0 $1.207 mithon, and decreased to
HLO o of sales versus 10 9% of sales for 2016, Curtency mmpacts mereased SG&A by $14 mullion. Excluding currency
impacts. SG&A iereased $48 milhion driven by higher incentis e compensation. acquisiions and cost inflation partially
offset by costieduction actions,

Depreciation and amornzation expense mereased S62 milhon versus 2016 Currency 1mmipacts mereased depreciaton
and amortization expense by %15 million Excluding currency impacts. depreciation and amortizauon expense inereased
547 mulhon. or 4°6. promarily due to large project start ups and acquisitions.

During the year ended December 31. 2017, Linde recorded transaction costs and other charges of $32 million primarily
related to the merger. During the year ended December 31. 2016. Linde recorded charges of $96 million related primarily to
a cost reduction program (Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements )

Other income (expenses) — net m 2017 was a $4 million benetit versus a $23 million benefit n 2016 (sec Note 9 to the
consohidated financial statements for a summary of major components). Other income 10 2016 is largely related to net gains
on asset sales.

Reported operating profit of 52444 million m 2017 was $197 mmllion. or 9% ligher than reported operating profit of
$2.247 mulhion in 2016, 2017 mcluded transaction costs of $32 million 2016 mcluded charges of $96 million related to cost
reduction actions. Refer to Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements for a further discussion of these items. Eactuding
the impact of these tems. adjusted operating profit of $2,496 million in 2017 was $153 nmullion. or 7% hugher than adjusted
operating profit of $2.343 mllion in 2016 driven by higher volumes and price A discussion of operatng profit by segment js
mcluded 1n the segment discussion that foliows

Reported mterest expense ~ net in 2017 decreased $29 million. o5 15%0. versus 2016 2016 included charges of
S16 mitlion refating to the early redemprion of notes (see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements) Excluding this



charge. adjusted interest expense decreased $13 mulhion. or 7%, largely attributable to overall fower net debt. See Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements for fusther information relating to interest expense.

The reported effectve tax rate for 2017 was 43.9%6 versus 26.9%¢ 11 2016, The ETR for the 2017 period inciuded a net
$394 million tax charge related to the Tax Act and a $3 million tax benefit related to transaction costs and a pension
settlement (see Note 5 and Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements). The ETR. for the 2016 period includes a
$35 miullion tax benefit related to a pension settlement. bond redemption and cost reduction program and other charges (see
Note 13 and Note 18 to the consclidated financial statements). Excluding these impacts, on an adjusted basis the ETR for the
2017 and 2016 periods was relatively flat at 27.2% and 27.1%. respectively.

Linde’s equity investments are primarily located m the United States. China, fraly. and the Middle East. Equity income
increased $6 million in 2017,

At December 31. 2017, reported noncontrolling interests consisted primarily of noncontrolling shareholders’
mvestments m Asia {primarily i China). Europe {primarily in ltaly). and surface technologies. Reported noncontrolling
interests increased $23 milhion to $61 million in 2017 from $38 million in 2016 Reported noncontrolling interests for the
veat ended December 21, 2016 included a reduction of $5 mutlion related to a cost reduction progranm. The remaming
mcrease was driven by PG Technologies. LLC ¢"PGT™). a surface technologies juint venture with GE Aviation formed in the
fourth quarter of 2016 (see Note 16 to the consohidated financial statements).

Reported income from continuing operations i 2617 was $1.247 nullion. o $253 millon lower thap $1.300 million 1n
2016, Adyusted mcome from continuing operations ot $1.690 million in 2017 was $114 milhon. or 7%¢ higher than
$1.576 million in 2016 Adjusted icome from continuing operations increased prumarily due to higher adjusted operating

profit and lower adjusted iterest expense - net.

Reported diluted earmings per share from continuing operations of $4 32 1 2017 decreased 30.89 per diluted share. or
[7% from 45 21 m 2016, The decrease meluded a $1.36 net income tax charge relared o the Tax Actand a $0.17 charge
related to transaction cosis and other charges (see Note ™ and Note 5 1o the consolidated financial statements) Adjusted
diluted EPS from continuing operations of $5.835 10 2017 mcreased $0.27 per diluted share. or 7. trom adjusted diluted EPS
from continuimg operations ot 83 45 m 2006 The merease s adjusted diluted EPS was primarnly due to higher adjusted
meonie from contunuing Operiaiens

Other comprehensyve income for the year ended December 310 2017 of 5336 nulhon includes favorable currency
translation adjustments of $323 milbion and an $171 nullton favorable impact in the funded status of retirement obligations.
The favorable transianon adjustments reflect the impact of transtaung local currency foreign subsidiary financial sratements
into U S, dollars. and are largely driven by the weakening of the U.S dollar against the Canadian dollar. Euro. and Korean
won. Favorable currency translation adjustments included $232 malhion mn Asia. $153 nulbon in North America and
$ 106 walhon in Euarope partatly offser by unfavorabie curreney translation adjustments of $35 nuthon mn South America. The
merease in the funded status of retirement obligations was primarily the result of Tower current yvear actuanal losses. as the
impact of lower U1LS, discount 1ates was largehy offset by a higher actual return on assets. Refer w the C urrency secuion of the
MD& A and Notes @ and 18 1o the consolidated tinancial statements.

The number of employees at December 21. 2017 was 26,4601, a decrease of 37 emplovecs from December 31,2016
I'his decrease primanly retiects the impact of cost reduction programs mmplememed during the previous vear.

Other Financial Data

EBITDA mcreased $263 milhon to $3.675 million in 2017 from $3.410 nullion in 2016, Adjusted EBITDA increased
221 mudbion to $3.727 milhon m 2017 from $3.506 million in 2016 driven by hugher adjusted income from continuing
operations plus depreciation and amoruzation versus the prior vear

See the "Non-GA AP Financial Measuies” sectton for detimtions and reconciliation of these non-GA AP measures to
reported amounts,
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Related Party Transactions

The compan: ‘s related partres are primarily unconsohidated equity affiliates. The company did not engage 1n any
material transactions involving 1elated parties that included terms or other aspects that differ from those which would be
negotiated w1th independent parties

Environmental Matrers

Linde’s principal operatons relate to the production and distribution of atmospheric and other industrial gases. which
historically have not had a sigmificant impact on the environment. However. worldwide costs relating to environmental
protection mas continue to grow due (0 1nereasingly stringent laws and regulations. and Linde’s ongomg commitment to
rigorous iternal standards. In addition. Linde may face physical risks from climate change and extreme weather.

Climate Change

Linde operates in junisdictions that have. or are developing. laws and‘or regulations to reduce or mitigate the percerved
adverse effects of greenhouse gas ("GHG™y enyissions and faces a highly uncertain regulatory environment in this area For
example. the U.S. Envnonmental Protecnon Agency (“EPA™) has promulgaied rules requiring reporting of GHG enussions.
and Linde and many of it suppliers and customers are subject to these rules EPA has alse promulgated regulations to restrict
GHG enussions. including final rules regulatmg GHG emissions from hght-duty vehicles and certam large manutacturing
facilines. many of which are Linde suppliers o1 customers. In addivon to these developments in the Umited States, GHGs are
reguiated in the Ewopean Lmon under the Emyssions Trading System. which has wide implications for the company s
customers and may unpact certain operations of Linde in Europe. There are also requirements for mandatury reporting
Canada. which apply to certaan Linde operations and will be used in developing cap-and-trade reguiations on GHG
emissions. These regulations are expecied to impact certain Linde facilities in Canada. Climate change and energy efficiency
laws and policies are also bemg widelv mtroduced in jurisdictions throughout South America. Mevico and parts of Asia.
China has announced plans to launch a national carbon emissions tracing svstem. though 1t does not appear the regulations
will have a direct impact on GHG enussions from Linde faciiies Among other impacts, such regulations are expected o
raise the costs af energy . which o wiguticant cost tor Linde. Nevertheless. Linde’s long-term custamer contracts routinely
provide rights to recover mereased electricimy, natural gas. and other costs that are mcurred by the company as a resuft of
Chmate Change regulation

L inde anticipates continued growih m ity hydrogen busmess, as hvdrogen is essential to refineries that use it to remon e
sulfur from transportation fuels 1 order 10 meet ambient air quality standards m the United States and tuel standards i other
regrons. Hydrogen production plants and a large number of other manufacturing and electricity-generating plants have been
identitied in California and the Curopean Unton as a source of carbon diovide emissions and these plants are subject to
cap-and-trade regulattons i those Junisdictions, Linde believes it will be able to mitigate the costs of these regulations
through the terms of its product supply contracts However. legislation that imits GHG emissions may mmpact growth by
increasing capital. comphiance. operating and mamtenance costs and or decreasing demand

To manage business risks from current and potential GHG emission regulation as well as phvsical consequences of
clunate change. Linde actively monitors current developments. evaluates the direct and indirect business risks. and takes
appropriate actions. Among others. actions include: mncreasing relevant resources and traming. mamtatmiing contingency
plans: obtaimning advice and counsel from expert vendors. insurance providers and industry experts; incorporating GHG
provisions in commercial agreements. and conducting regular reviews of the business risks with management. Although
there are considerable uncertainties. Linde believes that the business nsk trom potentral regulations can be effectively
managed through its commercial contracts Additionally, Linde does not anticipate anv material effects regarding its plant
operations or business artstng trom potentiat physical risks of climate change.,

Linde continuously seehs opportunities to optimize 1ts own energy use and GHG footprint through ngorous energy
efficiencv. investment i renewable energy. and purchasing hvdrogen as a chemucal byproduct where feasible. Linde
maintains related performance improy ement targets and reports progress against these targets regularly to business
managenment and annually to Linde’s Board of Directors.

At the same time. Linde may benefit from business opportunities arismg from governmental regulation of GHG and
other emussions. uncertain costs of energy and certain natural resources: the development of renewable energy alternatives:
and new technologies that help extract natural gas, improve air quality. increase energy efficiency and nutigate the impacts of
climate change. Linde continues ta develop new applications that can iow er emigsions. weluding GHG emissions. i Linde s
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processes and help customers lower energy consumption and increase product throughput Stricrer regulation of water quality
1 emerging economies such ag Chma provide a growmg market for a number of gases. e.g.. oxygen for wastewater

treatinent. Increased concern about drought in areas such as California may create a market for carbon dioxide for
desalination. Renew able fuel standards in the European Union and ULS. create a markert for second-generation biofuels which
use mdustrial gases such as oxygen. carbon dioxide. and hydrogen

Custs Relating to the Protection of the Environment

Environmental protection costs in 2018 were not sigmficant. Linde anticipates that future anpual eny ironmental
protection expenditures will be similar to 2018, subject to any significant changes in existing laws and regulations Based on
historical results and current estimates. management does not believe that environmental expenditures will have a matenal
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position. the consolidated results of operations or cash flows in any given vear

Legal Proceedings

See Note 19 to the consolidated financial ~tatements for information concerning legal proceedings
Retiremenr Benefits
FPenstons

The net pertadic benetit cost tor the V'S and Internationat pension plans was $23 nuilion m 2018, $38 mulhon i 2017
and $31 mutlion in 2016 The net perodic pension cost for 201% mcludes a benefit of $44 nulhon related 1o guins on
settlements triggerad as part of the Pravar Eurapean business divesuture and recogrized on the Net gain on sale of
busmesses Ime Tius also includes settfement charges related to lump sum payments (e.g.. triggered by change m conwool or
notmal retirements ) of S 14 milhon i 2018 Settlement charges for 2017 and 2016 were $2 nullion and 4 milhion,
Tespectively.

The tunded status (pension benefit obligation (*PBO™) Jess the fan value of plan asset<) for the 118 plans was a deficu
of 356 mulhon ax of December 31 2018 versus o deficit of 3640 mithon at December 21, 2007 Actuarial gams on tavorable
Labilite experience that arose during the current vear related primarthy to higher discount rates and were largely offset by 5
ower teturn on assets The lunded status tpension benetit obhaation ("PBO™) less the fair value ot plun assets) for
international plans was a deficit of $1.241 mulhion as of December 210 2018 versus a deliert ot $155 nullion at December 31,
2017, The defien s pomanly due tw the Linde AG merger. Einde” AG™s maor mternational pension arrangements are m the

United Kmgdom and Germany

Global pension contributions were %87 mudhon m 2018, $19 nullion m 2047 and 511 nullon i 2016 Ara nunimum.
Linde contributes to its pension plans to comph with local regulators requirements (e.g.. LRISA mn the United Matest,
I Hseretonars contribuions i excess of the local mimmum requirements are made based on nwany factors. mcludmg long-
tenu projections of the plans” funded statos, the cconomic enmvironment, potential risk of overfunding, pension insurance
costs and alternatine uses of cash, Changes to these factors can mmpact the tmnng of diseretionary contributions fiom sear to
svear Dstimated required contribunions tor 20019 are curiently expected to be 1n the range of $95 milhon to STe0 miliion

L inde assumes expected returns on plan assets for 2009 of 7.50¢: and 5.00%+ tor the U.S and international plans.
1espectively. which are consistert with the long-term expected return on its mvestment portfolio.

Exciuding the impact of any settlements. 2019 consohidated pension expense 1s expected to be 56 nillon
Posucrrement Benefiie Qilier Than Pensions « "OPEB ™)

The net periadic benefit cost for OPEB plans was a $4 nulhon costin 2018, a S13 mullion benefit m 2017 and a
S5 ullion costm 20En 2017 mcludes o curtalment gam on a South American OPEB plan of 15 puliion

In 2019, ¢consohdated net periodic benetit costs for the OPT B plans 15 expected to be approvamately $5 million

Refer to the Critical Aceounting Policies section and Note 18 (o the consohdated financial statements tor a more
detarled discussion of the company “s setirement benefits. meluding a deseripuion of the various retirement plans and the
assumptions used s the calculation of net perrodic benefit cost and tunded status

Insnrance

Linde purchases msurance to himir a varren of property and casualty risks. metuding those related to properts . busmess
mterruption thrd-parts Tabilite and workers” compensaton Currentls . the compans seif-retams up to S5 nuthon pet
occuttance for workers” compensation. general and sehicle abiny mothe Uinted States and retams up 1o 2 nulhon per

s
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occurrgnee at its various properties worldwide. To mitigate its aggregate loss potentat aboyve these retentions. the company
purchases insurance coverage from highly rated insurance companies. The company does not currently operate or participate
in any captive msurance companies or other non-traditional risk transfer alternativ es.

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the company had recorded a total of $60 million and $35 million. respectively,
representing an estimate of the retained liallity for the vltumate cost of claims incurred and unpaid as of the balance sheet
dates. The estimated liabihity is established using statistical analysis and 1s based upon historical experience. actuarial
assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates are subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency and
are subject to a significant degree of inherent variability. If actual claims differ from the company’s estimates, thev will be
adjusted at that time and financial results couid be impacted.

Linde recognizes estimated insurance proceeds relating to damages at the tume of loss only to the extent of mcurred
losses Any insurance recoveries for business interruption and for property damages in excess of the net book value of the
property are recognized only when realized or pending payments confirmed by its insurance companies.



SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Through October 31, 2018 the company’s operations were orgamzed into th e repartable segments. four of which have

been determined on a geographic basis of segmentation: North America, Europe. South America and Asia The company s
suiface technologes business represents the fifth reportable segment These segments are comprised of Praxai businesses
for all vears presented. As discussed above n the section “Business Cherview  Verger of Praxuair Inc and Linde

A4C7  Limde AG became a separate sixth reportable segment effective with the merger on October 21, 2018 und,
accordingly. Linde AG’s operations were 1ncluded n the consolidated financial statements effective from the merger date
tsee Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information .

The following summary of sales and operating profh by segment provides a basis for the discussion that tollows (for
additional informauon concerning Iinde’s segments, see Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements), Linde evaluates
the performance of it reportable segments based on operating profit. excluding the items not indicative of ongoing business
trends

. . Variance
(Doilur amownrs in millions)

Year Coded Decembes 3, 2018 MW MY 2008 v, 2007 217w 2000
Sales
North Americs A 042008 6023 S 5502 T oy
Furope .50z LLASN F.au2 2 127,
South America ].30Y .50 ] HIRRY (. T Uy
Asi |t [ JLA55 fa 12 e
Surface Technoelogres 682 617 A0 [ 4 v
Lmde AG 2872
h (IS ST TH 1437 S fo s34 S oy

Operating Profit -
North America S IS A (ISl BE IR oy o,
Lurope 6 AtH 274 s 14y
South Amwerica 215 259 R LG VI
BT 427 333 276 2N Al I
surtace Technelogies IS Y vy [N Tt
Linde AG 252 o

Segment operating profi 2076 2406 24z pron T
Transaction costs and wiher charges {30 (52 140
Net gamn on sale of busiesses 204 -
Purchase accounting tmpacts T inde AG (i - -

Consohdated operating profit S 5247 s 2440S 2047
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North dmerica

(Dellar amonnts in millions)
} ear Ended December 31,

Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and

amortization

Gross margin

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit

Operating margin

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume

Price. Mix

Cost pass-through

Currency

Acguisitions Dy estitures

Other

Variance
2018 2617 2016 2018 vs, 2017 2017 vs, 2016
6420 % 6,023 % 5,592 70a K%
3,395 3,167 2871
3,025 2.856 272
717 708 676
660 631 614
1648 § 1,517 § 1.43] 9y 6
25.7”/4) 25.2% 25 6%
2018 vs, 2087 2017 vs. 2016
*% Change *¢ Change
Operating Operating
Sales Profit Sales Profit
40 6% 10, 8 %
R Ko, 2% S0
1% —"a 200 —- %
—0 — Yy ey ey
—v, — oy "y
" (5§ —"y (7 )M
7" ] Q o u c\:“ + ﬁ o n

The following tables proaide sales by end-market and distribution method

Sales by End-Markets
Manufacturing

Metals

Energy

Chemicals

Electronics

Healthcare

Food & Beverage
Aecrospace

Other

* Excludes impact of currency. natural gas precious metals cost pass-through and acquisitions. divestitures

“o of Sales *s Change*

20108 2017 2016 2088 vs, 2017 2017 va. 20416
29%, 200, 200, S0 40
117 2% 1270 R AT
17% 18%0 17% (b 7%
119 o6 9y 25 % 500

5% 5% 39 3% 17%
7% 7% 7% 78 %0
10% 1070 1 0% 8o 504
2% A 2% 29 P 1494
8% 8% 9% {210 199
100% 100%% 100%



%y of Sales

2018 017 2016
Sales by Distribution Methed
On-Site 309, 30% 289,
Merchant 200, 379 389,
Packaged Gas 3l 31%, 319
Other 20 20% 30,
1004 130% 1000,

The North America segment includes Linde’s mdustrial gases operations i the Unnted States. Canada and Mexico.

Sales for 2018 increased $397 million. or 7% versus 2017, Higher cost pass-through. primanihy highet natural gas
prices passed through 1o hvdrogen costomers. mnereased sales by 190 with nunimal impact on operating profit Eacluding cost
pass—ilrough, sales increased 6%« primarily due to higher yoiumes to mos«r end-markets and higher pricing.

Operating protit in 2015 mcreased 3431 mulhon. o1 Yo from 2017 driven by lugher volumes and pricing Opetating
profit for 2018 also mcluded o »30 nullion asset imparment charge which was more than offset by $42 nulhon of gams on
asset disposals.

Sales for 2017 increased 431 nulliom. or "0 versus 2016 Higher cost pass-through. primarthy higher natural gas
prices passed through to by drogen customers. mereased sales by 2% 0wl mmmal mpact on operating profit. Excluding cost
pass—through. sales mncreased oo primanly duc 1o higher v olumes o all end-murkets and higher pnicimy

Operaung profitin 2017 mereased $86 million. ot 60 from 2016 dinven by higher volumes and pricing which were
partially offser by hurmcane mpay ts and higher costss primarthy energy and purchased products

Europe

Mariance

tDollar umounis in millions;

Y ear Ended December 310 2018 ot” 010 20018 s, 2017 27 v, 2006
Nales % f.592 - L3380 % 1.392 2% 20
C ost of sales. exclusne ol depreviation and

amoruzation ) ARG 774

Crross margm 652 6o als

Operaling expenses 106 194 IRw

Deprecration and amortization 146 toy 155

Operatimg profii ~ St ."r» RN 5 e e FO™

Operating margin T4 8% 1939, 19 70,



2018 vs, 2017

2017 vy, 2016

¢o Change *o Change
Operating Operating
Sales Profit Sales Profit

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume 1 % 1% 544 8 %
Price/Mix 2% 99y 1% 30,
C ost pass-through 20 _— 19, -ty
Currency 4% 5% 2% 2v
Acquisiions/Divestitures (71% (71°% 304 30,
Other — by {310 0 (5%

2 %% 5% 129, 10 %

The following tables provide sales by end-market and distribution method:
o of Sales %9 Change*
2018 2017 2016 2018 5s. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Sales by End-Markets
Manufacturing 20 200 21 50 4t
Metals P70 6ty H 8% Qe
Energy 40 S0 S0g (410 [
Chenacals [ 20, 1204 LN 6% T,
Electromes EAT ER TV 20 Ty
Healthcare 129 120, Llvy, G UM
ealthcare
Food & Beverage 159 140, 120 1L N
Acgrospdce [ e [0 E2 300
Other [ 2% 13" 134, () Ry
fO0" 100Y 10609
* s ludes impact ¢f arenes - aatural gas preaions metads cost pase-throgle and acgqusitionsadinesttures
o of Sales
200 2017 2616
Sales by Distribution Method
On-Site 18%0 18% 19v,
Merchant 340, 35% 35%
Packaged Gas 43%, 42%% 42%
Other 500 5% 4%
100°%% 100°%,

100%

Linde’s Furopean industrial gases business operated m Spam. Ireland. Italv. France. Germany. Russia. the United
Kingdom. Scandinavia and the Benelux region. In connection with the merger. Praxair was required (o sell the majonty of its
European industrial gases busimess. The sale was completed on December 3. 2018 and the European business results are
included in the ¢onsolidated financial statements through the date of sale See Note 4 to the consclidated financial statements

Sales in 2018 increased $34 milkion, or 2% from 2017. The divestiture of the European businesses decreased sales by
79 Excluding the dnestiture impact. sales increased 9% from 2017, Higher cost pass-through mcreased sales by 2% with
minimal impact on operating profit Favorable currency translation increased sales by 4%, Higher volumes and higher price
mcreased sales by %o and 2%. respectinely.




Operating profit in 2618 of $316 milfion increased 315 nuilion. or 36 from 2017 The divestiture of the Ewropean
businesses decreased operating profit by 7%, Currency translation impact increased operating profit by 3%, Excluding the
divestiture and currency impacts. operating profit increased 7o driven by lugher price and higher v olumes, partially offset b
cost inflation.

Sales m 2017 increased $166 million or 12% from 2016, Higher cost pass-through increased sales by 19 ¢ with minimal
impact on operating profit. Favorable currency translation increased sales by 2%.. Highet overall volumes, including new
project start-ups. and higher price increased sales by 5%: and 1%0. respectively. The acquisition of a carbon dioxide businass

in the prior vear largely serving the food and beverage end-market increased sales by 3%,

Operating profit n 2017 of $301 million mereased 327 mullion. or 10%¢ from 2036 driven by higher volumes and
higher price Favorable currency transfation and the acquisition of the carbon dioaide business in the prior vear each
contributed 2% to operating profit growth.

South America

Variance

(Duliar umonnis in millions:

Y ear Ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016 2018 55, 2017 2017 ss, 2016
sales S 1369 % 62 AN 309 (97 T
Cost ot sules, exclusine of deprecuation and
amorhization ~la LN 822
GIross margm 530 596 577
Uperating cxpuses h 198 IN]
Depreciation and amortization 145 159 133
Operating profit > R 2349 % 263 (10, (9"
Operating margin 157 509, TN =
2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 26
"v Change %o € hunge
Operating Operating
Sales Profit Sales Profit

Factors Contributing to C hanges
A olume Yo (319 - v (23
Price Mix R [2m 1" 3t
Cost pass-through T — " —"a — “u
Currency % (181 Y% d 9,
Acguisitions, D estitures =" — % —q — "2
Other — "y 1% —Yo (144

(91% 110)%y 7P (90




The following rables provide sales by end-market and distribution method:

Sales by End-Markets
Manufacturing

Metals

Energyv

Chemicals

Electronics

Healthcare

Food & Beyerage
Aerospace

Other

* Eactudes impict of cutrency natwal gas'prectous metals cost pass-ihrough and acquisiions divestifures

Sales by Distribution Method
On-Site

Merchant

Packaged Gas

Othet

The South America segment includes Linde’s industial gases operations m Brazil, Argentina. Balvia, Chile.
Coloma. Paraguay. Peru. and Uruguay

%% of Sales

% Change*

2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs, 2016
15% 17°% 1890 {5 (2)%
32% 3% 31% 1 % 1%

2% 2% 2% 1 %4 23 %
10% 10°% 994 T % & %
—% —% —% — % — %
19% 199 19% 2 % 3%
14% 13% 13% 3 % 2 0%

0, .0, 0 — Uy — oy
8o 8% 8% 11 % (7%
100% 10074 100
%o of Sules
218 2017 2016
334, 33%, 31v
38% 3R 44Uy
RE 27 274
2% 2% Rt
100", 100° 1 (e,

Sales in 2018 decreased $132 million. or 9%, versus 2087, Unfavorable currency impacts decreased sales by 12%
diven by the weakenig of the Brazilian real and Argentine peso against the L5, dollar Excludmg currency. sales increased

3% driven by higher price and volumes

Operating profit decreased $24 milhon o1 10¢s versus 2017 Excluding unfavorable currency impacts. operating profit
mcreased §°o driven by higher price and lower cosis partially offset by unfavorable sales mix.

Effective July 1. 2018 Argentina was deemed a highly inflationary economy (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial

sratements)

Sales 1n 2017 increased $102 million. or 7%%. versus 2016. Favorable currency translation impacts increased sales by
&Y prumarily due to the strengthening of the Brazilian Real against the U.S. dollar Excluding currency, sales increased 1°,
driven by higher price. Volumes were flat as new project contribution was offset by negative underlying base volumes in
Brazil due to weak industrial production. Growth in on-site volumes due to new plant start-ups accounted for the increase

on-sie sales as a percentage of total segment sales.

Operating profit decreased $24 million or 9% versus 2016. Excluding currency translation. operatng profit decreased
13% driven by unfavorable product sales mix and cost inflation which were partially offset by higher price.
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Asia

Marange

tDollar ameounnts in millivns)

3 car Fnded December 31, 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 15, 2016
Sales 5 1.964 S 1.738 A 1,553 13% 129,
Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciauion and
amertization 1.215 1.09% 998
G10ss margin 749 640 527
Operating expenses 118 122 102
Depreciation and amortization 204 185 179
Operating profit s +27 5 333 S =76 28" St
Operating margn 21 7 1620, 17.7%
2008 vs. 2017 2017 v, 2016
®o Change ¢ Change
Operating Operaung
Sales Profit Sales Profit
Factors Contributing to C hanges
Volume 9y 14 " P [
Price M 20 14 %0 e N
¢ ost pass-through [ -y [ -
Coummenay [ 1 "o [ e
Yequisitions Dinvesttares =" - 2 -
Other --" (i - T
i3, 287 [ 2 NS
he tollowmng tables proside sales by end-market and distribution method
o ol Sales o Change’

2018 2017 2016 IR 2T 2017 v 2046
Sales by End-Markers
NManufacturing gty gy, g, I Py oy,
NMetals 26" 270 280 {2 Py,
Energy 5% 3 3a 104 [
C henucais 14% 150 147 30 20 %
Electronics KB N 334, 330, 13 % 12 %
Healtheare 0 1"a e AU e
Food & Beverage 2% 20 200 101%, i1
Aerospace —"a - —a " -
Onhet 9 107 [ (F e T RS

100" 1002 108" o

* Faclades impact or cetrency natural gas precous meials cost pass-thion g ond acquisimions divestures
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%o of Sales

2018 2017 2016
Sales by Distribution Method
On-Site 50% 0% S0%
Merchant 200G 300, 2go,
Packaged Gas 11% 139, 14%
Other 704 794 0
100% 100°% 100%

The Asia segment mcludes Linde’s industnial gases operations in China, India, Korea and Thailand. with smaller
operations i Tarwan and the Middle East.

Sales i1 2018 increased $226 milhon. or [3% versus 2017, Cost pass-through. primarily energy, and currency impacts
each increased sales by 1%, Volume growth of 9% was primarily attributable to base volume growth in Chuna. Korea and
India and new project start-ups in China Higher price increased sales by 2% driven by China. Sales growth was the strongest
o the metals. energy and electromes end-marhets.

Operating profit for 2018 mcreased $94 mullion. or 28%a. as compared to the prior vear driven by higher volumes and
price. Operating profit for 2018 included a $22 mullion asset impairment charge. offset by a litigation settlement gam.

Sales in 2017 increased $183 million. or 12% versus 2016 Favorable currency translation and cost pass-through each
increased sales by 170, Divestitures decreased sales by 2% due to the sale of an ownership interest in @ majority-owned joint
venture 1 India in 2016. Excludig these impacts. sales increased 12%0 driven by base volume growth in China. Korea and
india. new project start-ups in China and Korea and higher price.

Operating profit for 2017 mereased $57 nulhon, or 2 1%, as compared to the prios vesr driven by higher volumes and
price. partially oftset by cost milavon.

Surface Technologies

Y ariance

¢Doilur amonnes in miltions;

Y ear Ended Decenmber 31, 2018 2017 2016 201K vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016

Sales $ 682 A 6l7 » 396 11" A

Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and

amortzanon R 402 341

Gross margin 234 215 20%

Operating expenses 72 a9 66

Depreciation and amortization 44 40 40

Operating profit 3 118 % 06 % 99 11% 7Y%
Operating margin 17.3% 17.2% 16.6%



2018 +5, 2017

% Change

2017 e 2006

°s Change

Operating, Operating
Sales Profit Sales Profit

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume Price 8%% 19 e 204 494
Cost pass-through %0 —® —a —%y
Currency 2% 2V “o —%0
ACqQUENTIONy Divestitutes — — " 2uy 19¢
Other —y (1h'e —% RAN

1i% 1T % 40 7%,

The tollowimg tabie prosides sales by end-market.
%o of Sales %o Chanwse*
2018 2017 6 2018 v, 2007 2017 vs. 2006
Sales by End-Markets
Manutacturing 12" Tive 1 1oy 2,
Metals Nuy Qv o, (S SLM _ vy,
Eneren I8 19", 23 4 " (12
C hemicals 2% 2% 2 4% {171 a
Electronics B £ (N R 320,
Healtheare "o ' - " — o
Fond & B otuge KA Ay 40 3 RPN
Acrospace 5% 437 4t {2 il 9
Other P19 [ 1% P “a 2
100 100" 100«

T Eaciudes mpact ol currens s natinal zas precious metals cost pass-threaeh and acquisimonsdivestiuges

Swilace Technologres provides high-pertormance coatings and thermal-spray powders and equipment inthe Americas,

b urope. and Asiz
Sales mereased SoS aynlhon, o |

end-markets and Ingher puce Currenes ranslanon mereased sales by 2%

caersus 2817 primarihy due to higher volumes o the acrospace and manutacturing

Operanng profit increased 310 mullon, or 11% versus 2017 Currency iranslation increased operating profit by 2%,
Excluding currency impacts. operating profit increased 9% driven by inereased volumes and price partially offset by prajecr

GHRP Up COonls

Sales increased $21 nullion. ar 4% versus 2016 primarily due 1o higher volumes 10 the aerospace end-market and

acquisitions driven by a majonny -owned joint venture with GE aviation

o versus 2016 due to higher

Operanng profit mereased 37 nullon, or

volumes and acguisitions



Linde AG

(Dollar amounes in millions)

Y ear Ended December 31. 200%

Sales % 2.873
Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and amortization 1,869
(Gross margin 974
Operating expenses 440
Deprectation and amortization 282
Operating profit $ 252

Operating margin 8.8%

The followmg tables provide sales by end-market and distribution method-

%o of sales

2018

Sales by Epd-Markets
Manutacturing 19%,
Metals AR
Chemicals & Energy 13%4
Electronics 7v%
Healthcare 23%a
Food & Beverage 6o
Engincerimg IRy,
Other 0

100"

* Exdudes impact of caprency natural gas precious metals cost pass-threngh and acguisiions divestitures

®s of Sales

2018
Sales by Distribution Method
On-Site 17%
Merchant 184
Packaged Gas 449
Other 21%
100%

Linde AG became a sinth reportable segment effective with the merger on October 31. 2018, Sales of $2.873 million
and operating profit of $252 million represent results for the tw o month period from merger date through December 31,
2018,
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Currency

The results of Linde’s non-US. operations are transiated to the company “s veporiimg cutrency . the 1S dollar. from the
fupetional currencies used i the countries in which the compans operates For most foreien operations. Linde uses the local
currency as 1ts functional currency. There 1s inherent variabihty and unprediciability in the relationship of these functional
currencies to the U.S. dollar and such currency movements mav materially impact Linde’s results of operations m any gnen
period

To help understand the reported results. the following is a sunumary of the significant currencies underlyving Linde’s
consolidated results and the exchange rates used ro ranslate the financial statemenrs ¢rates of exchange ¢expressed In units of
local currency per ULS. dollary

Percent of

Statements of Income Balance Sheets

(nn:((n)lllgated Average Year Ended December 31, December 31,
Currency Sales 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017
Euro 16, (1 &5 0 &0 0oy 087 K3
Brazihan real T 363 319 347 IR7 351
Chinese yuan ey 600 676 Hh o4 688 651
C anachan dollar 0 {30 130 ] 3z 136 126
Mexican peso + 14 20) T 86 I8 63 19,05 19 66
Korean won 3V 1100 RN .16 1111 i.ue”
Britisl pound RN s 0Ty 07 07 07 g
Indian rupee A [N 63 o K =
Susiraha dollars o 134 — - P42 - -
Farwan dollars I 013 3143 320 My =7 29 TR
Notwesan krone (R N3 S 2a N34 N od N2
Argentina peso (a) 1 2619 lo 3 1474 770 [ & 63
tal Effcenive Julv 102008 Argentna was deemed o lnghly imtlanonars cconomy (sec Note 3 to the consohduted

fingneial statciments)



LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATH

Militons of doliarsi
3 eat Ended December 31, 218 2017 016

~Net Cash Provided by (Lised for)
Operating Activities

Income from contnwing operations (including noncontrolling mterests) $ 4288 % 1,308 5 1.538
Non-cash charges (credits).
Add: Transaction costs and other charges. net of pavments (a} 40 26 83
Add. Amortization of merger-related inventoery step-up 368 — —
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses (h) (2.923) — —
Add: Tax Act income tax charge. net (61 304 —
Add: Depreciation and amortization 1.830 1.184 1.122
Add (Lessy: Deferred income taxes. excluding Tax Act (187 136 (13,
Add (L ess). non~cash charges and other 237 102 +h
Income 11om contiuing operations adpsted for non-cash charges and othet 3.592 350 2.726
[ ess. Pension contributions (57 (1Y (11
Add (Lessr Working capstal 202 (15%) 2
Add tiess. Othe (33) Ob 22
Net cash provided by operating activities S 3654 5 3041 % 27R9

Tnvesting Activities

Caprtal expenduures SCLRR3) S laTh S cldes;
Acquisitions, net ol cashvacquued 125 (331 (363
Dy estitures and asset sales. net of cash divested 3908 20 S8
Cash acquired o merget transaction 1,363 -
Net cash provided by cused Tar) msestng actinities SO5363 0 R(LA S LLTTM

Financing Activities

Debt mereases (decreases) - net S200%) % 771y v 357
Issuances (purchases) ot ordmary shares — net 20 108 (89)
Cash dividends  Linde ple shareholders (166 {9010 (856}
Noncontrolling imterest transactions and othet 402y (92 (71
Net cash tused) for financing » (4,998} & (1.636) § (650
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash e § 22 0% 17
Cash and cash equiv alents, end-of-period $ 4466 & 617 % 524
{a) See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
th See Note 110 the consolidated financial statements.

Cash increased $3.849 mullion in 2018 versus 2017, The primary sources of cash 1n 2018 were cash flows from
operations of $3.654 million, proceeds from divestitures and asset sales of $5,908 million and cash acquired in the merger of
$1.363 mullion. The primary uses of cash included capital expenditures of $1.883 million. cash dividends to sharcholders of
$1.166 million, net debt repayvments of $2.908 mitiion and net purchases of ordinary shares of $522 mithon
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Cash Flows From Operations

Cash Flows From Operations
(Millions of Dollars)

§2.923

2018

2018 compared with 2017

Cash flows from operanons was S3.653 mudbon, or 2390 of sales. an increase of $613 mqulhon from 53,041 milhon. ot
27 ot sales m 2017 The merease was puimanly attributable to the merger. higher net meome adiusted for non-cush charges

and favorahle workimg capital requirements partralhy offser 7y unfas orable changes m othet long term assets and habibities

and higher penswn contributions

2017 compared with 2016

¢ ash tlows from: operations was $3.041 mithion. or 27" of sales, an increase of $252 mithion trom S2.789 mdhon. or
26%q of salesin 2016 The increase was primanly attributabie to igher net income adjusted for non-cash charges. a
STO3 mulhon inerease in dividends receined from equits companies. primartly in China. and fay orable changes 1 other kong -
term assets and habihimes which wete partially offset by higher working capital requirements and pension contributions



Investing

Capital Expenditures
(Millions of Dollars)

$1.689

2018

2018 compared with 2017

Net cash used provided by investing activines of $5.363 million increased $6.677 million from 2017 primardy drrv en
by proceeds from the diyestiture of Praxair’s European business and cash acquired in the merger, partially offset by higher
capital expenditures.

Capital expendnures in 2018 were $1.883 mulion. an increase of $372 nullion from 201 7. driven primarily by the
merger with Linde AG. Capital expenditures durimg 2018 related primartly to v estments i new plant and production
equipment for growth and density. Approximately 30%s of the capital expenditures were in North America with the rest in
Asia, Europe, South Amernca and Linde AG

Acquisition expenditures m 2018 were $23 nulhon, a decrease of $8 mullion from 2017, Additionally. $1.363 milion
of cash was acquired n the merger (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

Divestitures and asset sales in 2018 totaled $5.908 milhion primanly driven by proceeds from merger-rejated
divestitures meludimg $3.562 million from the sale of Praxair’s European business and $2 14 mullson related to the sale of
Praxair’s Ttalian joint venture (see Note 4 to the consolhidated financial statements).

2017 compared with 2016

Net cash used for investing activities of $1.314 million decreased $456 million versus 2016 due to lower acquisitions
and capital expenditures. partially offset by lower proceeds from divestiture and asset sales.

Capital expenditures in 2017 were $1.311 million. a decrease of $134 million from 201 6. Capital expendstures during
2017 related primarily to imnvestments in new plant and production equipment for growth and density. Approximately 60% 6 of
the capital expenditures were in North America with the rest in Asia. Europe and South America.

Acquisition expenditures in 2017 were %33 million. a decrease of $330 million from 20[6. Acguisitions in the prior
vear were primarily comprised of the acquisition of a European carben dioxide business and packaged gases businesses in
North America and Europe (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

Divestitures and asset sales in 2017 totaled $30 million of proceeds from asset sales. 2016 divestitures and asset sales
were $58 million which included proceeds from asset sales and the sale of an ownership interest 1n a majority-owned joint
venture in India.
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Financing

Linde's linancing strategy 1s to secure long-term committed funding by issuing public notes and debentures and
commercial paper backed by a long-term bank credit agreement. Linde's international aperanons are funded through o
combination of local borrow ing and mter-company funding to nunimize the total cost of funds and to manage and centralize
currency exchange exposures. As deemed necessary. Linde manages 118 exposure to mterest-rate changes through the use of
financial denvatives (see Note 14 1o the consohdated financial statements and Trem 7A Quantitative and Qualiative
Disclosures About Market Risk).

Cash used by financing achvities was $4.998 million in 2018 compared to $1.636 million in 2017. The primary
financing uses of cash were for net debt repas ments. cash dividends and net purchases of Linde ordinary shares. Cash
dividends of $1.166 million increased $265 mulhon from 2017 driven primarily by higher shares outstanding after the merger
and a 5% increase in dividends per share from 33,15 to §3.30. Net purchases of ordinary shares were 5522 nmulhion mm 2018
versus net issuances of ordinary shares of S108 million m 2017 drniven by mereased share repurchases Noncontrolling
interest transactions and othet payvments was 5402 mullion in 2018 versus 592 million 11 2017 Amounts paid in 2018 mclude
$315 nullion for the purchase of the noncontrolling mterest in Praxawr’s [talian jomt venwre 1 a merger-related wansaction
{see Note 4 to the consotidated financial statements) and $25 nmllion in interest related to the early redemption of bonds (see
Note 13 1o the consolidated financial statements ). while 2017 include dividends paid to NCl jomt venture partners and
repayment of project ady ances. The cash used for debi repayments-net of $2.908 milhon mereased 52,127 millon from
771 mulhon during 2017 while cash increased $3.849 mudbion. Net debt rdebt nunus cashy mereased $2.447 nullion
prmartly due to debt acquired i the merger partiaily offset by the repayments of debt and wncreused caslhe

The compamy believes that 1t has sutficienm operaung flexibility. cash reserves. and tunding sources 1o maintain
adequate amounts of hguidity to meet s busmess needs sround the workd [n Aareh 2019 Linde’s credit ranings as reported
by Standard & Poor’s and Moody s were A-1 and P-1 for short-term debt. respectively. and A and A2 for long-tern debr.
respectively

Note 13 1o the consolidated tinancial statements meludes informanon with respect 1o the compam s debt repayments 1
2018 cunrent debt posigon, debt covenants and the avalable credit facibues. and Note 14 mddodes mformation relatimg 1w
dervatnv e financal mnstruments Linde s credit tacilimes are with major financial institeoons and are non-cancelable unil
maturtts - Fherefore, the company befreves the risk of the financial institutions bemg unabie o make requured loans under the
credit facthues, if requesied. to be low  Linde’s majm bank credit and long-ternm debi agreements contam <tandard covenane
Ihe company was i comphiance with these conenants at December 31, 2018 and exvpects 1o reman m comphance for the
foresecabie future.

Linde s total net debt outstandimg ai December 310 2008 was $TONI0 nullion, $2.447 sullion hugher than
$8.383 nullion at December 31, 2017 The December 31, 201N net debt balance includes $ 14258 mullion i public securities,
SEO3R nudlion tepresentmy proimart!y wortdwide bank bortowings net of $4.3606 nullion of cash Linde™s global elflectne
borrowing 1ate was approsmuttels 1 9a%0 o1 2018

In March 2018, Linde repard 300 nulhon of 1 206 notes that became due and m November 20080 Linde repand
475 mullion of 1 25% notes that became due

Addinonallv. 1n December 2015, Linde repard $600 milhion of 4.30% notes due 2019 and €600 mullion of 1 50", notes
due 2020 resulting i a $26 nulhon mterest charge (520 mulhon after-tax, or $0.06 per diluted share) (sec Note 13 {o the
conselidated financial statements)

Also i December 2035, Linde repaid €750 nullion of 3.125% notes that became due,
In February 201G, Linde repaid $5300 mitlion of 1 900 notes that became due.

b June 2018, the company ™~ S300 nullion S64-day revolving credu facility with o sandicate of banks expired and was
not renewned.

On December 102200t the company announced a S1.0 tathon share tepurchase program. of which S629 onllion had
been repurchased through December 31 2088 This program was completed in Febrouary of 2019 On January 220 20049, the
company ‘s board of directors approt ed the addinonal repurchase of S6 O billion of s ordinary shares with o ~rated cvprnaton
date of February 1. 2021 For addimonal informanon related to the share tepurchase progiams, see Parr H ltem & Narket ton
Regstrant™s Commeon Equity. Related Stockholder Matters and issuer Purchases of Equity Scecurities

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The Tollowing table ~ets forth Linde™s material contract obligations and othet commercial comnutments as ot
Pecember 31 2018



(Millions of dollary Due o1 expiring b} December 31.

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafier Total

Long-term debt obliganons
Debt and capitalized lease maturities

tNote 13) $ 1,523 % 1642 % 1864 % 2336 S LT8R 3 4638 5 13.811
Contractual interest 315 283 232 169 141 621 1.761
Operating leases (Note €) 305 236 186 145 Loz 326 1,300
Retirement obligations 245 29 30 31 31 180 546
Unconditional purchase obligations 842 767 721 673 583 3.267 6.855
Construction commitments 2,100 902 249 4 — — 3.255

Total Contractual Obhigations $ 5330 % 3859 § 3282 § 3360 § 24645 F 9052 § 27,528

Contractual interest on long-term debt of $1.761 million represents interest the company is contracted to pay on
outstanding long-term debt. current portion of long-term debt and capital tease obligations. calculated on a basis consistent
with planned debt maturities. excluding the interest impact of interest rate swaps. At December 31. 2048, Linde had fixed-
rate debt of $12.565 million and floating-rate debt of $2.731 million The rate assumed for tloating-rate debt was the rate 1n
effect at December 31, 2018,

Retirement abhigations of $546 mithion include estimates of pension plan contributions and expected future benetit
payiments for unfunded pension and OPEB plans Pension plan contributions are forecasted for 2019 onty Tor purposes of
the table, $125 mithon of estimated required contributions have been included for 2019, Expected future unfunded pension
and OPEB benefit payments are forecasted only through 2028 Contribution and unfunded benefit payment estimates are
bascd upon current valuation assumptions. Estimates of pension contributions after 2019 and unfunded benefit paymenis
after 2028 are not included 1n the table because the timing of their resolution cannot be estimated. Retirement obligations are
more tully described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements

Unvconditional purchase abligations of $6.855 mullion represent contractual commutments under varnous jong and shor-
term take-or-pay arrangements with suppliers and are not included on Linde™s balance sheet These obltgations are primarily
minmunm-purchase commutments for helium, electricity. natutal gas and feedstock used to produce atmospheric and process
gases A significant portion of these obligations 1s passed on to customers through smmlar take-or-pay or other contractual
arrangements Purchase obligations that are not passed along 1o customers through such contractual arrangements are subject
to marhet conditions, but do not represent a material rish to Linde Approxtmately $2.224 mullion of the purchase obligations
relates to power and 15 intended to secure the uninterrupted supply of electnieity and feedstock to Linde™s plants to reliably
satsfy customer product supphy ehligations. and extend through 2030. Certain of the power contracts contain vanous
cancellation provisions requirmg supplier agreement. and many are subyect to annual escalations based on locad inflation
factors.

Construction commitments of §3.255 nullion represent outstanding commitments ro complete authonZed construction
projects as of December 31. 2018 A significant portion of Linde s capital spending 1s related to the construction of new
production facilities 1o satisfy customer commitments which may take a year or more to complete.

Liabilities for uncertain tax positions totaling $367 million. in¢luding interest and penalties, and tax liabilities for
deemed repatriation of earnings of $291 nullien are not included in the table because the timing of their resolution cannot be
estimated. See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for disclosures surrcunding uncertain uicome tax positions,

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As discussed i Note 19 10 the consolidated financial statements. at December 31, 2018, Linde had undrawn
outstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds entered into m connection with normal business operations
and they are not reasonably likelv te have a material impact on Linde's consolidated financial condition. results of
operations. or liqudity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The pohicies discussed below are considered by management to be critical to understanding Linde’s financial
statements and accompanying notes prepared 1n accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“"U.S GAAP™). Their application places significant importance on management’s judgment as a result of the need to
make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. Linde’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows could



he materially affected 1f actual results differ from estimates made These policies are deternuned by management and have
been reviewed by Linde’s Audit Committee

Prurchase Accounting

As discussed below. Linde AG’s assets and liabilities were measured at Jawr value as of the date of the merger on a
prelinunary basis, Esumares of fair value represent management’s best estimare of assumptions abour future exents and
uncertainties. In determining the fair 1alue, Linde utilized v arious forms of the mcome. cost and market approaches
depending on the asset or liability being fair valued. The estimation of fair value includes significant judgments rejated to
future cash flows (sales, costs. customer attritton rates, and contributory asset charges). discount rates. compentve trends.
market comparables and others Inputs were generally obtained from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated
market conditions and growth rates. The estimates and assumptions used to determine the prelimimarn, estimated fair value
assigned to each class of assets and liabihties, as well as asset lives, have a matenal impact to the company’s consolidated
financial statements. and are based upon assumptions believed te be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain.

Due to the tmung of the business combination. the magnitude of and multi-national nature of the net assets acquired.
and the hold separate order (See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) which deferred mregrauon of the two
merged compunies. at December 31, 201§ the valuation process 10 determine the fair values 1s not complete and turther
adjustments are cxpected in 2019, The company has estimated the preliminary fan value of net assets acquired based on
mformation currently avatiable and will continue o adjust those estimates as additional information becomes available The
areas where the fair value assessments are not finalized and, therefore. subject to adjustment during the measurement period
relate primarily to 1dentifiable mtangible assets. property. plant and equipment net assets held Lor sabe. equity myvesiments,
mcome taxes. noncontrolling inerests. contingencies and goodwill As the compuany finalizes the faiz value of net assets
acquired uand habtlites assumed. addittonal purchase price allocation adjustments w1l be recorded during the messurement
period. but no later than one vear from the date of the acquisiion The company will reflect measurement perind adjustments
i the pertod i wlich the adjustments are determined Any adjustments to the fan salue of assets and habihties acquired wili
be oftser to goodw dl and any mcome statement impacts will be recorded at that tnne

See Note 3 to the consohidated financial statements for addinonal miormaton
Depreciation and tmortization
Doprecrablc Lives of Propern. Planr and Equipmieni

Linde™s net property. plant and equipment at December 310 2018 was $29 717 msdhon. representing 320 ot the
compan ‘s consolidated total assets and mcluding $19.491 mullion of Linde AG assets acquured at fair value i the merger
Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1.615 nuthon. ot 13% of toral operating costs, This
meludes $225 mullion of purchiase accounting impacts Management judgment 1s required 1 the determmation of the
extimated depreciable lives that are used to caleulate the annual depreciation expense and accumulited depreciation

Properts. piant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the assets” estimated usetul Tves an a strarght-
Ime basis for financial reporting purposes 1he estunated useful life represents the projected period of tme that the assct will
be productively employed by the company and 1» determined by management based on many factors, including historical
axperience with similar assets. technological Iife cycles. geographic locations and contractual supply relatonships with
on-site customers. Circumstances and events relanng to these assets. such as on-site contract modificatians. are monstored 1o
ensure that changes 1n asset lives or impairments (see “Asset Imparrments™) are 1dentified and prospective depreciation
expense or impairment eapensc 1 adjusted accordingly Linde’s largest asset values relate to crvogenic air-separation
producton plants with depreciable lives of principally [5 years.

Based upon the assets as of December 31. 2018 f depreciable hives of machinery and equupment. on average, were
imeieased or decreased by one vear, annualized depreciation expense. including 1 mde AG fo: a full year on a pro forma
hasis. would be decreased by approximatets 5328 million or increased by approvimately $390 million, tespectively,

See Notes 3, 9 and 10 to the conselidated financial statements tor addional mtormaton

{mortization of Gtler Inrangible ssers

717

Linde’s net other intangible assets at December 31. 2008 was 816223 milbon. representing 7% ol the company "~
consehidated rotal assers and mcludmg S15.636 million of Linde AG other intangible assets acquired at fair value in the
merger (513967 million with finnte Tives and S1.669 muihon with indetinite Inesy Amertizavon expense related to fine-
bived intangibte assets for the year ended December 31. 2018 was $215 nullion. or 2% of total operating costs This
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includes 5121 million of purchase accountmg impacts Management judgment is required in the determination of the
estimated amortizable 11s es that are used to calculate the annual amortization expense and accumulated amoruzation See
Nate 12 to the consohdated financial statements.

Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2018, 1f amoruzation lives of other intangible assets. on average. were
increased or decreased by one year. annualized amortization expense. including Linde AG for a full year on a pro forma
basis. would be decreased by approximately $63 million or increased by approximately $49 miliion. respectively,

See Notes 3, 9, and 12 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information
Revenue Recognition
Long Term Construction Contructs

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other varied gas production and processing
plants manufactured specifically for end customers. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over tme as
Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed 10 date and performance does not create an asset with
alternative use For contracts recognized over time. revenue is recognized primarily using a cost mcurred mput method Costs
incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfving performance
obligations Costs mcurred nclude material. labor. and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate to
the transfer of control to the customer. Contract modifications are typrcally accounted for as part of the existing contract and
are recogmzed as a cumulatine adjustment for the inception-to-date effect of such change. We assess performance as
progress towards completion 1s achieved on specific projects. eamings will be impacted by changes to our forecast of
revenues and costs on these projects

Pension Benefits

Pension benefits represent fipancial obligations that will be ultimately settled 1n the future with emplovees who meet
ehgibilny requirements Because of the uncertainties imvoh ed in estimating the ttimimg and amount of tuture pavments,
significant estimates are required to calculate pension expense and habthtes related to the company 's plans  { he company
utilizes the services of independent actuaries. whose models are used to facihtate these caleulations

Several key assumptions are used in actvarial models 1o caleulate pension expense and lability amounis recorded 1n
the financial statements Management believes the three most stgmificant yartables m the models are the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate, and the expected rate of compensation increase. The actuarial models also use
assumprions for various other factors. including employee turnover. retirement age, and mortality Linde management
belicves the assumptions used 10 the actuarial calculations are reasonable, reflect the company s experience und expectations
for the future and are within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic locations 1t which 1t operates Actual
results many gnen year will often difter from actuarial assumptions because of cconomic and other factors. The sensitin e
to each of the key assumptions presented below exclude the impact of special items that occurred during the yvear (e g..
settiement gains from diestitures. settlement charges resulting from change in controf provisions, ete.),

The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return on pension plan assets were 7.62% for U.S, plans and 5 13°,
for international plans for the year ended December 31, 2018 (8.00% and 7.91%. respectively at December 31, 2017). The
expected long term rate of return on the U.S. and international plan assets 15 estimated based on the plans’ investment
strategy and asset allocation. historical capital market performance and, to a lesser extent. historical plan performance. A
0 50% change 1n these expected long-term rates of return. with all other variables held constant. would change Linde’s
pension expense by approximately $38 mllion.

The company has consistently used a market-related value of assets rather than the fair 1 alue at the measurement date
to determine annual pension expense The market-related value recognizes investiment gains or losses over a five-vear penodg.
As a result. changes i the fair value of assets from year to year are not immedtately reflected 1n the company’s anmual
pension expense. Instead. annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred investment gains or losses
are recognized in the market-related value of assets over the five-year pertod. The consolidated market-related value of assets
was $8.530 million. or $286 million higher than the fair value of assets of $8.244 million at December 31. 2018. These net
deferred investment gains of $286 milljion will be recognized in the calculation of the market-related value of assets ratably
over the next four vears and will impact future pension expense. Future actual mvestment gains or losses will impact the
market-related value of assets and. therefore. will impact future annual pension expense in a similar manner.

Discount rates are used to calculate the present value of plan habilities and pension costs and are determined annually
by management. For fiscal vear 2016, Praxair changed the approach that 1t used to determine the service and interest cost
components of pension and OPEB expense for significant plans to the spot rate appreach. Linde AG also adopted the spot

rh
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rate approach for 1ts matenal U.S and international pension plans as of the merger date. Under this approach U.S. plans that
do not use the spot rate approach continue to determine discount rates by usmg a cash flow matching model provided by the
compans s independent actuaries The model includes a portfolio of corporate bonds graded Aa or better by at least half of
the ratings agencies and maiches the U.S. plans’ projecied cash flows to the calculated spot rates Discount rates for the
remaimng international plans are based on market vields for high-quality fixed income investments representing the
approximate duration of the pension liabilities on the measurement date. Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements for a summary of the discount rates used to calculate plan liabilities and benefit costs, and to the Retirement
Benefits section of the Consolidated Results and Other Information section of this MD&A for a further discussion of 2018
benefit costs, A 0,30%: change m discount rates. with all other variables heid constant. would decrease/increase Linde's
pension expense by approxmately $24 million. A 0,307, reduction in discount rates would increase the PBO by
approsimately $806 miltion whereas a 0 30°0 increase in discount rates would have a favorable impact to the PBO of
approximately 8710 multion.

The weighted-ay erage expected rate of compensation increase was 3,25% for U S plans and 2 38° tor international
plans at December 31. 2018 (325, and 3 35%,, respectinelv. at December 31. 2017). The estimated annual compensation
merease 1s determined by management every vear and 15 based on historical trends and market mdices. A 0.50% change in
the expected rate of compensation 1mcrease. with all other variables held constant. would change Linde’s pension expense by
approximateiy 3% million and would impact the PBO by approxamately $60 miltion

Asser fmpairments
Goodwill and Cthicr Inderinire-Loved Inrangibles 4vsen

At December 31, 2015, the company had goodwill of $26.874 nulhon. of which $24.320 mulbon was recorded m
connection with the Linde AG merger. and $1.669 nullion of other mndetinite-lived intangible assets acquired i the merger
Goodwill represents the aggregate of the excess consideration paid for acquired businesses over the fair value of the net
ansets acquired  indefinme-lrnved other mtungibles relate to the Linde name.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually m the second quarter or more frequently f events or
circumstanees indicate that an impairment Toss may have been meurred. and no imparrments were mdicated. The company
ha~ continuously re-evaluated the ikebhood of goodwall imparrments o 1es reporting umts subsequent to the second guartet
test, and does not behieve there 15 mdication of mparrment for any of its reporting units. At December 31. 2018, Linde's
enterprise vafue was approvimatedy 596 ithon routstanding shares multphed by the vear-end stock price plus debt. and
without ansy control prenvinmy w hile f total capital was approaumately, 568 bilhion

The imparrment test aHow s an entity (o firsg assess qualitatin e factors o determine f 1018 more likely than not that the
turr value of @ reportimg umt s less than carrving value Hoitis determined that it 1s more likely than not that the fair value of
a reportnge unit s less than carnang value then the company wil estimate and compare the tair value of its reporting unus 1o
therr carrsing salue. meludmyg goodw il Reporting units are deternmuned based on one level below the operating segment
level Fair value s determined through the use of projected future cash flows. multiples of earmings and sale« and other
factors.

Such anals sis requires the use of certam market assumptions and discount factors, which are subjectne in nature As

nated values can be affecied by biany factors beyond the company 's control such as business and economic
rrends. government regulation. and technological changes Management believes that the qualitative factors used to perform
its annual goodwill imparrment assessment are appropriate and reasonable. Ajthough the 2018 gualitative assessment
indicated that it £s more likely than not that the fair v alie of each reporting unit substantially exceeded 1ts carrving value,
changes i circumstances or condinons affecting this analvsis could have a sigmficant impact on the fair value determination.
which could then result in a marerial imparrment charge to the company '~ results of operanions,

applicable. estu

Other mdefite-hived mtangible assets are ex aluated for impaioment on an annual basis or moie frequently if events
and curcumstances indiwcate that an mmpairment loss may have been meurred. and ne impamrments were indicated

See Notes 5011 and 12 1o the consohidated Anancial statements
Long-Loved i

Long-Iined asset~, wcluding Properts. plant and equipment and tintte-lived other intangible assets. are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrving amount of an mdnadual asset o1 asset
aroup mav not be reeoscrable For purposes of this test. asset groups are determined based upon the lowest level for which

n
s



there are independent and 1dentifiable cash flows. Based upon Linde’s busmess model, for property. plant and cqmpment an
asset group may be a single plant and related assets used to support on-site. merchant and packaged gas customers.
Alternatively. the asset group max be a pipeline comples which includes multiple interdependent plants and related assets
connected by pipelines within a geographic area used to support the same distribution methods.

Income Taxes

At December 31, 2018, Linde had deferred tax assets of $2.039 mullion (net of valuation allowances of $237 million),
and deferred tax liabilities of $8.961 million. At December 31. 201%. uncertain tax positions totaled $319 million (see Notes
2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements), Income tax expense was $817 million for the year ended December 31.
2018. or about 16.2%0 of pre-tax mcome (see Note 7 o the consolidated financial statements for additional information
related to taxes)

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, Linde estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and
regulatory structures that exist 1 various jurisdictions w here the company conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities represent tax benefits or obligations that arise from temporary differences due to differing treatment of certan
iterns for accounting and income tax purposes. Linde evaluates deferred tax assets each period to ensure that estimated future
taxable income will be sufficient in characier (e.g capital gain versus ordinary income treatment), amount and timing to
result in their recovery. A valuarion allowance 1s established when management deternmnes that it 15 more likely than not that
a deferred tay asset will not be realized to reduce the assets to ther realizable value. Considerable judgments are required in
establishing deferred tax valuation allowances and 11 assessing exposures related to tax matters. As events and circumstances
change. related reserves and valuation allowances are adjusted to income at that time. Linde’s tax returns are subject to audit
and local taxing authorities could challenge the company’s tax positions. The company’s practice is to review tax filing
positions by junsdiction and to record provisions for uncertain income tax positions, including mmterest and penalties when
applicable. Linde beheyes it records and/or discloses such potential tax Habilities as appropriate and has reasonably estimated
its income tax habilitics and recon erable fax assets. If new information becomes available. adjustments are charged or
credited against income at that tume. Management does not anticipate that such adjustments would have a material adverse
effect on the company s consolidated tinancial position or hquidity: however. it is possible that the final outcomes could
hav e a material umpact on the compan s reported results of operations.

In 2018, Linde completed its accounting and updated its provisional estimate related to the deemed repatriation of’
foreign earnings under the 2017 Tax Acr m accordance with Statt Accounting Bulletn Number 118 resultng in a net
reduction to income tax expense of 61 million (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements). A provision is made for
taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries and related companies to the extent that such earnings are not deemed
to be permanently reiny ested.

Contingencies

The company accrues habilities tor non-meome tax contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable
and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. while contingent gains are recognized only when realized. If new information
becomes available or losses are sustarned in excess of recorded amounts. adjustments are charged against income at that
time. Management does not anticipate that 1n the aggregate such losses would have a material adverse effect on the
company’s consolidated financial position or liguidity: however, it is possible that the final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company’s reported results of operations

Linde is subject to various claims, legal proceedings and government mvestigations that arise from time to time in the
ordinary course of business. These actions are based upon alleged environmental. tax, antitrust and personal injury claims.
among others (see Note 19 1o the consolidated financial statements). Such contingencies are significant and the accounting
requires considerable management judgments in analyzing each matter to assess the likely outcome and the need for
establishing appropriate liabilities and providing adequate disclosures. Linde beheves it records and-or discloses such
contingencies as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its liabilities.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning new accountmg standards and the
impact of the implementation of these standards on the company’s financial statements.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Linde does not expect changes in the aggregate fair value of its financial assets and liabilities to have a matenial impact
on the consolidated financial statements. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.



NON-GAAP FINANCI4L MEASURES

The follow ing non-GAATP measures are intended to supplement investors” understanding of the company’s tinancial
information by providing measures which mvestors. financial analysts and management use to help evaluate the company’s
financial leverage and operating performance. Special items which the company does not beheve to be indicative of on-going
business performance are excluded from these calculations so that investors can better evaluate and analvze historical and
future business trends on a consistent basis. Definitions of these non-GAAP measures mav not be comparable to similar
definitions used by other companies and are not a substitute for simlar GAAP measures.

The non-GAAP measures in the following reconcthiations are presented in the Selected Financial Data (ltem 6) or this

MD&A.

Adjusted Amounts

Ceriain amounts for 2018, 2017. 2016, 2015 and 2014 have been mcluded for reference purposes and 1o facilitate the
purp

calculanons contained heremn.

tDollar amownrs it millions, exeept per share datai

Y ear Ended December 31,

Adjusted Operating Profit and Margin
Reported operating profit
I sy Net gawn on sale of businesses
Add Transaction costs and other charges
Add Purchase accountimg unpacts — Linde AG
Add Venezuela currency devaluation
Add Cost reducton piogram
T ol adjusunents
Adjusted operating protit
Reparted percent chunge
Adjusted pereent change
Reported siles
Reported operating margin
Adjusted operating margin
HAdfjusted Net pension and OPEB cost (henefit),
excluding service cost
Reported net pension and OPLB cost tbenetii).
excludimng service cost
Less Pension settlement charge
Adjusted net pension and OPEB cost (benefit),
excluding service cost
Adjusted Interest Expense — Vet
Reported mterest expense
L ess. Bond redemption

Add Purchase accounting impavts - Linde AG

Adiusted interest expense — net

2018 2017 2616 2015 2014
i 5247 S 2444 S 2247 $ 25370 5 2644
13.294) - ,
304 R - - —
714 - -- -
— — —- — 131
_ _ TS 16X
12270 2 96 163 13¢
5 297 5 2496 S 2343 S 2335 s 0 2775
I{SA:” 8] nl_‘ (S}OO (I”}Ur\ ('\}ll'
1y oy, Ty (810 (Y0, Doy,
S 148900 % PE437 & 10534 S 10776 12273
A2V 2147 21 3% 22.0m, 21A0,
2 vy 2R % 22000, 2350, 2260,
~ hs ¢ v ) i
{14) ()] (+) (7) (7
S R 6y % 5 $ 42 g 29
202 161 190 161 213
1269 — 116 — {36)
21 — — - -
S 197 S 161 S 174 S 161 A 177




(D ollar areonirs i mitlions. excepr per shave daral

Y ear Ended December 31, 2018 7 2016 2015 MIJIR
Adjusted Income Taxes and Effective Tax Rate
Reported income taxes S S17 $ 1026 ) 551 5 612 $ 691
Add Bond redemption 6 — 6 — 14
Add: Pension settlement charge 3 1 1 2 2
Add. Costreduction program — - 28 39 —
Less Tax Act 61 1594) — — —
Add. Transaction costs and other charges 3 4 — — —
Less. Net gain o5 sale of businesses {(371) — — — —
Add: Other tax charge {44) — — — —
Add. Purchase accounting impacts — Linde AG 193 — — — —
Total adjustments (151 (389) 35 41 16
Adjusted mcome 1axes S 666 $ 637 $ 586 hS 633 $ 707
Reported mcome before meome twhes and equiny
v estiments $ 5049 L 2287 S 2.048 2100 $ 2,395
Add Bond redemption 26 — 16 —- 36
Add Pension settlement charge 14 2 4 7 7
Add Venezuela currency devaluation — — — 131
Add Cost reduction program — — Edy] |65 —
Add Transaction costs and other charges 209 52 - — .
Less. Net gain on sale of busmesses 13.204) — - — —_
Add Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 603 - - —- -
Total adjustiments (2,252 34 e 172 174
Adpusted meome betore meomie taves and equuty
I estnients $ 2797 £ 254 $ 0 2164 % 2332 S 2569
Reported ettective tas tate 162 449, 264 % 2R3, 289
Adjusted effective tas rate 2380 T, 271 RO, 27 S
Adjusted Noncomrolling [nrerests from Continuing
Operations
Reported noncontrolling mterests fram continuing
operations % 115y S (6] ) (38) hY (44 & {5
Add Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG (39) —- — — —-
Loss Cost reduction program i — (5 i1 -
Total adjustments (58) - 15) (1 —
Adjusted noncontrothng 1merests from contimang
aperations b (73 S 6ly % 43y § 435 5 (52
Adjusted Income from Continuing Operations
Reported income from contimuing operations § 4273 § 1247 § 1.500 S 1547 $ 1.694
Add: Bond redemption 20 e ) — 22
Add Pension settlement ¢harge 11 | 3 5 s
Add Venezueld currency devaluation — — — — 131
Add. Cost reduction program 1 — 63 123 —
Less Net gaim on sale of busimesses (2,923 — — — —
Add Otherias charges 44 — — — —
Add Tax Act (61) 394 — — —
Add Transaction costs and other charges 30s 48 — —_ -—
Add' Purchase accounting impacts — Linde AG 451 — — - —
Total adjustiments (2.152) 443 7 130 158
Adjusted income from contmuimng operations § 202 5 1.650 ¥ 1576 § 1.677 § 1.852
Reported percent change 2339, (17 (3% 9 13)%
Adjusted percent change 26 % T (61" (9% SV,



tDoltar amounts in millions. excepr per share data)
Year Ended December 31,

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing
Operations

Reported diuted earn
operations

gs per share from conumuing

Add. Bond redempuon

Add Penston settlement charge

Add Venezuela currency devaluanon

Add. Cost reduction prograin

Add. Tax Act

Add Transaction costs and other charges

Add: Net gain on sale of businesses

Less Other tan charges

Less: Purcliise avcountmy wmpacts — Linde AG
Tota) adjustments

Adjusted diluted catnimgs per share fom contiuing

opelations
Reported pereent chinge

Adiisied percent change
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EBITD A, Adjusted EBITD-A. EBITD A Margin, and Adjusted EBITD.4 Margin

These measures are used by investors. financial analvsts and management 1o assess a compuny’s profitability,

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31. 2018 2017 2016 20158 2014
Reported income from continuing operations $ 4273 $1247 § 1500 % 1.5347 % 1,694
Add: noncontrolling interest {from continuing operations 15 6l 38 44 52
Add: interest expense — net 202 161 190 161 213
Add: net pension and OPEB cost (benefit). excluding service cost 4) 4 9 49 36
Add: income taxes 817 1.026 551 612 691
Add; depreciaton and amortization 1.830 1.184 1,122 1,106 1,170
EBITDA $ 7133 % 3675 § 3410 § 3519 § 3,856
Adjustments.

Add: Cost reduction program and other charges, net b — % - % 96 % 165 % —
Add: Venezuela currency devaluation — — e _ 13]
Add: Transaction costs and other charges 09 ]2 - _ o
Add: Net gain on sale of busmesses (3.294, — - _ -
Add: Purchase accounting impacts —- Linde AG 368 - — - __
Adjusted EBITDA § 1516 83727 %3506 $ 3.684 $ 3987
Reported Sales $14.900  $11437  $10534 0 $10.776 $12.273
EBITDA Margin 47 9%, 32 e 2249 3270 L) B
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 30 3¢, EREE 33 3%, 3429, 3259,




ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Linde 15 evposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates. The objective of
financial rsk management at Linde 15 to nunimize the negaun e impact of mterest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations
on the company’s earnings. cash flows and equity.

To manage these risks. Linde uses various derivatis e financial instruments. including interest-rate swaps. treasurny rate
locks. currency swaps, forward contracts, and commodity contracts. Linde only uses commonly traded and non-leveraged
mstrumenis. These contracts are entered into primarily with major banking institutions thereby mmimzing the risk of credit
loss. Also. see Notes 2 and [4 1o the consolidated financial statements for a more complete deseription of Linde’< accounting
policies and use of such instruments

The following discussion presents the sensitivity of the market value, earmings and cash flows of Linde '~ financial
mstruments o hyvpothetical changes in interest and exchange rates assuming these changes occurred at December 31, 2018
The range of changes chosen for these discussions reflects Linde’s view of changes which are reasonably possible over a
one-year period. Market values represent the present values of projected future cash Hows based on interest rate and
exchange rate assumptions

Irterest Rate Rish

At December 31, 2018, Linde had debt totaling $15.296 miilion ($9.000 million at December 31, 2017) For fived-rate
struments. mterest rate changes affect the fan market value but do not impact carnimgs of cash flows Conversely. for
floating-rate instruments. mterest rate changes generally do not aftect the tan market value of the mstrument but nipact
tutre canmings and cash flow s, assuming that other factors are held constant A1 December 31, 2018 imeludmy the mmpact of
dernauves Linde had fixed-rate debt of $12.565 mullion and floating-rate debt of $2.731 mulbon. 1epresenting 82V and 18% .,
tespectively. of toral debt At December 31, 2017, Linde had fined-rate debt ot 5255 mullion and floatmg-rate debt of

5747 nuthon, representing Y2% and 8. respectnely, ot total debt
Foved Rare Debi

fn order 1o mitigate mterest rate rish. when considerad approptiate interest-rate sswaps are entered mto as hedges ot
underly ing financial mstruments to effectively change the characteristics of the mterest rate without actually changing the
underty mg financial instrument At December 31, 2013, Linde had tised-to-tloating interest rate swaps outstandmg that were
designated as hedgimg mstruments of the under!s ing debt ssuances — refer o Note 14 1o the consolidated financial statements
for additronal information This sensitiv ity analyvsis assumes that. holding ali other vanabies constant (such as foreign
exchange rates. swaps and debt levels). a one-percentage-point incrcase m nterest rates would decrease the untealized lan
marhket value of the fixed-rate debt ponfolio by approvimately $594 milhon (3450 mallion i 2007)0 A 100 basik poun
increase 1 nterest rates would result o an approsimate $92 malhion merease 1o dernatinve assets recorded.

Vartable Raic 1ebi

At December 31, 2018, the after-tan earmings and cash flows impact of g one-pereentage potit icrease 1n mlerest rites.
including the offsetting impact of dernatives. on the variable-rate debt porttolio would be approvimateh 24 nmualhon At
December 31. 2017 the impact of @ one-percentage point increase was $6 mithon. holding all other varables constant

Faoreign Currency Rish

Linde’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its investments and ongomg operations in South America
(primardy Brazil. Argentina. Chile and Colombia), Europe iprimarils Germany. Scandinavia. and the L nited Kingdom),
Canada. Mesico. Asia Pacific (primanly Austraha. China, India. and Koreay and other busimess transactions such as the
procurement of equipment from foreign sources. Linde frequently utilizes curreney contracts to hedpe these exposures A
Pecember 21, 2018, Linde had a notional amount outstandmg of $9.412 milhon ¢32.693 nulhon at December 31,2007
related to forergn exchange contracts The majority of these were to hedge recorded balance sheet exposures. primarily
mtercompany loans denominated in non-functional currencies See Note 14 1o the consohidated tfinancial statements

Holding all ather varables constant. f there were a 144 adverse change m toreign-currency exchange ates for the
porttolio. the fair market value of foreign-corrency contracts outstanding at December 2102018 and 2017 would decrease by
approvimately $307 mithon and $174 mulbion, respectivels. which would be largels ottset by an offsetting gain on the
forergn-currency fluctnation of the underiving exposure bemy hedged
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MANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linde s consolidated financial statements are prepared by management. which is responsible for their fauness. integrity
and objectivity. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America applied on a consistent basis. except for accounting changes as disclosed.
and mclude amounts that are estimates and judgments Ail historical financial informarion in this annual report 1s consistent
with the accompanving financial statements

Linde mamtains accounting s stems. including internal accounting controts, momtored bv a staff of internal auditors.
that are designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial records and the protection of assets. The
concept of reasonable assurance 1s based on recognition that the cost of a system should not exceed the related benefits. The
effectiveness of those svstems depends primarily upon the careful selection of financial and other managers. clear delegation
of authority and assignment of accountability. mculcation of lnigh business ethics and conflict-of-imterest standards. policies
and procedures for coordmatng the management of corporate resources. and the leadership and commitment of top
management In compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Linde assessed its internal control o er
financial reporting and 1ssued a report {see below).

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. an independent registered pubhic accounting firm, has completed an audit of Linde s
2018 2017 and 2016 consohdated financial statements and of its mternal control over financial reporting as of December 3 1,
2018 m accordance with the standards of the Public Compansy Accounting Oversight Board United States) as stated in their
report

the Audit Commutiee of the Board of Directors. which consists solely of non-emplovee directors. 1s respan-ibie for
oversecing the functiomng of the accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual tinancial statements.
The Audn Comnuttee periodrcally meets with management, internal auditors and the independent accountants to review and
evafuate ther aceounting, audining and finaneal reportimg actinv tties and responsibilities. ncluding management’s assessment
ot internal control over financial reporting. The mdependent registered public accounung finm and internal auditors have full
and free access to the Audn Commutree and meet with the commisttee. with and without management present

VAN TGEMENT S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OUVER FINANCIIL REPORTING

Iinde’s management 15 responsible for estabhishing and mamtaming adequate internal control ovet tinaneial reporting.
as such term 1~ defined m Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(1) Under the supersision and wuth the participation of management.
including the company s principal executis e efficer and principal financial officer. the company conducted an evaluation of
the eftectivenass of 1t mtemal control oner fmangial reporting based on the framework in fnternal Conmrol  Integraied
Frameworh (2013 1ssued by the C ommuttee of Sponsoring Organizations ot the Treadway € ommussion {often reterred to as
€ OSON. Based on thi~ eyvaluation. management concluded that the company s iternal control over tinancial reporting was
cifective as of December 31, 2018,

Lade '~ evaluation of internal contral over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 did not mclude the internal
control over financial reporting related 1o Linde AG because the busmess was acquired m o merget accounted for as a
busmess combimation consummated durmg 2018 Total assets and sales for Linde AG represent approsimateiy 26 4% and
19.3%0, respectivels. of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the vear ended December 31, 2018

PricewaterhiouseC oopers LLP. an independent registered public accounting firm. has audited and issued thewr opinron
on the effectnveness of the company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 as stated in their
report,

s SieprinN b OANGEL s, KrLcey E_Hov
Stephen T, angel Kelees E. Host
C hief Cayecutive Officer Chiel Accounting Officer

s MaTTHEW ) WinTr

Marthew 1. W hate NMarch 18,2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Linde ple
Opinions on the Financial Starements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

W e have audrted the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Linde ple and its subsidiaries (the “Company ™"y
as of December 31. 2018 and 2017. and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive mcome. equitv and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31. 2018, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consclidated financial statements™). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2018. based on criteria established in nternal Conirol — Iniegrated Frameywork (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {(COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all material respects. the
financial position of the Company as of December 31. 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years n the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
1n the United States of America. Also i our opinion. the Company maintained. in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established o Internal Control — Integrared
Framework (20131 1ssued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company 's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. for maintaining effectiv e
ternal contral over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included m the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibiiity 15 to express opimions on the Company's consolidated financial statements and on the Company s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company 1n
accordance wath the U'S federal securiies laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commussion and the PCAOB

We conducted our audits m accerdance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standaids require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial stitements are free ot material
nmuisstatement. whether due to error or fraud. and whether effective internal controt over financial reporting was maintained 1n
all material respects,

Our audits of the consohdated fipanciat starements included performing procedures to assess the risks of matenal
misstatement of the consohdated financial statements. whether due (o error or fraud. and performing procedures that respond
10 those risks Such procedures metuded examining. on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures n the
consolidated financial statements. Qur audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and signiticant
extimates made by management. as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financiai statements. Qur
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of ternal control over financial
reporting. assessing the rish that a material weakness exists. and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances, We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. management has excluded
Linde Aktiengesellschaft (*Linde AG™) from 1its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2018 because the business was acquired in a merger accounted for as a business combination consummated during 2018, We
hav e also excluded Linde AG frem our audit of mternal control over financial reporting Linde AG is a subsidiary whose
total assets and total sales exctuded from management’s assessment and our audit of internat control aver financial reporting
represent 26.4%, and 19.3%. respectn ely. of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended
December 31. 2018.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control ever Financial Reporting

A company s internal control over financial reposting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staternents lor external purposes 1o accordanc e
with generally accepted accounting principles A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that {1} pertain to the maintenance of records that. in reasonable detail. accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company. (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the cormnpany: and (nir provide reasonabie assurance regarding prevenuon or umely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, ot disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations. internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also. projections of any ovaluation of effectis eness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may becone
inadequate because of changes m conditions. or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford., Connecticut
March 18,2019

We bave served as the Company s or sts predecessor auditor since [992
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

TINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Dolfar amounts in millions, except per sharve duta)

Year Ended December 31.

Sales
Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Selling. general and adminstrative

Depreciation and amortization

Research and development

Transaction costs and other charges

Net gam on sale of businesses

Other tncome {expenses} - net

Operating Profit

Interest expense — net

Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost

Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Equity
Investments

Income taxes o1 continuing operations

Income ¥From Continuing Operations Before Equity Investments
Income flom equity mvestments

Income From Continuing Operations (Including Noncontrolling Interests)
Income trom discontinued operations. net of tax

Net Income (Including Noncontroiling Interests)

Less. noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

Less. noncontrolling mterests from discontimued operations

Net Income — Linde plc

el Income — Linde ple

Income tiom cotinuing operations

Income (rom discontinued operations

Per Share Data — Linde ple Shareholders

Basic earnings per share from continumng operations

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations

Basic earnmings per share

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

Dilated earnings per share

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000°s):
Basic shares outstandmy
Diluted shares outstanding

2018 2017 2016

by 14,900 § 11437 % 10.534
9,084 6.461 5.855

1.629 1.207 1.145

1,830 1.184 1.122

113 93 92

309 52 Q6

3204 —_—

1R 4 23

5247 2444 2.247

202 161 120

4 (41 9

5,049 2.087 2.048

817 1.026 551

4.232 1.26] 1.497

36 47 41

4288 1208 1.53%

117 o

4405 ISRIITN P.53%
(15 (1) (3%)

(()J _ —

Ay 4381 % 1247 % 1.500
$ 4273 % 124708 1.5040)
b TON - % —
$ 1293 % 136 % 5.23
033 —

$ 13.26  § 436 % 5.25
$ 1279 § 432§ 5.21
0.32 — —

S 1311 % 432 5 521
330.401 286.261 285,677
334,127 289.114 2R7.757

The accompanying Notes are an wotegral part of these financiat statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

{(Dollar amounts in millions)

Y ear Ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016

NET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) $ 4405 % 1.308 3§ 1.53&

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translation adjustments.

Foreign currency translation adjustments (401) 433 116

Reclassifications to net income (Note 4) 318 _— —

Income taxes 7 92 (48)
Translation adjustments (76) 525 68

Funded status - retirement obligations (Note 181

Retirement program remeasuremments (260 (30 1163y
Reclassificatons to net income 94 55 60
Income taxes (55) (5 27

Funded status - retirement obligations (224 11 {76

Dernatine struments (Note 14

Current vear unrcahized gain (loss} - - 1
Reclassifications to net income (1) — (1)

Income 1axes - _

Deriy ative mstruments {hH - -

Securities (Note 9y
Current year wneabized rain (lossy (1) - .
Reclassifications to net income _ - _

Income tanes —— — .

securities (1 - .
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (299) 530 (&)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING

INTERESTS) 4.106 1.834 1.530
Loss: noncontrolling interests {83) (95) {34
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC $ 4023 % 1,749 & 1496

The accompanyimg Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



December 31,

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable — net
Contract assets
Inventories
Assets held for sale
Prepand and other current assets
Toral Current Assets
Property. plant and equipment — net
Equity investments
Goodwill
Other intangible assets — net
Other long-term assets
Toral Axsers
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable
Short-term debt
Current portion of long-term debn
Cuntiact habilities
Accrued tases
Liabilities of assets held for sale
Other current hiabtlities
Toral Current Liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term Labilities
Deferred credits

Total Liabtlitiox

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)

Redeemable noncontrolling interests
Linde plc Shareholders™ Equity:

Ordinary shares (2018: €0.001 par value, authorized 1.750,000.000 shares, issued
551.310,272 ordinary shares: 2017. and Common stock $0.01 par value, authorized

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in millions)

R00.000.000 shares. issued 383,230,625 shares)

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Treasury stock. at cost (2018 - 4,068,642 shares and

2017 - 96,453.634 shares)

Total Linde plc Shareholders™ Equity

Noncontrolling interests
Totul Equity
Total Liabilities and Equitv

The accompanying Notes are an wntegral part of these financial statements.
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2018 2017

$ 4466 $ 617
4.297 1.710
283 _—
1.651 oi4
5498 —
1,077 344
17.272 3,285
29717 1E. 825
1.838 727
26,874 3.233
16,223 785
1,462 5%l
$ 93386 % 20,4306
b 3219 s Q22
1485 238
1.523 979

1. 546
6s7 242

768
3,758 926
12,956 3.307
12.2K8 7783
3A35 1.588
.00l 1.236
26.200 [3.914
1o 11
1 4
40.151 4.084
16.529 12.224
(4.456) 14.09%)
(629) (7.196)
51.596 6.018
5.484 493
57.080 6.511
h) 93,386 % 20.436




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Millions of dolfars)

Year Cnded December 31, 2018 2057 2016
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivadents
Operations
Net ineome — Linde plc & 4381 S P27 8 1500
Less income frem disconnnued operations net of tax and noncontrolling 1mierests {108 — -_
Add Nencontrolhng psterests from conumnuing operations N 0] &
Income from ¢onunuing operatens ancludmg noncontrolling interest<) N 4.28% % PRI} [.538
Admwstments Lo reconctle net mcome to net cash provided by operating actis tties
Transacuon costs and other charges. net of pavments 40 26 83
Ao bzation of metger-related iy enen step-up klst — —
Fas Act mconie tay charge net i) 204 —
Depreciation and amort zabon 1.830 I 154 1122
Dejened moeme taves. excluding Tav Act 18T |36 (13,
Share-bused conpensation 6 4 34
Aot o on Sl of busimesses net ol s S - -
Reuti-cusb charges and other 175 43 [ R
Woothing capitad
Neontlints Toeeen able 124 a2y AR
Inventors -4 122 ]
Prepind ood other curtent assos A (AN 6
Pavables and aecruals e 2z z
Pensnor cantbunons |87 1149} (11
b one-teme ascts hatbines and oties 153 i oz
Letsl Pron dod B aperatine ao i e BT 3 0d 2N
Investng
Caprtab expenditan o tIRNG) (1,371 t] 465,
Avduinbnms T ol vastacgired (25 (313 RGRE
Drcestituies and asaotl selos net ol oo devested S0 At SN
Cumh acguired i marger anegcon b3 -
et cush o ded beocnsed for s cstine acivities 5 A6 (314 (1.77tn
Financing
Stort-ternn doehe horrow g crepay micims et 208 RN i
Long-term dety horrow e N Bl R
Long-term dahn opesment- R E Y] L (7T
Festiane e o orchimams shanes - 120 134
Prrchuasos ot ondimars shues [N 1 122
Cosbidindonmds  Linde pla Jateholdors 1] Phoy {0 (NS,
Noncontrolling meerest tansactions and otle (JuZy tu2) (71
Nt castased 1or fnanaing acos stes (4 99 [REGREY 1H30)y
Discontinaed Operations
Cash provided by operanng act sties b 48 s — s —
Cash used for mnvesting activaties 123 - -—
Cash proviged by finanang actm ihies 2 — - —
Netaash provided by disconnnied operations h — —
Fiten of vualimys nale change s oiecosfiand cash eguivadents {0l 22 1~
Clianue 1ocash and cash equnalents R R El
Cash and cosh equit wtents begmnug-ol-petid ol” A4 14~
Cashiatad cash egqus adents incindimy discontmued operanons N 4603 N nlTos 824
Cashand cash eqany dents o discontinued operations R ERN - —
Cashand casb cgquivadents ond-ot-petiog S 4N YRR sy
Supplemcental Data
Income teves pand ~ TR fnkoon NS
Interest pand net of Cap abized merest N ow oy s 214~ it s (]

The aceampanying Notes are an mtegeal part of these financial starements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1. FORMATION OF LINDE PLC AND BUSINESS COMBINATION OF PRAXAIR. INC. AND LINDE AG
Formation of Linde pic

Linde plc (“Linde™ or “the company™), a public limited company incorporated n Ireland. was formed in accordance
with the requirements of the business combinaticn agreement. dated as of June 1, 20]7. as amended (the “business
combination agreement” . Pursuant 1o the busmess combination agreement, among other things, Praxair. Inc ., a Delaware
corporation (“Praxair”) and Linde Aktiengesellschaft, a stock corporation incorporated under the laws of Germany (“Linde
AG™), agreed to combine their respective businesses through an ali-stock transaction. and become subsidiaries of the
company (collectively referred to as “business combination™ or “merger”™) On October 31, 2018, Linde plc completed the
business combination. Prior to the business combination, the company did not conduct any business activities other than
those required for its formation and matters contemplated by the business combination agreement.

Business Combination of Praxair, Inc, and Linde AG

The busmess combination as been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the
prosisiens of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC™) 805, “Busmess
Combmarions” . with Praxair representing the accounting acquirer Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act. as of
October 31. 2018, the company became the successor 1ssuer to Praxair Also. the Linde ple shares are deemed to be
registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act. and the company 1s subject to the informational requirements of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulatons promulgated thereunder The Linde shares trade on the New Y ork Stock
Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol "LIN™. Prior to the busingss combination, the Praxair
shares were registered pursuant 1o Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and hsted on the NYSE. In connection with the
completton of the business combinatjon. the Praxair shares were suspended from trading on the NYSE as of close of business
(New York Time) on October 30 2018 On November | 2018, Praxair filed a Form 25 to delist and deregister its three series
of Furo-denominated notes. mncluding iy 1 30% 0 Notes due 2020, 20", Notes due 2024 and 1 625% Notes due 2025 that
were listed on the NYSE Tradig of'the Euro-denaminated notes on the NYSE wax suspended as of close of busiess {New
York Time) on November 9, 2018, and Praxarr filed a Form 15 wath the SEC iermimnating the registraton under the Exchange
Act of it securrties and suspending Praxair’s reportimg obligations under Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act

In connection with the business combmauon. the company. Praxai and Linde AG entered into various agreements with
regulatory authorities to satisiy anti-trust requirements o secure approval to consummate the business combination. These
agreements included the sale of the majority of Praxair™s European businesses (subsequently completed on December 3,
201&). the majortty of Linde AG™s Amenica’s business tsubsequently completed on March 1. 2019). as well as certain
divestitures of other Prasair and Finde AG businesses m Asia that are expected to be sold m 2019 (collectiv elv. the "merger-
retated Jdis estitures 7). See Note 4 for addiional information relating te merger-related divestitures

To obtam merger approval in the United States. Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the U S,
Federal I'rade Commission dated Oectober 1, 2018 (“hold separate order™ or “"HS07). Under the HSO. the company. Praxair
and Linde AG agreed to (1) continug to operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent. ongoing, economically viable,
competitive businesses held separate, distinct. and apart from each other’s operations; (ii) not coordinate any aspect of the
operations of Linde AG and Praxair. including the marketing or sale of any products: and (iii} mantain separate financial
Jedgers. books. and records that repart on a periodic basis. consistent with past practices. the assets, liabilities. expenses,
revenues. and mecome of each. until certain divestitures in the United States have been completed. The restrictions under the
hotd separate order were lifted March 1. 2019, concurrent with the sale of the required merger-related di estitures in the
L nited States.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements were prepared 1n conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (™ U.S. GAAP™) and include the accounts of all significant
subsidhartes where control exists and. in limited situations. 1 ariable-interest entities where the company 15 the pnimary
beneficiary. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in conselidation and any significant related-party
transactuons have been disclosed.

Equity investments generally consist of 20% to 50%0 owned operations where the company exercises significant
influence. but does not have control. Equity income from equity inyestinents m corporations is reported on an after-tax basis.
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Pre-tax income from equity ms estimients that are pannerstups or hmuted-habitiny corpoanons ("LLC 11 meluded in other
meome {expenses) — net with related taves mcluded in Income taxes. Equity investments are reviewed for impatrment
whenever events or cineumnstances reflect that an umpawment loss may have incutred Operanons less than 20" ownad,
where the company does not exercise signuficant miluence. are generally carmed at cost

Changes in ownership mterest that result either in consolidation or deconsolidation of an nvestment are recorded at
fair value through earnings mcluding the retaned ownership interest. while changes that do not result in either consohidation
or deconsolidation of & subsidiary are treated as equity wansactions.

Use af Estimates — The prepaianon of Nnanciul stdements m conformury with LS GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilines at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounis of revenues and expenses during the
reporting pertod While actual results could ditfer. management believes such esnmates to be reasonable

Operations — Linde 15 the largest indusirial gases company worldwide The compamy produces. ells and distributes
atmospheric. process and speciulty gases and hmigh-performance surface coatings to u diverse group of mdustries including
aerospace, chemicals. fond and beverage. electronies cnergy  healtheare. munutactuning, and metals Linde™s Engineerning
Division offers t1s customers an extensne range of gas production and processimg serwees meluding supphng plant
compoenents and services directly o customets

Revenue Recognition — | ftecun e lanuars 1 2018 Linde adopted the [ ASB < Accounung Standards Update
No 2014-04 (" ASC 6067 relating to Revenue Recogninon. Revenue 1s recogmzed as control of goods or services are
transterted to customers m an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects 1o be entitled to recene
exchange tor the goods or services Refier 1 foatnote 21 tor sddittonal Jdetads regarding Linde tevenue tecogmtion
policies Prior to adopiion ol ASC 666 1oyvenue was recognized when a finm sates gygreement exists, cotlectabilinn of a fised
of determinable sales price i~ teasonably assured and when ttde and rishs of ewnership transter to the customer for product
sales oro 1 the vase ol other 1oy enaes whep oblizations are satistied or services are pertormed  The adeption of ASC 606
resulted i nedifterences e enae recogmiion compared 1o presions pohicies

Cash Eguivalents - C b egunalents ate consdered o he highhy gud secutimes with anamal maturities of three
menths ar foss

ge-

fivenrories  ipventonios wre stated at the Tower of contor net realizable value Costis deternined avmye the avera
cost method

Property, Plant and Eguipment — Vet - Property plant and equipment are carnied at cost net of accamulated
depreciation. The company capitaiizes mietest as part of the cost of constructing major facilities tsee Note 101 Pepreciation
i~ caleulated on the stright-line method based on the estimated wseful Trves of the assets which range from 3 vears to 460
yvedls (see Note 103 Linde uses acceierated deprecranoen methods for tay purposes where appropriate Mamienance ot
properiy. plant and cquipment i~ generaliy oxpensed as mewrred

The company pertorms & test for impartment whenever events or changes m cncumstances indicate that the caurvmg
anount of an individual asset or asset group My 1ot be recoverable Should prajected undiscounted faeture cash ows be fess
than the carry ing amount of the asset or asset group, an impairment charge reducing the carryimg amount to fmrvalue 1s
required. Fas vabue s deternmined bascd on the most appropriate valuation technique, including discounted cash flows

Asser-Retirement Obligations — An gsset-reurement obligation 1s recognized in the period m which sufficient
informanon cxists to deternunea the tar value of the habadiiy with a cotresponding ncrease to the carry ing amount of the
related properny. plant and equipment whicli is then deprecrated over ns useful Iife The Habiliny s minallh measured at
discounted fair value and then aceretion expense 1s recorded in cach subseguent period. The campany "~ asset-retirement
obhgations are primaridy sssociged with 1~ on-site Tong-termi supply arrangements wiere the compamy has bulc a tacility on
land leased from the customer and s obligated to remove the taabity at the end ot thie contract term, The company '~ asset-
retirement abhigations are not material to 1t~ consohidated financial statements,

Foreign Currency Translation — Top most forergn operations. the Tocal curtency i~ the luncoenal currencey and
translaton muns and losses are reported as part ot the accumalated sther comprehensive income dossy compuengm ot equins
as a cumulatee translaten adsument (see Nue )

Financial Instramenrs — U inde enters it various dernvats e financial instiiuments o madage s ¢xposuie 1o
fluctuating interest rates. curtency exchange rates commodity pocing and energy cost~ Such mstruments primantly melude
mterest-1ate swap and treasur rate Jock agreements. curreney -swap agreements  torward coniracts, curreney options: and
commodine-swap agreements These mstruments are not entered mto dor trading purposes Linde only uses commonhy traded

and nen-leveraged aistrinments



There are thiee tvpes of dernvatives the company enters into (11 those relating to fair-value exposures. (1) those
telatmy to cash-flow exposures, and 11 those relating to foreign currencs net mvestment exposures. Farr-yvalue exposures
relate o recogmized assets or habihes, and tirm commitments cash-flow exposures relate o the varnabihts of funue cash
{low s associated with vecopnized assets o1 habilhities. or forecasted transactions: and net investment exposures relate 1o the

mpact of forergn curreney exchange 1ate changes on the carmying alue of net assets denominated 1in forelgn currencies

When a derivative 1s executed and hedge accounting 18 appropriate. 1t 13 designated as either a fair-s alue hedge. cash-
flow hedge. or a net mvestment hedge Currently, Linde designates all mterest-rate and treasury rate locks as hedges for
accounting purposes. however. currenes contracts are generally not dewignated as hedges for accounung purposes unless thev
are related to forecasted transactions W hether designated as hiedges for accounting purposes or net. all derivatives are linked
to an appropriate undetly ing exposute On an ongoing basis. the company assesses the hedge effectiveness of afl derivatin es
designated as hedges tor accounting purposes to determune if they continue to be highly etfeciive in offsetting changes m farr
values or cash flows of the undetlving hedged 1tems. I it is determined that the hedge 15 not highly effective. then hedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectivels

Changes m the far value of dernatiny es designated as fair-y alue hedges are recognized in earmings as an offset te the
change 1 the fan values of the underiving exposures being hedged The changes in fair vajue of deriy atives that are
destgnated as cash-tflon hedges are deterred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are reclassitied to
carnings as the underlving hedged transaction affects earnings Any metfectuveness is recoginized i earnings immediatels
Hedges of net imvesiments i foretgn subsidhanies are recognized in the cumulanive ranslation adjustment component of
accumulated other comprehensive meome (lossy on the consolidated balance sheets to oftset translation gams and losses
associated with the hedged net imvestment Dernvatives thar are entered mto for rish-management purposes and are not
designated as hedges {primanty related to anticipated net income and curreney dernvatin es other than tor firm comnutments)
are recorded at then far market values and 1ecognized i current carnings.

See Note 14 for additona! intonmation relating to Ninancial instruments

Goodwill  Acquisitions are accounted 101 using the acquisiton methad wlhich requires alfocation of the purchase price
10 assels acquined and habihties assuiied based on estimated fan values Am excess ot the purchase price over the far value
of the assets und habilimes acguired 1 recorded as goodwiil Allocations ot the puichase price are bused on preliminar
estrmates and assumptions at the date o aequisttion wid are subject o revisien based on final information received. inciuding
apprasals and other analy ses which support underly ing estimates

The company performis o goodw (] mmpanment test snnuatly in the second quartet or more frequently 1f events or
cirecumstanees mdicate that an imparement loss may have been meurred The apphicable guidance allows an entits 1o tirst
dasess quiditatn e factors to determime 1£11 1< more Tihely than not that the fan value of a reporting unit 18 fess than canving
value, I3 determined that 10s more Iikely than not that the fair value of a reporting umit 1 less than carrying value then
the company will estimate and compare the fan vabue ot 118 reportimg units to therr carrving value. including goodwalt
Reparting umts are deternuned based on one Tevel hefow the operating segment kevel. Ax appheable. tan value s determined
through the use ot projected future cash flows, multiples of earnings and sales and other factors Such analysis requires the
yse of cortam market assumprions and discount factors, which are subjectin e in nature

See Notes 2 and 11 for addimonal information refating to goodwill

Other Intangible 4ssets — Other mrangible assets. prnimarily customer relationships and brands/tradenames. are
amortized over the estimated period of benefit The deternimation of the estimated period of benefit will be dependent upon
the use and underiving characteristics of the intangible asset. Linde evaluates the recorverabilify of its intangibie assets
subject to amortization when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrving value of the asset may not be recoverable, 1f
the carrving value 1s not recoverable. impagment 1~ measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds irs
estunated far value Fair value s generally estimared based on either appraised value or other valuation techmigues
Indefinite Ined intangibie assets related to the Linde brand are evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more
frequently if events or circumstances indicute an impairment loss may have occurred

See Notes 3 and 12 for additional information relatng to other mtangible assets

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinned Operations — Assets held for sale. as well as habilities directly related 10 these
assets. are classified separately m the consolidated bafance sheets as held for sale if the requirements of the FASB's
Accounting Standards Codifteation (" ASC™) 360, Propern, Plunr and Equipment | are sausfied. The main requirements of
ASC 360 are’ (1) management having the autharity 1o approve the action has commutted to a plan to scil the assets and an
active program to locate a buver has been nutiated, (1) the assets are available for sale mn their present condition at a
reasonable market price. and (i) a sale within the nest maeby e months is probable Assets classified as held for sale are
medswed at the lower of carmy ing amount and fan yalue less costs to sell. Amortization and depreciation has been




discontinued. The process imohed in determinmng the tai value less (o518 o sell mnvalves estimate. And asawapuons that are
stibject o uncertamty .

Disconunued operations are reported as socn as a business s classified as held for sale. o1 has already beer disprsed

of. and when the business to be disposed of reprasents a stategic <hift that has (or will havera mayor etfect on e company s
operations and financial results Businesses acquired with the intent of divestng are also required 10 be reported as
discontinued operations The profit loss from discontinued operations is reported separately from the expenses and income
from continuing operations 10 the consolidated statements of meome In the consolhidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows from discontinued operations are shawn separatels from the cash flows from continuing operations The imformaton
provided in the Notes relates (o continumg operavons [t the informatior refates exclusn ey w discontimued opetations s

15 highhghted accordingly
See Note 4 for addigonal imformaton relatng ¢ assets held for sale and discontnued operations

ITucome Faxes — Deterred incomme 1axes are recorded for tie temporary ditferences betw cen the financial starement and
tan bases of assets and habilities using cutrentls enacted tas rates Valuauon allow ances are established agamnst deferred tas
assets wheneyer circumsiances indicate that 1t ts more hikels than not that such assets wili not be realized mn future periods

Lnder the guidance for accounting for uncetianty 11 meome tves, the compiny van récognize the benetit of an
meeme tay position only 1f 1t s more hkely than not cgreater than 30%.) that the s posinon waill be sustaned upon tas
examination. based solelv on rthe technical ments of the tax posinon Otheraise. no benetit can be recognized The ay
benetits recognized are measured based on the Jargest benefn that has o greater than 307 hkebihood of bemy ey

reed upon
uinmate settlement Addetionally . the company acerues iterest and related penalties, it appheuble on all tas exposines far
which reserves hive been estabhished consstent wath gjurisdictuonalt ey Tans, Interest and penales are hvsaitied as meome
Ly expense 1 the financial sratements

see Note 7 for addimonal imtormaton telating wooncome taves mcludmg the U'S Tas Cats and Jobs Aot enacied in
December 2017

Retirement Benefirs - Most Linde employ ees partieipate i ¢ tom, of detined bene Dt o contbbution retivemen: plan.
and addimonalty certanm employees are eligible 10 partiapate i vanons post-employment heafth care and hiic msurane
benetit plans The cost of contetbution plans = recagmized mthe vear carned wiile the cost ol othiet plans s recocmred o ey
the emplovees” expected servace pertad to the company. all m accordance with the apphoable accounting standads e
funded status ot the plans s recorded as an assei or habihies in the consoludated balance sheets Tunding of retirement
benefits varies and 1~ in accordance with focal laws and prachces

See Note 18 for additiomal mformation relatmy (o retirement programs

Share-based Compensation — The company has historicalby eranted share-based avwards which consist of stock
options. restricted stock and performance-based stock Share-based compensanon expense 15 menetalty recognized on o
stratehir-line basis aver the stated vesting pertod For stock awards granted to lull-retnemeni-chiible emplos ees
COMpensation expensg s recognized over the pened from the want date wo the date retnement ehigibiliny i< achweved o
performance-based awards. compensaton expense i~ recognized only 1010 s probable that the performance condition will he
achieved

See Note 17 for additional disclosures relating to share-based compensation

Reclassifications — Certain prior years” amounts hayve been reclassificd 1o conform te the curtent vear’s presentation.
inchudmyg rectassificanons on the consolidated statements of imcome and segment operating profit relatimg 1o the adoption of
accounting guidance on the presentation ot net periodic pension and postretirement henefir costs

As aresult of the merger. certam reclassifications of prior period amounis were made 1o 1mprove comparabilits and
vonform with the current presentation Presentanion changes were made to the consolidated balance ~hects I aadimon,
certan reclassifications of prior period data were made m the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ta confornm
with the current period presentation These reclassmifications mclude t4) the reclassificatnen of capitalized sottvare [1om
property plant and equipment — net to other itangibles — net (see Note 100, and i) the rechassification of VAT recen ables
and VAT pavables from accounts receisable and accounts pavable. respectively J 1o other current assets and other cunpen
habthities, respectively. (see Note Y)

Recently Ivsued Aeconnting Standards
Accounting Standards Implemented in 2018

The following standards were effective for Linde in 2008 and then adopuion did not have o sigmiticant impact o the
consahdated financial statements



Revenue Recognition — In Mav 2014 the Financial Accounting Standards Board ¢ FASB™) 1ssued updated
guidance on the reporting and disclosure of 1ev enue. Effectne January 1. 2018, Linde has adopred this
guidance usimy the modified revospeciive ransiton method. No material differences i res enue 1ecognition
accounting were identified under the new gwdance compated with the company “s historic rey enwe
recognition accounting (see Note 213

Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments - In August 2016, the FASB issued updated
guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and cash pay ments within the statemment of cash flows.
The update pronides accounting guidance for specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing
diversity mn practice The adaption of this guidance did not have a material unpact on the financial
statements

Intra-Entity Asset Transfers — ln October 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance for income tax
accounting of infra-entiny transfers of assets other than mventory  The update requires an entity to recognize
the income tax consequences of an mera-cntity trapsfer of an asset other than inventory in the period when
the transfer occurs. The adoption of this guidance did not have a matenal mpact on the financial statemenys,

Pension Costs — In March 2017, the FASB 1ssued updated guidance on the presentation of net perrodic
pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost The new guidance requures the service cost
component be reported in the same line 1tem or tems s other compensation costs ansing from gervices
rendered by employ ces durimg the peried  The other companents of net henefit cost are required to be
presented m the imcome statement separately from the senvice cost component and not mcluded withn
operating profit. This guidance was adopted w the first quarter 2618 Accordimgly. non-senice related
components of net pertedic penston and postreiirement benetit costs were reclassified out of “Operating
Profit™ ta “Net pension and OPLR cost thenefit), excluding service cost™ yaing the practical expedient to use
the amounts diselosed n the retirement benefits note for the priot comparativ e penieds as the estimation
basis for applving the retrospectin e presentation requitements fsee Note 18).

Reclassification of Certain Tay Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 10 Februan
2018, the T ASB ssued updated gwidance which allows a reclassiticaton trom accunmlated other
compiehensive moome o retaned carnings for stranded s ctfects reselung from the Tax Cuts and JTobs
Act. The company adopred this giidance m the fourth quarter of 2008 resalting 04 reclassitication
adjustment of $93 milhon

Accounting Standards 1o be Implemented

»

Leases - In Februan 2016, the FASB 1ssued updated guidance on the accounting and financial statement
presentation of lcases  The new guidance requires Jessces to recognize a tight-uf-use asset and lease Irabihn
for all leases. except those that mect certain scope exeeptions. and would require expanded quanntative and
qualitative disclosures This guidance will be eftective fot the company begmning in the first quarter 2019
and requires companies 1o trapsinon using a modified retrospective approach Linde has mmplemented a new
application to admimster the accounting and disclosure requirements and is finahzig 1ts determination of
the impact the standard will have on uts consolidated financial statements.

Credit Losses on Financial Instruments — In June 2016, the FASB 1ssued an update on the measurement
of ¢redit losses. The guidance mtroduces a new accounting model for expected credit losses on financial
imstruments. tncluding trade recervables. based on estimates of current expected credit losses. This guidance
wiH be effective tor the company beginning in the first quarter 2020, with early adoption permitted
begmning n the first quatter 2019 and requires compames to apphy the change in accounting on a
prospective basis. The company 18 currently evaluaung the impaet this update will have on the consolidated
financial statements

Simplifving the Test for Goodwill Impairment — In January 2047 the FASB 1ssued updated guidance on
the measurement of goodwill The new guidance ehminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair
value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. The guidance will be effective for the compan
beginning in the first quarter 2020 with early adoption pernutted. The company does not expect this
cuidance to have a material impact

Derivatives and Hedging — In August 2017, the FASB ssued updated guidance on accounting for hedging
activities The new guidance changes both the designation and measurement for qualifving hedging
relationships and the presenanon of hedge results This guidance will be effective for the company
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beginnimg m the first quarter 201%. The coampany does not expect the standard to have a material impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

W



NOTE 3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Merger of Praxuir. Ine, and Linde 4G

As described i Note |ooon October 31, 2018 Prasawr and Linde AG combned their respectin e businesses through an
ail-stock transaction and became subsidiaries of the compans

In connection wigh the business combmation. each share of common stock of Praxair par value $0.01 per share.
texcluding any shares held in weasury immediately prior wo the effective time of the merger, which were automatically
canceled and retired for no consideration) was converted into one ordinary share. par value €0.001 per share, of Linde ple.
Addonally. each tendered share of common stock of Linde AG was converted into 1.534 ordinary shares of Linde ple.

Asg provided in the business combination agreement. at the effective time of the business combination outstanding
Praxair stock options and other equity awards were generally converted into stock options and equity awards on a 1:1 basis
with respect o Linde shares Outstanding Linde AG share-based compensation awards were either settied in cash (for the
portion vested). or are required o be converted mto similar stock options and equity awards with respect to Linde shares ( for
the portion umested). after giving effect to the 1.54 exchange ratio This grant 15 expected to oceur in the first half of 201 9.
See Notes 16 and 17 for additional information

Prefiminary Allocation of Purchase Price

In accordunice with the FASB s ASC 805, ‘Busmiess Combunations . Praxan was determmed to be the accounting
avquner  As such. the company has applhied the acquisition method of accounting with respect to the wdenntiable assets and
habihues ot 1 inde AG, which have been measured at estimated fair value as of the date of the busmess combmation

In accordance with the business combmation agreement. Linde AG shareholders that accepted the exchange offer
recened Linde shares i exchange tor Linde AG shates st an exchange ratio of 1 54 Linde shares for each Linde AG share.
Because Praxair i~ the aecounung acquirer. the far vatue of the equity tssued by Lide ple to Linde AG shareholders m the
exchange transacton was deternuned by reference to the market price of Prasan shares Accordingls. the purchase
constderation below reflects the estmated fasr salae of the 9270 of Linde AG shares tendered and Linde shares issued in
exclunge tor those Emide AG shares. which 1« hased on the tinal closimg price of Prasan shares prior to the effective ume o
the merget on October 31, 2018 of $164 50 per share

The purchase price and estimated far vatue of 1 nde AGTs net assets acguired as of the merger date on Ocetober 31,
201 i~ presented as follows

e Hioreaineds e vafie pree e daten Frade T O o ralte i prsciase pricct

1inde AG common stock tendered as of October 21 2008 (1) 170,875 Shares
Busimess combimation agreement exchange ratio o 54 1
Linde ple ordinary shares issued i exchange tor Linde AG 263148
et share price of Prasgin. Ine commen stoch (111 g 164,50
Purchase price {nmlhons of doltars} h) 43 284
(1) Number of Linde AG shares tendered in the 2017 Exchange Offer.

(i) Fxchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set forth in the business combination agreement.

ti} Closing price of Praxair shares on the New York Stock Exchange prior to the effective time of the business

combiation an October 31, 2018,

In accordance with ASC 805, Linde AG s assets and liabilities were measured at estimated fair vaiues at October 31,
2018, primartly using Lavel 3 inputs except debr which was Level 1. Estimates of fair value represent management’s best
estimate of assumptions about future ey ents and uncertainties, including s1gnificant judgments related to future cash flows
(sales. costs. customer attrition rates. and contributory asset charges). discount rates. competitiv e trends. market comparablies.
and others. Inputs used were generally obtamed from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market
condinons and growth rates.

The following table summarizes the pretiminan allocation of purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilies assumed by Linde. with the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of Linde AG's net assets recorded as
goodwil}. Due to the timing of the business combination. the magnitude of and mult-national nature of the net assets
acquired. and the hold separate order (See Note 1) which deferred integration of the two merged compamies. at December 3 1.
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2018 the valuaton process to determine the falr values is not complete and further adjustments are expected in 2019 The
company has estimated the preliminary fawr value of net assets acquired based on information currently avallable and will
continue to adiust those estimates as additional mformation becomes avatlable. anzly sis 15 able to be performed. refinement
of marker partictpant assumptions. finahzation of @ax returns in the pre-merger pertod and the application of push-down
accounting at the subsidiary level. The areas where the fair value assessments are not finalized and. therefore. subject to
adjustment during the measurement period relate primarily to identifiable imangible assets, property. plant and equipmen.
net assets held for sate, equity Investments. meome taxes. noncontrolling mterests. contingencies and goodwill, As the
company finalizes the fair value of assets acquired and liabilittes assumed. additional purchase price allocation adjustmensis
will he recorded during the measurament period. but no later than one year from the date of the acquisition. The compan
will retlect measurement period adjustments in the period in which the adjusunents are deternunead

Therefore, final determmunation of the fair values will likely result in further adjustments 10 the values presented in the
followmg table:

Mty ot doflars Lstrmated T ai N atue
Assets
Cash and cash egun alents S 1.3h3
Accounts receivable  neal 2859
Iy entortes [ 432
Assets held for ~ale 5 1m0y
Prepard and other cuntent asscts 125
Property. plant and cquapment 193N
Faurty myesoments 1,30=
Croodwll 24146
Onher mtangihle assets 5502
iher long-term asseis I.6024
Torad Iasets dogtiesed i -4 64

Less: I iabilities Assamed

Accounts payable % 3360
Short-term debt 1.4=7
Current portion of fong-term debt |86
Accrued tases {50
Liabalities of assels held for sale 670
Other cunent habiliies RRAING
Long-term debn AC
Other Jong-term habihues IR
Deferred credits. inciuding deferred income tases f.754

Fotai Lighilirics Dssumed 5 25.209
E.ess: Noncontrolling Interests 3146
Purchase Price (i) 4 42 08K

(n See aboy e for the calculation of the purchase price
Swmmary of Significant Fair Value Methods

The methods used to determine the fan value of sgnificant identifiable assets and habihties included m the prelimman

atlocation of purchase price are discussed below
T cneoriies

Acquired imventors s compused of finished goods. work m proces< and raw matertals The tam value of finshed soods
wos waleulated as the estimated selling price. wdpusted for coss ol the selling offortand o reasonable proti afloaanee rebanimy



to the selling efforr. The farr value of work in process mventory was primarily caleulated as the estimated »elling price.
adjusted for estimated costs to complete the manutacturing. estimated costs of the selling effort, as well as a reasonable profit
margin on the remaining manufacturing and selling effort. The fair s alue of raw materials and supplies was determined based
on replacement cost which approximares historical carrving value. The prelimmary fair value step~up of 1 entories 18 being
recognized m “Cost of sales™ as the inventory is sold.

Assers held for sale and Liabilities of assets held for sale

As described in Note 1. as a condition of the European Commission (“EC™), the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ™"),
and other gos ernmental regulatory authorities approval of the merger. Linde pic. Praxair and Linde AG were required to
divest various busmesses in Furope, the Americas and Asia. The fair value of these businesses has been determuned based on
the estimated net selling prices or sales agreements. Actual amounts may differ from this preliminary determination See
Note 4 for further information on merger-related divestitures.

Properny. Planr and Equipment

The fair value of property. plant and equipment was primarily calculared usmg replacement costs adjusted fot the age
and condition of the asset. and is summarized below:

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E™) (1 millionsy

Production plants & bO.739
Storage tanks 1.809
Transportation equtpment and other 574
Cylinders 2.493
Buildings 1.970
Land and improyements 647
Construction in progress 1,149
Prebimumary fr value ot PP&L 4 19,381

The final fir value determunation for property. plant and equipment or estimaices of remamimg usetul fives may difter
from this preliminary determmation.

Identtiable Inrangrhle Aesery

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets 1s summatized below

Wesghted Average
Amortization Period

(in years) (i millionsy
Tdentifiable intangible assets
Customer relationships 27 S 12,555
Linde Brand Indefinite 1.6-48
Brands/Tradenames 27 578
Other intangibles 8 81t
Preliminary fair value of identifiable mtangible assets 26 $ 15,592

The fair value estimate for all other identifiable mtangible assets is hased on assumptions that market participants
would use n pricing an asset. based on the most advantageous market for the asset (1.e.. its highest and best use). The final
fair value determination for identifiable intangibles or estimates of remaining useful Iin es may differ materially from this
preliminary determination.

The fair value of the customer relationships intangible asset was valued using a multi-period excess earmngs method. a
form of the income approach. which incorporates the estimated future cash flows 1o be generated from Linde AG’s existing
customer base. Excess earnings are the earnings remaining after deducting the market rates of return on the estimated values
of contributory assets. inchitsing debt-<ree net working capital. tangible assets, and other identifiable intangible assets. The
excess earnings are thereby calculated for each year of multi-vear projection periods and discounted to present value.
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Brands Tradenames includes 81.648 muilion related to the Linde brand which 1s considered to have an indefinite life,
Other intangibles primarily includes acquired technology. These intangible assets were valued using the rebief from rovalty
method under the income approach: this method estimates the cost sayings generated by a company refated to the ownership
of an asset for which 1t would otherwise have had to pax royalties or license fees on res enues earned through the vse of the
asset and discounted to present yvalue

Pension and Other Pustretirement Liabilities

Linde recognized a pretax net liability representing the unfunded portion of Linde AG's defined-benefit pension and
other postretirement benefit (" OPEB™ plans, Refer to Note 1§ for further informauon on pensions and OPEB arrangenients .

Long-Terni Debi

The fair value for long-term debt was primarily obrained trom third party quotes. as the majority of the Linde AG bond
nortfolio 1s m]bhd}‘ traded.

JAiE) AR L P

Deterred income Tay Assets and Liakiliiies

The deferred income tax assets and liabihities include the expected future federal. state and forsign tax conscquences
associated with temparary differences between the prelimmary fanr yalues of the assets acquired und habilities assumed and
the respeciive tay bases Tax rates utihzed in caleulanng deferred ncome taxes generally represent the enacted statutory tux
rates at the effectin ¢ date of the merger 1n the jurnisdictions 1 which legal title of the underlyving assel or Lability revides The
fmal tarr value of deferred meome tax assets and habilities may differ from this preliimimary determimation

Refer 1o Note ~ for further mformation related (o meome tases,
Noptconiroliprg Inferesis

Nencontrolhing merests ciude the Tan value of noncontrolling mterests of Linde AG. mcluding approsimatel
S3 2 Bilhon relatung 10 the 8%c of Linde AG shares which were not tendered m the Exchange Offer and are mtended o be the
subject of @ cash-merger squeeze-out, The company 's wholly-ow ned indirect subsidiars . Linde Intermediate Holdmg AG
“Fmde Holding 1o which directly owns the 92" of Linde AG shares acquired i the Pachange Offer. determmed the
adeguate cash compensation to be paid 1o the 8% remainng | inde AG ninorits sharcholders i esxchange {or the transter of
thell Linde AG ~hares for cach | inde AG share The cash-merger squeeze-out was appros ed by the sharcholders of | inde
AG atan extravrdinars ~harebalders meeting of Finde AG on December 12, 2018, but remains subject to court appros al
Also, as required by German law . a guarantee was obtained from a financial institution guaranteeing the fulfillment of 1 inde
Holdig s oblizations to pay the ninorty sharchalders of Linde AG all amounts due in connection with the squecze-ou
transaction The remaining noncentrolling interests relate to the fain vajue of histone noncontrolling mterests of Linde A
and 1ts subspdiarses The final farr value deternumation for noncontroiling tnterests may differ tiom this preliminan
determinanon

Fouin fivesrmenis

The fan value of equity maestmients was determuined using a discounted cash flow approach The final fan value of
equity v estments may difter from this prehinunary determination

Orher 1ssets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed (eacluding Goodwills

Linde utilized the carrying values. net of allowances. to value accounts and notes receisable and accounts pavable as
well as other current assets and labilities as 1t was determined that carrying values represented the fair value of those tems at
the merger date

Crooda tlf

The excess of the cansideration tor the merger over the prelimmany fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as
goudwill, The merget resulted n the recogmtion of $24.146 anllion of goodwill. which 1~ not deductible for tax purposes
The geodwil] balance 1= primarily artributed to the assembled worktoree. expanded market opportunities and cost and other
optating synergies anticipated upon the mtegration of the operations of Praxair and Linde AG The push down of goodwill
10 reporung units 1« not final and may differ from this prelimmary deternnnation.

Rosales of Linde AG Operations Since Mcrger

The 1esulis of operations of Linde AG haye been included 10 the company s consohdared statenment~ of imcome since
the merger The followmg table provides Linde AG "Sales™ and “Income tlossy from continumg operations™ included my the

Compainy s tesyits smwe the merger



November 1, - December 31,
Aillions of dulfars 2018

Linde AG Results of Operatiens

Sales b 2.873
Inceme (ess) from continuing operations™® 3 ¢ 385)
*

Includes net charges of $451 million related to the impacts of purchase accounting.
Unaudited Pro Forma Information

Linde’s unaudited pro forma results presented below wete prepared pursuant to the requirements of ASC 805 and give
effect to the merger as 1f 1t had been consummated on January 1, 2017. The pro forma results have been prepared for
comparative purposes only, and do not necessarily represent what the revenue or results of operations would have been had
the merger been completed on January 1, 2017. In addition, these results are not intended to be a projection of future
operating results and do not reflect synergies that might be achieved.

The unaudited pro forma results include adjustments for the preliminary purchase accounting impact (including. but
not limited to. depreciation and amartization associated with the acquired tangible and intangible assets. amortization of the
fair value adjustment to investment in nonconsolidated affiliates, and reduction of interest expense related to the fair value
adjustment to long-term debt along with the related tax and non-controlling interest impacts), the alignment of accounting
pohcies. adjustments due to IFRS compliant reporting conversion to U 8. GAAP and the eliminatien of transactions between
Praxair and Linde AG

The unaudited pro forma results for all periods presented below exclude the results of operations of the Linde AG
merger-related divestitures (See Note 4) as these divestitures are reflected as discontinued operations. The Praxamr merges-
related divestitures (See Note 4) are included in the results from contimuing operations, including the results from Praxair’s
European business through the disposition date of December 3. 2018, 1n the unaudited pro forma results presented below | for
all periods presented. as these divestitures do not qualify for discontinued operations.,

The unaudited pro forma resulfts are summarized below:

Alons of doflurs 2018 2017
Sales (a) b3 20774 % 28440
Income trom continuing operations $ 4739 % R71
(a) Includes sales from Praxair's merger-related divestitures of $1.625 nithion and $1.553 mullion for the vears ended

December 21. 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Significant nonrecurring amounts reflected in the pro forma results are as follows:

A $3.294 million gain (32,923 million after tax) was recorded 1n the fourth quarter 2018 as a result of the divestiture of
Praxair’s European industrial gases business and is included m the December 31, 2018 pro forma icome from continuing
operations.

From January 1. 2017 through December 31. 2018, Praxair. Inc. and Linde AG collectively incurred pre-tax costs of
§736 million {3680 million after tax) to prepare for and close the merger. These merger costs were reflected within the
results of operations in the pro forma results as if thev were incurred on January !, 2017, Any costs incurred related to
merger-related divestitures and integration and to prepare for the intended business separations were reflected in the pro
forma results in the penod in which they were meurred.

The company incurred pre-tax charges of $368 million { $279 milhion after tax} and $10 mitlion ($8 million after tax)
in 2018 related to the fair value step-up of mventories acquired and sold as well as a pension settlement due 1o the payout to
certain participants as a result of change in control provisions within a U.S. nonqualified pension plan, respectively. The
2018 pro forma results were adjusted o exclude these charges. The pro forma results for 2017 were adjusted to include these
charges. as well as charges incurred subsequent to December 31. 2018 but less than a year from the date of the merger of
$13 million (310 million after tax} related to the remaining fair value step-up of inventories to be sold and $51 million
($40 million after tax) related to an additional pension settlement within the U.S nonqualified pension plan will occur in the
first quarter of 2019 upon payment. See Note 18 for further information relating to the U.S. nonqualified pension plan
settlements
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2018 Non-Merger Related Acquisitions

Non-merger related acquisitions of $25 million during the year ended December 31. 2018 are not material mdividually-
or in the aggregate.

2017 dequisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2017, Linde had acquisitions totaling $33 milion, primarily acquisitions of
packaged gas businesses and a carbon dioxide joint venture in North America. These transactions resulted in goodwill and
other intangible assets of $24 mullion and 83 million. respectively (see Notes 11 and 12},

2016 Acquisitions

During the vear ended December 31. 2016. Linde had acquisitions totaling $363 million. prumarily the acquisition of
Yara International ASA’s Furopean carbon dioxide business (“European CO2 business™) and packaged gases businesses in
North America and Europe. These transactrons resulted 1n goodwill and other intangible assets of $141 million and
$82 mullion. respectively see Notes 11 and 12). In addition. Linde purchased a rematung 34%: share 1n a Scandinayan jomt
venture for $104 mullion (see Note 161,

On June 1, 2016 Linde completed an acquisition of a European CO2 business, which 15 a leading supplier of hguwd
(02 and dry ice primarily 10 the European food and beverage industnes. The business operates CO2 higuetaction plants and
dry 1ce production facihities across the UK. Ireland. Norway. Denmark. Germany. Netherlands. Belgium. France and laly
This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination: accordingly. the results of operations were consohidated from
Tune 1. 2016 1n the European busmess segment.

The purchase price for the acquisition was approaimateiy 3230 million (€206 nullien) and resubted in 8121 milhon of
mntangibie assets The intangible assets primarily consist of $69 million of goodwill and $31 nuliion of customer relationship~
that will be amortized over thetr estimated Tite of 20 vears This business was subsequently »old us part of the merger
Divestitures (see Note 4)

NOTE 4. MERGER-RELATED IVESTITURES, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND NV ASSETS HELD
FOR SALE

A5 described 11 Note 1. as a condition of the European Commission ("FC™y the U S Department of Justce (DO
and other governmenmal regulatery authorsties approval of the merger. Linde ple, Praxair and Linde AG were required to
divest the followimg businesses,

Praxair Merger-Related Divestitures — Primarily European Industrial Guses Business

As a condition of the EC regulatory approval of the merger transaction. Praxair agreed to sell the majority of s
mdustrial gases business in Europe The sale was completed on December 3 2018 i two transactions, as described betow

. The Societa Hahana Acetitene ¢ Dernvatt S p AL (“SIAD™) Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 3,
2017 whereby Praxair agreed. mrer ulra | to sell its 34°0 non-controlling participation 1 its ftahan jomt
venture SIAD to its jomt yenture partner Flow Fin i exchange for Flow Fin’s 4090 non-controlling
participation in Praxair’s majority-owned Ttalian joint venture, Rivora S.p.A . and cash pavment of a net
purchase price of €90 million ($102 nullion as of October 31, 2018) by Prasair to Flow Fin This transaction
was completed on October 31. 2018, and;

. The Praxair Europe Sale and Purchase Agreement dated July 5. 2018 pursuant to which Praxair <old the
mayority of 1ts European businesses to Taive Nippon Sanso Corporanon for €5.000 milhion in cash
consideration (55,700 miflon at December 3. 2018). reduced by estmated normal closing adjustments of
€86 mulbion (396 muliton) These transactions were completed on December 3. 2018

[n connection with these transactions. the company recognized a net pre-tas gain of $3.294 mullion (52,922 mullion
after tax) m the conselidated statements of income and related te the Europe segment,

The net carrving value of Praxair's Luropean busimess assets and liabihties divested on December 3, 2018 1+ presented
below:



Mitlions of doliars

Carryving Valuc

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents hJ 38
Avccounts receivable — net 311
Tnventories 67
Prepaid and other current assets 22
Properiv. plant and equipment — net 1.342
Equity i estments 234
Goodwil] 620
Other wtangible assets — net 115
Other long-term assets 26
Toral Assets Divesred » 2.785
Liabilities
Accounts payable 5 215
Accrued taxes 2
Other current habilities 111
Long-term debt 2
Other long-term habibities a2
Deterred credits 174
Total Liahifires Divesied A 621
Noncontrolling interests 5 200
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Pension. OPEB tunded status obligation, net of taxes %)
Cumulative translation adjustment. net ot taxes (31%)
Net Assets Divested b 2200

Addmonally | to satusty regulatony reguirements to consumimate the business combination. Praxair agreed to the
following nansactions which will be completed during 20149,

. Pravar’s Chilean business which will be sold as part of the Americas” SP A (as defined below) for
$21 milhon proceeds which 1y further deseribed below |

. Various transactions within Chima, India and South Korea
204N sales related to these bustnesses were approvimately S160 nulhion

Lfteetine October 22, 2018, the date of final regulatory approvals, these busiesses hone been accounted for as Assets
Held for Sale on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These businesses were evaluated for discontinued operations accounting
treatment under U.S, GAAP and it was determmed that they did not meet the definition of a discontinued operanon as these
transactions did not represent a strategic shift with a major effect, after considering the impact of the merger.

Linde AG Merger-Related Divestitures — Primarily Americas Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the LS. regulatory appraval of the merger. Linde AG agreed to sell the majonty of its indusinal
gases busmess in the Americas, as described below:

. The Linde AG Americas Sales and Purchase Agreement. dated July 16, 2018, as and further amended on
September 22, 2018, October 19, 2018, and February 20. 2019 whereby Linde AG and Prasair. Inc entered
mto an agreement with a consortium comprising companies of the German industrial gases manufacturer
Messer Group and CVC Capital Partners Fund VII to sell the majority of Linde AG”s industrial gases
busmess in North America and certain industrnal gases business actn tties of Linde AG’s in South America
for $2.97 billion 1n cash consideration after purchase price adjustments for certain items relating to assets
and liabilities of the sold businesses. In addition. divestitures include 5531 muliion of proceeds for

N2



merenental plant sales within the Ameticas under other agreements fhese transactions were completed on

March 1. 2019,

. \oarjous transactions wighin China. India and South Korea

Discontinued Operations

Oulyv the sales of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures meet the criteria for discontinued operations. Pranair
merger-related divesures do not qualifv as discontinued operations. As such. operations related to the Linde AG merger-
1elated dis estitures are included within Tncome from discontmued operations. net of tax for periods subsequent to the merger.

as summarized below.

Millrons of doilars

Net sales

Cost of sales

Other operaung costs

Opetating protli

Lcome {rom equity ivestments

[ncome tanes

Income fTom discontinued operations. net of tas
Noncontrolhing interests

Income from disconninped opetations, net of s and nencontrelling mterests

-

November 1, -
December 31. 2018

5 388
173

F0

% i25
1

9

b 117
{(9)

b 108

For the sear ended December 5310201 there were no matertal amounts of depreciation. amortization. capital

expenditures, or stgnficant operaung of v estng non-cash items related to disconunued operatuons

Net Assets Held for Sale

et assets held ton sale mcludes both the inde AG merger-related divestitures that ieet the eriteria for discontimued

operations and the Praxar merger-reluted dis estitiies that do not As of December 310 2018, the tollowing assers and
Iabiltnies are reported 3 compuonents of the net assets held for sale i the consobidated balance sheets,

Vithons of dotiar

Asvets

Cashyand cash cquinvalents

Secounts recenvable pet

Invenronios

Prepand and other cuipent assets

Propetty, plant and equipment - net

Other Assels

Asset adjustments tor estumated Tr value (Note 3)

Tontad Assets Classatiod as Assers Held for Sale
Liabilities
Accounts pasable
Deterred vredits
Onher Lahiies

Torad rabilinies Classitiod as Assers Held 1o Sale

Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale

Carrying, Fair Marher

N oalue

206
437

768

z

e

4730




NOTE 5. TRANSACTION COSTS AND OTHER CHARGES
2018 Charges

Transaction costs and other charges were $309 mullion for the vear ended December 31. 2018 (5306 after-tax and
noncontrolling interests. or $0.92 per dijuted share).

Transacrion Cosrs

On October 31. 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde ple. as contemplated by the busmess combination
agreement (see Note 1) In connection with the business combination. Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled
%236 million for the vear ended December 31. 2018 (3236 nullion after-taxn).

Other Charges

Also included in Transaction costs and other charges are other charges of $73 million for the vear ended December 3.
2018 ($70 million after-tax) comprised of the following: (1) a $40 vuilion charge ($30 nullion after-tax) related to an
untfavorable development related ro a supplhier contract in Chma. ti1) restructuring charges of $21 million i$18 mulhon
after-tax} and (n1) a $12 million charge ($12 million after-tax) associated with the transion to hyper-inflationary accounting
in Argentina

2017 Charges
Transaction Coses

In connection with the mtended busimess combinaton. Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled %32 nullion fou
the vear ended December 31, 2017 (548 million after-tax o1 $0 17 per diluted shire)

2016 Charges
Cosr Reducrion Program and Other Charges

In the third quarter of 2016, Linde recorded pre-tay charges totabing 96 pullion (563 mulhon after-tax and
noncontollmg mterests of 80 22 per diluted sharer 1 oliowing s a summary of the pre-tay charge by repoertable segment.

Severynce

trethons of doilary costs Other Charges Tuotal

North America % 14 5 29 0% 43

Europe Iz 3 13

South America 5 7 i2

Asia O 13 19 ;
Surtace Technologie~ 3 4 7

Touwl ) 10 % S6 0% 06

The severance costs of $340 milhon are for the elimmation of 730 posittons, The other charges of $56 million are
primarily related to (i) the consolidation of operations for efficiencies and cost reduction primarily in North America and
Surface Technologies. (i1} integration costs for acquisitions in Europe and North America. and (i1i) asset write-downs and
other charges related to the impacts of weaker underlying industrial activitv. primarily in the Americas and Asia. Amounts
related to asset write-downs are net of expected sale proceeds. which are not significant,

The total cash requirement of the cost reduction program and other charges was approximately $30 million The
actions are completed

Classification m the consolidated financial siatements

The pre-tax charges for each vear are shown within operating profit in a separate line item on the consolidated
statements of income. In the consolhidated balance sheets. reductions m assets are recorded against the carrving value of the
related assets and unpatd amounts are recorded primarily as short-term hatlities, On the consolidated statement of cash
flows. the pre-tax impact of these charges. net of cash payments. ts shown as an adjustment 1o reconcile net mcome to net
cash provided by operating activities. In Note 20 - Segment Information. Linde excluded these charges from 1ts management
definrtion of segment operating profit: a reconcihauon of segment operating protir to consobidated operating profit 1s shown
within the segment operating profit table.



NOTE 6. LEASES

In the normal course of s business. Linde enters o vanous leases as the fessee. prunanls mvolving manufacturing
and distnbution equipment and office space Total lease and rental expenses under operating leases were $193 mullion 1n
2018 5146 milhon in 2017 and $141 mullion m 2016, The increase in 2018 15 a result of the merger.

At December 31, 2018, munimum payments due under operating leases are as follows:

(Millions of dollars)

2019 b 0=
2020 236
2021 1se
2022 45
2023 102
Thereatter 326

S 1.300

Capital leases are meluded 1 property. plant and equipment — net {see Note 1) Related obligations are included
debt Capita) Jease expense 1s recogmzed as part of depreciation and mterest

At December 21 201 munumum payvments due under capital leases are as follows.

(Adlons of doltars)

2014 &

2020

2021 12

2022 160

ROAR 3

herealla 42
b 10-4

"
| ]
ts

Fioance charge mdluded i nunmium lease paviments

Linde s teases where 11 1~ the lessor are not materal.
NOTE 7. INCOMFE TAMNES

The year ended December 300 2015 retlects Pravan tor the entire vear and the Lmde AG tor the penod beamning
October 31201 ithe merger date). including the impacts of purchase accounting The amounts for lnstorical perniods prion 1o
2018 solely reflect the 1esults of Praxarr See Notes 1 and 3.

Pre-tax mcome applicable to U S, and foreign operations 1s as tollow s

fMitlions of dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
United States h) EEN I 1003 % 954
Foreign (a) FEIR 1.284 1.094
Tortal income betore meome taves b 5049 8 2287 % 2,048
ia) umcludes o $3.204 nuilion gamn related to Furope divestiture (see Notes 4 and 9)

LS. Tax Curts and Jobs 1ct (Tax 1cn

On December 222017 the 1% government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ¢ Tax Act™ This comprehensi e s
lewislanon significantly revised the U S corparale ncome tas rules by among othes things. lowering the corporate income



tax rate from 33% 10 219 implementing a terntorial tav system and nrposing a one-tine tas on sccwnulated earnings of
foreign subsidiartes Given the substanuial uncertainnes surrounding the Tav Act and the short period of time between
December 22, 2017 and December 31. 2017 to caleulate the U.S. Federal. U.S, state. and non-L S, tax mmpacts of the Tax
Act. at Deceniber 31, 2017 the company accounted for its meome tax charge on a provisional testimated) basis as alloved by
SEC Staft Accountung Bulletin No, 118 ("SAB [187). The company’s 2017 net provisional income tax charge of

$394 million has three main components. (1) an estimated $467 milhion U.S, Federal and state tax charge for deemed
repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings: (i) an estimated $260 million charge for foreign withhelding taxes related to
anticipared future repatriation of foreign earnings: and (1i1) an estimated $333 miltion deferred tax benefit for the revaluation
of net deferred tax liabilities from 35%6 to the new 21°% tax vate The $467 nullion U S federal and state tay charge for
deented repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings includes $422 million of deemed repatriation lax pavable over e1ght
vears. of which $388 milhon is ¢lassified as of December 31. 2017 as other long-term habilities on the consolidated balance
sheets (see Note 9).

During 2018, the company continued to evaluate the Tax Act. addiional guidance from the Internal Revenue Service.
its historical foreign earnmgs and taxes and other irems that could impact its net proyisional fas charge. Additionally. the
company continued to review its foreign capital structures. organizarional cash needs and the foreign withholding tas cost of
planned repatriaton In the fourth quarter of 2018, the company completed its accounting and updated its provisionat
estimates in accordance with SAB {18 resultimg m a net reduction 10 tux expense of $61 nullion, %41 nulhon U.S federal and
$20 mullion of state mcome tax (net of federal tas benefit), This resulted in a deemed repatriation s pavable of 291 million
payable over the remainng seven years. of which $265 nullion is classified as of December 31, 201N as othet long-term
hiabilities on the consolidated halance sheets tsee Note 91

Further. the Tax Act enacted new provisions refated to the taxanon of foreign earnmgs. known as GILTI The compam,
has elected as an accounting policy to account for GILTI as petiod costs when incurred

Addiionally. in the fourth quarter of 2018 the company adopted Accounting Standards Uipdare 2018-02.
“Reclassification ol Certam Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income™, electing 1o reclassity the mcome
tax ctfects of the Tax Act from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 0 AGC 7 o retaned carnings This resulicd in g
net reduction o AOCTand a net ingredse to retgined carmings of S93 million 9% mulhion directhy relaied o the federal
income ta~ rate change reduced by $5 mullion mditectly related to the federal tas rate change on statc meome tases

Provision for Income Taxes
The following is an analvsis of the provision for mcome rases

(Millions of dollars)

Y ear Ended December 31, 20108 (a) 2007 (a) 26

Current tax expense (benefit)

ULS federal % 0y IhI % 26hH

State and local ) S4 32

Foreign 620 274 266
1,003 1.023 564

Deferred tax expense (benefit)

L5, federal 8 (220 3
State and local 15 19 7
Foreign (209) 205 (23
(186) 3 {(13)
Total income taxes A 817 % 1026 % 351
(a) Includes a benefit of S61 million and a charge of $394 mulhon related to the Tax Act in 2018 and 2017, respectively

and a charge of $371 million related to divestitures i 2018 (see Note 4) as follows:



2018 2017

Current tax expense (benefit)

1.8, federul & 210 05 414
State and locai 1360 53
Foreign 114 60
267 527
Deferred tax expense (benefit)
U S. federal 6 {333,
State and locai 7 _
Foreign — 200
13 (133)
Total income taxes 5 310 S 3943

Effecrive Tax Rate Reconciliation

For purposes of the effective tax rate reconcihation, the company utilized the LS statutory income 1ay raic ol 2i%4
2018 and 23 n vears 2017 and 2016, An analy s1s of the difference between the prosision tor meome taves and the amount
computed by applving the U.S. statutory mcome tax rate 1o pre-tax income follows’

(Doltar amonnes i millionsi

Y ear Ended December 310 2018 2017 2016

L S.ostatutory meome tay S 1060 210% % 801 ERN AU 1T 3Z0 0y,
State and local taves  net of federal benetit 20 o "o 32 T3y 2x 149,
L' S tax eredis and deductions o {12y (21" 127 (1.2 132 (e
Foreign tax differentials thi 57 Pl P1435) i 3. i |4 6 Ny,
Share Based Compensation §22 (04" (35) (1.5 120 P,
Tas At (6l 2 94 IR o
Divestitures (¢) {321} b h' - " — -y
Othet - net (dy 36 1.7 " 6 (i, (24 11"
Provision for income tanes $ 817 162" % 1026 9 s s 53 269 %y,
{(a) 1S (an eredits and deductions relate to forergn deris od intangibie meome in 2018, the research and

experumentation tax eredit in 2008, 2017 and 2016 and manutacturing deduction n1 vears 2017 and 2016

thy Primarihy related to differences between the U'S tax rate (21"¢ moyear 2618 and 35%0 m vears 2007 and 20163 and
the statutors s rate m the countries where the compans operates Other permanent ients and tas rate changes were
not sigmificant

() Din estitures primarily refate (o the sale of the company’s European business (see Note 4)

(d} Other - net iacludes $34 mullion of U S tax related to GILTI 1n 2018 and an increase in unrecognized tax benefits in
Furope of $34 million.

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities

Net deterred tay habthities meluded o the consolidated balance shects are comprised of the follow iy



¢Millions of dollais)
December 1. 018 2017

Deferred tax liabilities

Fived assets S 3935 % 1128
Goodwill 124 143
Other intangible assets 3.684 72
Subsidiary equity invesiments 570 200
Other 648 93

Deferred tax assets

Carrvforwards 5 526§ 209
Benefit plans and related (a) 375 257
lnventory 63 16
Accruals and other (b) 1.112 261
$ 2276 0% 743
Less Valuation allowances (cy (237) (76)
2030 % 667
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 6.922 & 960
Recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as (Nole 9):
Other long-term assets 510 JO8
Deferred credits 7.432 1.167
$ 6,922 % 64
ta) Includes deferred taxes of 5292 nulhon and S217 malhonan 2008 and 2017, respectinels . related 1o pension OPEB
funded status (see Notes 9 and 18)
(b Includes %104 nuthor and S130 pullion i 201% and 2017, respectinely . related to research and development costs
() Summary of valuation atlowances relatng 1o deferred tax assets follow s tnuilions of dollarsy:
2018 2017 2016
Balance. January 1. Y (760 % (132) % (123
Income tax (charge) benefit (1) (5h 50 (13)
Merger with Linde AG (121 - —-
Other. including wrnte-ofts 7 —_— f
Translation adjustments 4 (3) 2y
Balance. December 31, % (2377 § (760 % (132)
(i) 2017 includes a $39 mullion benefit related to the urilization of foreign tax credits under the Tax Act.

The company evaluates deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in
character (e.g.. capital gain versus ordinary income treatment). amount and timing to result in their recovery. After
considermg the positive and negative evidence. a valuation allowance 1s established to reduce the assets to their realizable
value when management determunes that it is more likely than not (1.e.. greater than 30°. likelihood) that a deferred tax asset
will not be realized. Considerable judgment 1s required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances.

At December 31. 2018, the company had 3526 million of deferred tax assets relating w net operating losses (“NQOLs™)
and tax credits and $237 million of valuation allowances. These deferred tax assets mclude $445 million relating to NOLs of
which $35 nulljon expire within 5 years. $125 million expire after 5 vears and $265 million have no expiration. The deferred
tax asscts also include $81 mullion related to credits of which $13 million expire within 5 years, $38 million expire after 5
years. and $30 millien have no expiration. The valuation allowances of $237 nuilion primarily relate to NOLs and are
required because management has determined, based on financial projections and available tax strategies. that 1t 15 unlikely

&8




that the NOLs will be utilized betore thev expue 1f events o circumstances change. valuaton allowances are adjustad at that
nume resultng in an sncome tax benefit o1 charge.

The company has SS70 million of foreign meome taxes sccrued related o it mvestmemis 1 subsidharies and equits
nn estments as of December 31, 2018 A prosision has not been made for any additional foreign mecome tax at December 51.
2018 on approximatels 830 billion related to its invesunents m subsidiaries because the company intends to remain
mdefinitely remvested. While the $30 billion could become subjeet to addiienal foreign mncome tay if there is a sale of a
subsidiary or earnings are remitted as dividends. it is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax Hability

Uncertain Tax Positions

Unrecognized income tax benefits represent income tax positions taken on income tax returns but not vet recognized in
the consolidated financial statements. The company has unrecogmzed income 1ay benefits rotaling $319 million. $34 million
and $56 mulbon as of Decemher 312018, 2017 and 2016. respectively. 1f recogmzed. essentially all of the unrecognized tax
benefits and relared interest and penalties would be recorded as a benefit 10 1wcome tax expense on the consolidated statement
of iIncome.

Areconcibution of the begimnmy and ending amount of unrecogiized ke benefits e as fallew s

(Millions of dollars) 201X 2017 2006
Lnrecognized income tay benefits, January 1 T S400h 365 68
Additions for tax posttions of prios vears () I 4N &
Reductions Tor 1ax positions of prior vears (I 126} (15
Additions for cirrent yvear tis posttions (b [ - -
Reductions for settlements wath taving authores 1o} 13 (20) (2
Foreign curtenay iranslavon and other (N 2 (1)
Linrecognized income tax benefits. December 31 & 319N g0 36
L fncrease primiartly relates o tay positions s the Vinnted States and T oope

th) 2088 mchudes S1o7 niuthon related 1o the merger with Linde A

) Settlements are uncertiun tax positions that wete effectnely setthed with the tang authoniies, meluding positions

where the company has agreed to amend #s s returns o chmmate the uncertant.

The company classifies mterest income and expense related to meome taves as tas expense i the consohdated
statement of income The company recogiized net interest eapense of 522 milhon i 2018 net mterest expense of &8 nutbon
n 2017 and net mterest income of %10 milhon i 2086, The company had $48 nnlhon and S8 nultion of acerued mierest and

1

penalties as of December 3102018 and Decomber 312017 respectivel s winel swere secorded i other long-term habihities in
the consohdated baliunee sheets Gsee Nowe 9y



As of December 31. 2018, the company remained subject to examination in the follow ing major tax jurisdictons for

the tax »ears as indicated below:

Major tax jurisdictions

North and South America
Uited States
Canada
Mexice
Brazil

Europe and Africa
Belgium
Germany
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Republic of »outh Africa
Scandinavia
Spawn
United Kingdom

Asia and Australia
Australia
China
india
Korea
New Zealand
Tamvan

Open Years

2014 through 20
2011 through 20
2012 through 20
2005 through 20

&
8
8

e ke

[

2013 through 2018
20117 through 2018
2013 through 2018
2013 through 2018
2014 through 20138
2008 through 2018
2004 through 2018
2015 through 2018

2012 through 2018
2008 through 201 R
2006 through 2018
2013 through 2018
201 3 through 2018
2014 through 2018

The company 1s currently under audit 1n a number of jurisdictions. As a result. it 1s reasonably possible that some of’
these matters will conclude or reach the stage where a change in unrecognized income tax benefits may occur within the neat
twelve months At the time new information becomes available. the company will record any adjustment 1o income tax
cxpense as required. Final determinations, if any. are not expected to be material to the consoltdated financial statements,
The company s also subject to mcome taxes in many hundreds of state and local raving jurisdictions that are open 1o rax

examinations.,
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NOTE 8. EARNINGS PER SHARE - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS

Basic and Diluted eartimgs pet share — Linde ple shareholders 1 computed by dividing Tncome From Continuing
Operations, Income Frony discontinued operanions. net of tas, and Netincome — Linde ple fon the peiiod by the weighted
average number of eithet basie or diluted shares outstanding as follows:

2018 2017 2016

Numerator {millions of dollars)
Income From Continuing QOperations 5 4,272 % 1,247 % 1.500
Income from discontmued operations, net of t HOR — —
Net Income - Linde ple % 4381 % 1.247 % 1.5300
Denominator (thousands of shares)
Welghted average shares outstanding 35008y 285,893 283289
Shares earned and wsuable nnder compensation plans 313 36Y 3R
Woeighted mverage shares used mbasie carmnigs pet share ™ 330404 286,261 INA6TT
Effect of difunnve secunties

Stock options and awards 376 2833 2080
Woerghted s erage shates used m diuted eanings per~hae ™ 334427 2R9E T4 2RTIST
Busie earnmgs per share from continuimsg operations $ 1203 % 136 0% 325
Busic carnings per share front disconnmuoed aperanons S O35 % — % —
Basic Farnings Per Share ~ 1326 s 430 & S 25
[iluted carnmes per share frons contipuing operition- » PITHN 43200~ 20
[yluted carmines per share from discontimued operations b 032N - % -
Diluted Earnings Per Sharc % [3.01 ~ 432 & 5321

A aresult of the merger. share amounts for the vear ended December 310 2018 retlect a weighied average effect of
Pravan shaves ontstanding poor to Octeber 312008 and 1 usde ple shates autstanding on and after Octaber 31,
2018
I here were no antidilntine shares for the sears ended December 3102005 o1 2017 Sk options of 2602770 tor the
vear ended December 31 2016 were annddotnve and theretore exchuded i the computation of diluted carnmes per share

NOTE O SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

The vear ended December 3102018 reflects Pravan for the entite vear and the Linde AG tar the period begimning after
Owtober 31, 20108 ¢the imorger dater including the mmpacts of purchase aecountmg. The amounts for historical perjods prior 1o
2018 solely reflect the results of Pranair. See Notes 1 and 3
Income Statement
e Vitlions of doliarsi
Y car Ended December 31, 2018 2017 e

~elling, Generat and Adminisirative

Selling S b S 103

General and sdmmistrative HY6 652
A} 1.629 S 1207 s 1.145

Year T uded Decambuer 31 2018 2017 AT

Bepreciation and Amortization (a)

Drepreciation - a1y S FO93 N | O2s

Amortization of other mtangibles (Nate 123 21s 9l G4

S Ll s Vsd s 1122

s)[



Year Ended December 31.

Other Income (Expenses) — Net
Currency related net gains ({losses)
Partnership income

Severance expense

Asset divestiture gains (losses) —net
Other — net

Year Ended December 31.

Interest Expense — Net
Interest mcurred on debt
Interest capitalized
Bond redemption (b)

Y ear Ended December 3§,

Lncome Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests” operations (c)

Redeemable noncontrollmg interests” operations (Note 161
Noncontrolling mterests from continuing operations

Noncontrolling iterests from discontinued operations

Balance Sheet

(Mitlions of dollars)
December 31,

Accounts Receivable
Trade
Other

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (d)

December 31,

Inventories

Raw materials and supplies
Work in process

Finished goods

2018 2017 2016
$ 4 % (3) § 1
8 6 3
{7y (63 (hH
6 4 16
7 3 5
$ 18 8 4 3 23
2018 2017 2016
$ 196§ 189§ 208
(20 (28} {34)
26 — 16
S 202§ let % 190
2018 2017 2016
h 12 % 50 % 33
R 2 3
15§ ol % 38
9 % _ .
2018 2017
$ 3368 % 1.514
42 34
4.410 1.848
(113) (138}
$ 4297 % 1.710
2018 2017
h 339§ 224
321 57
991 333
b 1.651 % 614




December 31.

Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Prepaidie)

VAT Recoverable

Other

December 31,

Other Long-term Assets
Pension assets (Note 1§
Insurance condracts (1)
Long-term receinabies tier ry)
Deposiis

Iny estments carmed at cost
Deterred cliages

Deferred imcome tases 1Nate ")

(Other

December 1.

Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses

Payroll

MAT Pavable

Deterred Income

Pension and postietirement (Note |y
Interest pavable

Empiesee benetit acerual

Insuramee reseryes

Onher

December 31.

Other Long-terms Liabilities

Pension and postretirement (Note F8)

Tax habilities for unceram tas positions

Tav Act habilmies for deemed repatration (Note ™)
nterest atid penaities for uncertan tuy posttion< (Nate 7y
[nsurance reserves

Other

2018 w17

367 185

250 91

460 65

§ 1.077 % 344
2018 2017

S 140 % L7

75 74

i3= 4

61 70

6 12

145 47

210 98

37 109

b 1462 & AR
2018 2017

s LIsT S 319

SIS 70

235 S0

242 9

P17 ()

137 81

104 23

26 12

1.042 232

> 3758 % 926
2018 2017

¥ o004 s 8§51

191 33

265 ANN

48 N

24 23

903 2R3

S KSR 158X




December 31, 2018 007

Deferred Credits

Deferred mncome taxes {Note 7) ) A28 1.167

Other 179 69
S 7.611 % 1.236

December 31. 2018 2017

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Cumulative translation adjustiment - net of taxes:

North America (h) $ (955) % {585
South America (hy 12347y (2,004
Europe (h) {185) (398}
Asia thy (300) (15D
Surface Technologies (3 17
Linde AG (h) 231 —
13,590} (3.455)
Perivatives net of taxes (2 (h
Unrealized gaw (loss) on securties (1 —
Pension/OPEB funded status obhigation {net of $292 million and $347 milhon tux benefit m

2018 and 2017 (Note 15y (%63) (642
% (4456} & (4.0u8)

(a) Capttalized sottware bas been reclassficd trom properts plant and equipnient  net to other mtangibles - net The

associated expense has been reclassitied from depreciation expense to amortization expense. The impact of this
reclassitication was $40 nullion and 543 mulhion in 2018 and 2017, respectively . 2018 depreciation and amortization
cxpense include $225 million and $121 million. respectively. of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts.

(b In December 2018, Linde repaid $600 million of 4,507 notes due 2019 and €600 mitlion of 1509 notes due 2020
resutting in a $26 mullion interest charge (820 nullion after-tas, or $0.06 per diluted share). In Februany 2016, Linde
redeemed $325 nullion of 5 20¢0 notes due March 2017 resulting in a $16 nuthon interest charge (%10 mmllion
atter-tax. or $0.04 per diluted share).

(<) Noncontroliing interests from continuing operations includes a $35 million charge in 201% velnted 10 the 8% of
Linde AG Shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer (see Note 3)

() Provisions to the allowance for doubtful accounts were $25 million. $33 nullion. and $41 mithon in 2018, 2017, and
2016, respectively. The allowance activity in each period related primanly to write-offs of uncellectible amounts,
net of recoveries and currency movements.

(e} Includes estimated income tax payments of $172 million and $58 nullion i 2018 and 2017, respectivels.

() Consists primarily of insurance contracts and other investments to be utilized for non-qualified pension and OPEB
obligations.

(g) Long-term receivables are not material and are largely reserved The balances at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are

net of reserves of $46 million and $51 mallion. respectively. The amounts i both peniads relate primanly t long-
term notes receivable from customers and government receivables in Brazil Collectability is reviewed regularly and
uncollectible amounts are written-off as appropriate.

(h) North America consists of currency transiation adjustments in Canada and Mexico. South America relates primarily
to Brazil and Argentina Europe relates primarily to Spam. Russia and Germany. Asia relates primarily o China,
India and Korea. Linde AG includes currency movements since the merger date and relates primariiv (o the Euro,
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NOTE 10, PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET

Sigriaficant classes of property. plant and eguipment are as follows (2018 reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger

on October 31, 2008 (see Notes | and 31 ang the divestiture of Prasair’s zuropean mdustrial gases business on December 3|

2018 (~ee Notes T2 and 4,

{ Wilfions of doflars, Depreciabie

December 31. Lives (Y rs) 2018 2017
Production plants (primarilv 15-vear life) (a) 16-20 % 24726 % 16,258
Storage tanks 15-20 4061 2,620
Transportanon equipment and other (b) 3-13 2.654 1388
Cylinders 10-30 3.05% 1.875
Buildings 25-40 3.083 1.202
Land and pmprovements (o) 0-20 1162 S8y
Constraction 1m progress 2296 1,159

41937 I3.204

Less accumulated depreciation {12220 L3 d66)

% 2971 % 171.825

rad - Depreciable Tives of producton plants retated o long-term customer ~upply contracts are consistent wh the contract
Irves

b - Capitahized sotivw e was previousiy teported m the transportation equipment and other hine At December 31, 018,
caprtahized sottw are halances were reported within other infangrbles—mnet isee Note 123 Prion penod amounts b e beet
reclassiiod to contorm o current vea prosenzation tsee Note )

tor- band s net depreciited

The pross amonnt of assas recorded under capital Jeases by mapor Chiss are as follow s

(Millions of doflary

December 31, 2048 7
Production plams s s 2
Transportaton equipmient and other 49 ]
Buldings 24

kN 5 LS 3

NOTE 1, GOODWILL

Changes mn the carryviag amount of goedwiil for the vears ended Deceimber 31, 2008 and 2017 were as [olloas (2018
reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger on Getober 31, 26048 (see Notes T and 3y and the divestiture of Prasan’s
European imdustrial gases business on December 3. 2018 (see Notes 1 and 3y



North South Surface

fAlillions of dotlars) America America Europe Asla Techneologies Linde AG Total

Balunce, December 31, 2016 s 2165 % 132 % 629 % S8 % 133 & — % 3117
Acquisitions (Note 3} 24 — — — —_ — 4
Purchase adjustments & other — () ] — _ . _
Foreign currency translation 13 (2) 68 3 i0 - 2
Balance, December 31, 2017 $§ 2202 % 129 § 698 § 61 % 143 % — 3 3,233
Addition due to Merger {Note 3) — —_ — — — 24,146 24.146
Acquisitions (Note 3} 5 — — — — — 3
Purchase adjustments & other 12 — _— — — _ 12
Foreign currency transiation (11 (23) (37) — (5) 174 98
Disposals (Note 4) — — (620) — — — (620)
Balance, December 31. 2018 $§ 2208 8 106 % 41 8 61 $ 138 § 24320 § 26,874

Linde has performed its goodwill impairment tests annually during the second quarter of each vear. and historically has
determined that the fair value of each of its reporting units was substantially in excess of 1ts carrving value, For the 2018 test.
Linde applied the FASB s accounting guidance which allows the company to first assess gualitative factors to determune the
extent ot addinonal quantitatny ¢ analysis, 1t any, that may be required to test goodwill for impairment. Based on the
qualitatiy e assessments performed. Linde concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit
substantiatly exceeded its carrying value and therefore, further quantitative analysis was not required. As a result. no
imparrment was tecorded. There were no indicators of imparrment through December 31. 2018,
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NOTE 12. OTBER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The followmg 15 a summan of Linde’s other mtangible assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 (2018 reflects the
impact of the Linde 3G merget an October 31, 2018 (see Nates 1 and 3) and the dnvestrture of Prarair’s Europeas industrial
gases busimness on December 3, 203 (see Note~ | and 4y

Other
(Millions of dollursi Customer Brands’ Intangible
For the year ended Deceniber 31, 2018 Relationships Tradenames Assets Total
Costr
Balance, December 31, 2017 S TS 46 619 % 437
Additions due to merger iNote 3) 12,855 2226 N1l 15592
Additions (primanly acguisitions} 1 — 26 27
Fuoreign currency translation 121 24 19y 36
Disposals (Note 4 ({4 (¥ {78 iZ227)
Other™ (20 — (3 (23
Balance. Decerber 31, 201 53285 2258 | 266 Fo,047
Less accunutlared amoruzation
Balance. December 31, 2017 (26} R (37 IRl
Amottization expense (Note 4 (RRRY (4 (' 215y
Forergn curreney transfaton + — ~ 12
Lheposals (Note -h 35 3 A2 112
Other® [ - s 24
Balance. December 210 20108 (3" 122 1Aan Ty
Netimtangipie asset hadance ar December 310 200n * 27 % 2260060 0% Ustoo 1223
O1her
(Millions of dotlarsy C ustoner Brands Ietangible
Forthe yemr ended December 312007 Refationships Frademames Nasety 1 otal
Cost
Balance Decembar 31, 2000 b BRI 45 % RO » J.ax2
Addivons (pronarthy acquisiionsa I 4 41
Foreign curreney transistion 22 j to a3
{Mher” 2y (1 ilh
Balance, December 31, 20107 R 46 a1y | 437
Less accumulated amortization,
Balance, December 31, 2016 (21 (13 (342) 1571,
Amortization expense (Note 4 {10 3 148 (91
Foreign currency transiation by {0} ¢hy
Othet? 2 o2 24
Balance, December 512617 1.260) ils) (374 657
Net balance at December 31,2017 > 2 0% 2EOS 245 08 NS

* Onher pomanly relates 1o the witte-ott of Taliv amortzed assers. purchase accounting adiustments and

reclassifieations

There are no expected residual values related 1o these mtangibic assets, Amortizaton expense for the vears ended
December 31, 2015, 20017 and 2016 was 215 mulhon, s9 1T malhion and S94 milhon. respectnels Tlhie remammy wearghted-
average amortization pertad for intangible assets 1~ approvmmatels 20 vears,



Total esumated annest amortization expense related to fliute Iy ed mangibles is as follows

¢ Witlions of dollar)
e

20§0 ¥ 848
2020 830
2021 790
2022 648
2023 G0OS
Thereatie: 10_833
Total amortization related to finite-ltived intangible assets 14,854
Indefinite-lived intangible assets at December 31. 2018 1.669
Net intangible assets at December 31. 2018 5 16373

O




NOTE 13, DEBT

The following s« a commary of Linde’s outstandmg debt ar December 31. 2018 and 2017 (2015 reflects the mmpact of

the Linde AG merger an October 31, 2078 tsee Notes Fand 303

[§18)



(Millions af dolivr

Short-term
Commmeraial papar ead 7% bark bore as
Other bank borrowings (primaril. e nanons

Total short-tern: debt

Long-term (a)

—

20 Notes due 2018 by

1.25% Notes due 2018 (¢}

1.90%, Notes due 20191

Vanable rate notes due 2019

1,75%; Eure denominated notes due 2019 ¢y
4259, AUD denominated notes due 2019
4,50V Notes due 2019 (d

Varnable rate notes due 2019

J50Y, Euro denomimated notes due 2026 ¢ dy
2250, Notes due 2020

1.73%, Eure denonunated notes duc 2020000

0.634" ¢ buro denommated notes due 2020
4 U580 Notes due 2621

3 875% Furo denommated notes duae 2021 (o)

3,00 Notes due 2021

£.250" . Euro denomimated notes due 2022 10y

2459 Notes due 2022

2 20% Notes due 2022

27000 Nates due 2023

2,00 bure denonunated notes doe 2073 e
N7 GBI denonimaied notes due 2070 v

2000 F uro denonmndaied notes due 24
TR Furo denomimated notes doe 024000
L658Y 0 Nates dae 2025

625% Furo denominaied notes dae 2027
2070 Notes due 2026

A34%0 Notes due 2026

O52% Bure denopmnated notes due

v = ) e —

Q00T
0D0% o Eure denomimated notes due 202N (o
U Furo denonimated notes due 24030
3,55 Notes due 2642

Other

Y Y

International bank borrowings
Obligations undet capital lease

Less' current poruon of fong-term debt

Total long-term debt
Total debt

(a)

Amounts are net of unamortized discounts. premiums and o debt sssuance costs as applicabl

o0

2018 2M7
S ESAR TN 202
656 36
1483 238
— 498
s 475
300 500
150 —
578 —
71 —
— 599
200
— 717
299 299
1,185 ——
sK -—
499 498
753 -
198 497
1.156 —
598 59§
498 498
498 49¢
§()3 _
454 —
62N 6HAR
373 —
RIVES 397
S68 594
725 725
195 -
L)(j J—
%61 --
121 —
662 662
10 12
291 33
81 4
13.811 R.762
(1,523) (979}
12288 7.783
b 13296 % 9.000
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th) In Mareh 2014, Linde repaid $500 mifhon of 1.20%¢ notes that became due.

el In November 2018, Linde repard $475 mullion of 1 259 notes that became due and the associated interest rate swap
was settled, See Note 14 for addinonal information regarding interest rate swaps

«dh In December 2018, Linde repaid $600 million of 4.50% notes due 2019 and €600 mition of 1.50% notes due 2020
resulting m a $26 million interest charge ($20 million after-tax. or $0 06 per diluted share) Also during December
Linde repaid €730 mullion of 3.125°5 notes acquired 1n the merger that became due 1n December 2018,

(¢l The fair value decrease in debt related to hedge accounting for the year ended December 31. 2018 was S 14 mullion:
the impact in 2017 was not significant See Note 14 for addinonal information,

() In February 2019, Linde repaid $300 million of 1.90% notes that became due.
Credit Facilities

A

A1 December 31, 201%. the compam has the following mapor credin facitities ayailahble for future borrowimg

Total Borrowings Axailable for
Mitlions of dollars Facility Outstanding Borrowing Evpires
Praxair Senior Unsecured b 25000 % — N 2.500 Dec-19
Linde AG Revoelving Credu Faciht € 25000 0y — € 2504 Juf-20

In June 2007, Praxan entered o 2 $306 mullion 364-day revolymg credit facily soith g sandicate of anks which
expired in June 2018 and was not renew ed

The $2 5 bulion and €2.5 billion credit tactlities are with majon finaocal mstitutions and e non-cancelable by the
1ssuing financial institutions unut then respective maturities There are no financial covenants conmuned 1m the sgreement
refating to the Linde AG €2.5 ilhion credit tacihity . the enly financal covenant tor the semion unsecured 52 3 bithon credit
facihty reguares the company not o exeeed @ mavimoem “0%e leverave tatie: No bortow ings were vatstundimg under the credn
agreements as of December 31 2018

Covenants

Linde™s $2 5 bilhon semor unsecured credit tacitity and long-term debt agreements contam sanous cov enants which
may. among other things, restrict certan (vpes ot mergers and changes in beneficial ownership of the compuny. and the
abitity of the company o mmeur o1 guarantee debt. setl or transter certiim assets. create lens agmnst assels. enter e sale and
leaseback agreements. or pay dividends and mahe other distributions besond certain Timits - Fhese agreements alse require
Linde to not exceed a mavimum 70 feverage rane defined in the agreements as the ratio of consohidated 1otal debt 1o the
sum of consalidated total debt plus consohdated sharchalders equity of the company  Tor purposes of the Teverage rano
calculation. consolidated shareholders” equity exeludes changes m the cumulaus ¢ toreign currency ranslation adjustments
after June 30. 2011 At Decembet 31. 20§85, the actual lev erage ratio. as calculated according to the agreement, was 34% 0 and
the company is i comphiance with all financial covenants Also. there are no material adv erse change clauses or other
subjective conditions that would restrict the company “s abithty to borrow under the agreement

Orther Debt Information

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the weighted-ay erage interest rate of short-term borrowings outstanding was 0.6,
and 2 1%, respectinely The decrease m the rate vear-over-vear i< related primarthy to signidicant Furopean commercial paper
balances at negative iterest rates. which offsets the impact of highet rates on other bank borrowmgs

[apected matunides of long-term debt are as follows:

t Mitfions of doflars)

2019 h) 1.323
2020 .
2021 | %6
RITAN 2330
2023 1.78R
Thereaficr 46588

1]



As of Deceuber 31, 2015, %74 nullion of Linde’s assets were pledged as collateral for 381 mullion uf leng-term debt,
including the current portion of long-term debt. The camrving amounts of assets pledged as collateral for long-term debt are
dhisclosed prumarity under property, plant. and equipment and are included within buildings and transportation equipment and
other

In February 2016, Linde redesmed $325 million of 5.20%, notes due March 2017 resulting i a $16 mullion interesy
charge (310 million after-tas. or $0.04 per diluted shave).

See Note 15 for the fair value information related to debt
NOTE 14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In its normal operations. Linde 1s exposed to market risks relafing to fluctuations in mterest rates. foreign currency
exchange rates. energy costs and to a lesser eatent precious metal prices. The objective of financial risk management at Linde
15 10 minimize the negative impact of such fluctuations on the company’s earnings and cash flows, To manage these nisks,
arnong other strategies. Linde routinely enters into various derivative financial mstruments (“denvatives™) imcluding interest-
rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements. currency-swap agreements. forward contraces, currency options, and
‘commodity-swap agreemerts, These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes and Linde only uses commoniy
traded and non-leveraged instruments.

There are three types of derivatives that the company enters into: (1) those relating to fan-vaiue exposures. (i) thuse
relating to cash-flow exposures. and (v those relating 10 forergn curreney net iy estiment exposures. Fae-value exposures
relate to changes o the fair value of recognized assets or Habihities. primarily financial assets and financal liabihives. and
firm commitments Cash-flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or
labihtes, or forecasted transactions for which no underlying exposuie 1s vet reported in the consehdated balance sheet Net
imvestment exposures refate to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrving vatue of net ussets
denommated in foreign currencies.

When a derivativ ¢ s exnecuted and hedge accounting s appropriate. it s Jesignated as either a fannvalue hedge, cash-
flow hedge. or a net imvestment hedge Currently. Linde devignates the magonity of miterest-rate and treasurs-1ate Tochs as
hedges tor accounting purposes, hewever. curreney contracts are generally not designated as hedges tor accounting purposes
unless they are refated 1o forecasted transactions Whether designated as hedges for accounting purposes ot not. all
dernvatives are limked 1o an appropriate underlyving exposure On an ongoing basts, the company assesses the hedge
etfectiveness of all derivatives designated as hedges tor accounting purposes o determine if they continue 1o be nghly
effective in offsetting changes in farr values or cash flows of the underlving hedged items. If it is determuned that the hedge i«
not highly effective. then hedge accounting will be discontinued prospectively

Counterparties to Linde’s derivatives are major banking institutions with eredit ratings of investment grade or better
Ax of yeat-end. Limde A4 had existing Credit Support Annexes C"CS AT place with thewr principal counterpaties to
mnmmize potenttal default rish and to nittgate counterparty rick  Under the CSAs, the tun values of dernvatives tor the
purpose of mterest rate and currency management are collateralized with cash on a regular basis As of December 31, 20K,
the impact of such collateral posung arrangements on the fair value of dervauves was msigmificant. Management believes
the rish of incurring losses on derivative contracts related to credit rish is remote and any resulung losses would be
immatenal.

The following (able 1s a summary of the notional amount and gross faw values of derivatives outstanding at
December 31. 2018 and 2017 for consolidated subsidiaries:
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Fair Value

(Millions of dollars) Naotional Amounts Assets () Liabilities ()
December 31. 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Currency contracis
Balance sheet iteimns $ 6,337 § 2,693 8 248 i6 § 42 5 16
Forecasted ransactions 945 — 15 — 17 A
Interest rate/Cross-CurTency iterest jate
SWADS 2110 — 11z — 40 -
Coammaodin contracts — — 27 — 9 —
Derivatives Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Currency contracis
Balance sheet items 4 S-S RPN — % — % — % 2
Forecasted transactions 138 4 2 ] 3 —-
[nterest rare Contidcts
Interest rate swaps 2164 473 13 — ) —
Total Hedges & 2322 0% 517 % 15 % I % 13 % 2
Total Derivatives 11734 % 3210 % 193 % 17 % 1215 15
1) Current assets of 567 mulhon are recorded 10 prepaid and other current assets. Jong-term assets of S126 million are

recorded 1 other long-tenm assets. current habilities of 878 mullon are recorded 10 other current huabihies. and
long-term habihties of %43 mmllion are recorded in other long-term habilities

Balance Sheet Trems

Foreign currencs commtracts related to balance sheet items consist of forward contracts entered 1nto to manage the
evposute to fluctuations 1 forergn-currency exchange rates on recorded balance sheet assets and habilites denominated m
currencies other than the functional currency of the related operating unit. Certain forward currency contracts are entered into
to protect underly ing monetary assets and hatnlities denonunated in foreign currencies from foreign exchange rish and are
not designated as hedging instruntents For balance <heet items that are not designated as hedging mstruments. the fair value
adjustments on these contracts are ofiset by the fair value adjustments recorded on the underlving monetary wssers and
habihties

Linde also enter~ nto forward currency contracts. which are designated as hedging imstruments. to it the cash {low
eaposure on certamn foreign-currency denommated ntercompany loans. The fiur value adrustments on these contracts are
recorded to AQCI. with the effective portion immediately reclassified to earmmgs to offset the faur value adjustments on the
underlying debt mstrument.

Forecasted Transactions

Foreign currency contracts related to forecasted transactions consist of forward contracts entered mto to manage the
exposure to fluctuations m foreign-currency exchange rates on (1t forecasted purchases of capital-related equipment and
senvices, (2y forecasted sales. or {3y other forecasted cash flows denmminated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the related operating units For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash flow hedges. L value adjustments are
recorded to AOCT with deferred amounts reclassified to earmmngs over the same time period as the income statement impact
of the associated purchase, For forecasted transactions that do not qualify for cash flow hedaing relationships. tun value
adiustmenis are recorded direetly to carmngs

Interest Rare/Cross-Currency Interesr Rare Swaps

Cross-clrmeney nterest rate swaps are entered o 1o hout the forergn curreney nisk of future principal and mferest cash
flows associated with intercomipany loans. and 1o a moere imited extent bonds. denommated in non-functionat curtencies
The tair value adjustments on the cross-currencs swaps are tecarded to carnings. where they are offset by fair value
adjustments on the underlyving intercompany loan or bond,

Commodity Contracts

(43



Commadity contracts are entered into to manage the exposure to {luctuations in commodity prices. which arise in the normal
course of busmess from its procurement transactions. To reduce the extent of this risk. Linde enters mnto a limited number of
electricity. natural gas. and propane gas dern atives, As of December 31. 2018 these commodity contracts were not
designated as cash flow hedges. Therefore. the fair value adjustinents on these contracts are recorded to eamings and are
eventually offset by the income staternent impact of the underlving comumodity purchase,

Ner investment hedges

In 2014, Praxair designated the €600 million 1.50% Euro-denominated notes due 2020 and the €500 million
{S568 mitlion as of December 31. 2018) 1.625% Euro-denominated notes due 2025 as a hedge of the net investment position
in 1ts European operanons In 2016, Praxarr designated an incremental €530 million ($628 million as of December 3. 2018,
1.20% Euro-denvminated notes due 2024 as an additional hedge of the net investment position in its European operations.

On October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction and
becanme subsidiaries of the company 1n December 2018, as a condition of the merger, Praxair completed the sale of the
majority of its European operations to Tatyo MNippou Sanso Corporation. This significantly reduced the net investment
position in Praxarr’s European operations During the same month Praxanr also repaid the €600 mullion 1.50¢ Euro-
denomimnated notes due 2020, which significantly reduced the detn balance designated as a hedge In response to the above
transactions. Praxan de-designated €965 nullion of its Euro-denonunated netes At December 31. 2017 Praxair had
de-designated €200 numlhon of its Euro-denominated notes in response to the G.S. government-enacted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
and assocated decrease in the tax rate

These Euro-denominated debt mstruments reduce the company *s expuosure to changes in the currency exchange
rate on investments 1n foreign subsidiaries with Euro functional currencies. Since hedge inception. exchange rate movements
have reduced long-term debt by $202 million (long-term debt decreased by $105 million during the year ended December 31.
2018y, with the offsertmg gain shown withm the cumulative translation component of AQCL m the consohdated balance
sheets and the consolidated statements ot comprehensive income.

Interest Rare Swaps

Finde uses mterest rate swaps 1o hedge the exposure to changes n the tair value of financial assets and finaneial
habilities as a result ot mierest rate changes. These interest rate swaps effectively convert fixed-rate interest exposures to
vartable rates. tun value adiustments are recognized i earnings along with an equally offsetting charge-benefit to earmings

for the changes i the tair value ot the underlymnyg financial asset or financial habilny. The following table summarizes the
outstanding interest rate swaps for Linde as of December 31, 2018

2018 2017

US$ Derivative  Change in - USS Derisative  Change in
( Millions of dollarsy Notional Fair ¥ alue tbh) Notional Fair Value

L nderly ing debt instrument.

1.00° 0 Euro denominated notes due 2028 $ sl S 8§ % — S —
1.259, Notes due 2018 ¢a) - _ 475
0.250" o Euro denomunated notes due 2022 344 2 — _
2.00°%0 Buro denominated notes due 2023 287 2 — _
3.875% Euro denominated notes due 2021 287 1 o _
5.875% GBP denonminated notes due 2023 254 i — —
1 739 Euro denominated notes due 2019 229 (h) — _
1 754 Euro denominated notes due 2020 132 — — —
1.§75% Euro denominated notes due 2024 115 i — —_—
$ 2164 S 14 $ 475 3 —
() At December 31, 2017, Praxair had one outstanding mterest rate swap agreement with a $475 million notional

amount related to the $475 pmullion 1.25%, notes maturing in November 201 8. The increase in the fair value of this
note was less than 5] mullion. In November 201§ the notes were repard and the associated fixed-to-variable interest
rite swap was settled.

(b) In connection with the merger. Linde AG”s assets and hiabilities were measured at estimated fair value as of
October 31. 2018
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Terminated Treasury Rare Locks

The following table summarizes the unrecognized gams (losses) releted to erminated treasury rate lock contracts.,

(Mitlions of dollars)

Treasury Rate Locks

Underlying debt instrument.

Year
TFerminated

Lorvecognized Gain. (Loss) (as

Original
Gain 7 {Loss) 12/31/2018 1231217

$500 milhon 2.207¢ fixed-rate notes that matare m 2022 (b) 2012 % 2y 5 - % (13
$500 milhion 3.00% fixed-rate notes that mature m 2021 ib) 2011 (1h (3) %)
$600 million 4.50° 4 fined-rate notes that mature 1n 2019 (b.c} 2009 16 — 3
Total — pre-tay % (318 (GAR]
Less. mncome taxes I 1
After- tax amounts K (2 % (1)
(a The unrecoynized gams  (lossesy for the reasury tare lochs are shown in aceumulated other comprehensn e mcome

1"AOCT ) and are bemyg recognized on w straight ine basis to mterest expense

net o et the term of the uaderlvmg

debt agreements Refer to the table belew summarizing the impact of the conpain s consohiduted statements of

mcome and AOC T for current period gam (loss) recogiution

by he notional amount of the treasury rate lock conttacts are cqual to the underh my debt mstrument with the
exception of the treasury rate lock contract entered 1nto to hodge the S600 million 4507 fised-rate notes tha
mature 1n 2019 The national amount ot this contract was »300 mitlion

() In December 200K, Linde repard $600 melhion of 4 S0 notes that mature 1in 2019 The umecognized cam on the
i & 2

associated treasury rate lock was reclassified from other compichensn e mcome to imnterest expense

Impact of derivative instruments on carnings and A0CI

The foliowing wble summarizes the impact of the company s dernvatines not designated as hedgmg mstruments on the

consohidated statements of meome

tMilliony of dollarsy

December 31.

Derivatives ot Designated as Hedging Instruments

Currency contracts.
Balance sheet stems:
Debt-related
Other halance sheet irems

Total

* The pams tlosse~1 on balance <heet stems are offset by

Amount of Pre-Tax Gain (1 o)
Recogmized in Earnings -

2018 2017 2016
< (118 % 121 S 21

3 — 4
5 (115 5 121 S8 25

gains tiossest recorded on the underlymg hedged gswets and
liabihties Accordingly. the gams (Josses) for the dernvann es and the underly mg hedged assets and labiliies related to debt
items are recorded in the consolidated stutements of mcome as mterest expense-net The gams (lossesi on other balance sheet
items are recorded in the consolidared statements of mcone as other meome (expensesi-net



The follow ing table summarizes the impact of the company’s derivatives designated as hedging instruments that
impact AOCT

Amount of Gain {Loss) Reciassified

Amount of Gain (Loss) from AOCI io the Consolidated
(Mithons of dollars) Recognized in AOCI Statement of Income
December 31. 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments**
Currency contracts:
Net investment hedge § — $ — 3 4§ — 35 — 5 —
Forecasted transactions — l — — — —
Balance sheet items — th 1 — — —
Interest rate contracts:
Treasury rate locks — -- — (1) — (1
Total — Pre tax $ — 3 — % (3 3 (h & — % (1
Less: mcome taxes — — — — — 1
Total—Net of Taxes 3 — 35 — 5 (3 % (h % — 5 —

** The gains (losses) on net investment hedges are recorded as a component of AOCT within foreign currency translation
adustments 1n the consolidated balance sheets and consohidated statements of comprehensive mcome The gams (losses) on
forecasted purchases. balance sheet ttems. and treasury rate locks are recorded as a component of AQCT within derivative
instruments in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income There was no
ineffectiveness tor these istruments during 2018 or 2017, The gains (losses) on net myestment hedges are reclassified to
earmngs only when the related currency translation adjustments are required to be reclassified. usually upon sale or
liguidation of the imvestment The gams tlosses) for interest rate contracts are reclassified to earnings as interest expense —net
on a stratght-Tine basis over the remaining matunts of the underlving debt. Net losses of less than S1 million are expected 10
be reclassified ro earnings during 2019
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NOTL 15 FAIR N ALUL DISCLOSURES

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs (0 valuation technigues used to measure {an value into three broad levels
as follow s

Level 1 - quotad prices in active markets tor 1dentical assets or habilities

Level 2 - quoted prices for similar assets and habilities m activ e markets or mputs that are observable
] F

T evel 3 —mpults that are vnobservable (for exampie cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)

Assets and Liabilities Measured ar Faiv Value on a Recurring Basis

The follow mg table summuarizes assets and Jiabilitivs measured at fair value o a recuriing basis ut December 31, 2018
and 2017.

Fair Value Measurements Using

¢ VEitlions of doflar s Level i Eevel 2 fevel 3
2018 2017 MR 207 2018 2017
Assels
Derpvain e assets & — 5 -5 193 % |7 % — % -
I estments and securitnes = 22 -— -— — R —-
Total ~ 2208 b 193 % 17 % 30 0% —
Liabilities
Drevmvatve habilies N — 5 — N 120 & I8 & ~ —
* Investnents and securttios are recorded i prepand and other current dssets i the company 's consohidaied balance
<heets

The fan volues of the dermvarn e assers and Nabilines we based on market prices obtmned fromoimdependent brohers or
detetnuned using quaniiain ¢ models that wse as ther basis readity observable market parameters that are activels quoted
and can be vabidated thiough extenmasl seurces, maduding third-parny pricing sers wes, brokers and murket transactions
Level imsestments and secunities are marketable secunties traded on an exchange Level 3 mvestments and seeurtties
consist of g venture fund [ or the valuanon, Linde uses the net asset value recened as part of the tund’s quarterhy reporting.,
wlneh for the most part 15 not based on gquoted prices m active markets In order 10 retlect current market condstions, Linde
proporuenalls adjusts these by observable market data (stock exchange prices) or current transaction pres,

The followmy table summarizes the changes m level 3 v estments and securities for the vears ended December 31,
2008 and December 31,2017 Gaines dlosses) recopnized w carmimgs are recorded tomerest expense — net i the company s
consolidated statements of moome

e Mitions of dolturs 2018

Balance at Januany | 5 —
Merger mmpact 2N
Gains (losses) recogmzed 1 earnings 2
Balance at December 31 % 30

The fan value of cash and cash equivalents. short-terin debt. accounts recervables-net, and accounts payable
approximate cares ing value because of the short-term matuntics of these instruments

The tuit value of long-tern debt s estmated based on the guoted market prices for the same or simular 1s<ues. Long-
term debt i categotized within erther Level [or Level 2 of the tair value hierarchy depending on the trading v olume of the
ssties and whether o not they are actively quoted m the market as opposed 1o traded through o er-the-counter ransacuons.,
Linde AG™~ Jong-term debtis primaniy categonzed withm Level 1| measurements as the magornity of the Linde AG bond
porttolio s publicly naded At December 31, 2018, the estimated farr value of Linde™s fong-term debt portfolio was
L3725 mulhon versus o carmving value of STARTT mullion As Linde AG s assets and habilities were measured at estimated
faur value as of the merger date. differences between the cartvimg value and the faw v alue are magnificant. remaming
differences are auributable o interest rate mereases subsequent o when the debt was 1ssued and relatnve to stated coupon
rates At Decembet 31, 2017, the estunated farr vatue of Linde s long-term debt portfolio was $8.969 nullion versus a
cartving value of S0 2 mllion

o~



NOTE 16. EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde plc Shareholders® Equity

Al December 31, 2018, Linde has 1otal authorized share capital of €1.825.000 divided mto 1.750.000.000 ordinary
shares of €0 001 each. 23.000 A ordinary shares of €1.00 each. 25.000 deferred shares of €1.00 each and 25,000,000
preferred shares of €0.001 each.

At December 31, 2018 there were 551.310,272 and 547.241,630 of Linde plc ordinary shares 1ssued and outstanding,
respectively. At December 31. 2018 there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or
outstanding

A1 December 31. 2017 there were 800,000,000 shares of Praxair common stock authorized (par value $0.01 per share)
of which shares 383,230,625 were 15sued and 286,776,991 were outstanding at December 31. 2017, At December 31, 2017,
there were 25,000.000 shares of Praxair preferred stock (par value $0.01 per share) authorized, of which no shares were
issued and outstanding.

Linde’s Board of Directors may from time 1o ime authonze the issuance of one or more series of preferred stock and.
in connection with the creation of such series, determine the characteristics of each such sertes including, without limitation.
the preference and relative. participating. optional or other special rights. and the qualifications. limitations or restrictions of
the series.

Merger of Praxair and Linde AG

Followme 1~ a summary of the Linde ple shareholders” equity transactions related to the merger.

Additionat Paid in

Ordinary Shares Capital Treasury Stock
(Dollar amewnts 1n millions, shares in thowsands) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Merger with Linde AG (ay 263148 % - 8 43288 — % -
Conversion ot Praxair to Linde ple shares (b) - (3) 3 — —
Cancellation of Praxar Treaswry stock () (95.324) (7113 (95 3240 7132
Impact of Linde AG merges 167,824 % (31 s 16,178 (95324 % 70113
(a) The total fair value of constderation transferred for the merger was $43,288 nullion, resulung in an increase to

“Additional paid-m capital” n stockholders™ equity (see Note 3 for additnonal mformation).

(b On October 31, 2018, the comversion of Pravair common stock and Linde AG common stock into Linde ordinary
shares resulted g $3 mullion decrease 1o “Ordinary Shares™ with a corresponding nerease to “Additional paid-in
capital™ m stockholders™ equiry,

(<) Each share of Praxair common stock held in treasury immediately prior to the merger was canceled. The elunination
of Praxair’s historical treasury stock at cost resulted in a $7.113 million decrease v “*Treasury stock™ and
“Additional paid-in capital™ in stockholders™ equity

As indicated above. in connection with the merger. Praxair and Linde AG common stock was converted nto shares of
Linde pic ordinary shares. The following table provides a summary of the share activity resulting from the merger:

fin thousands. except Linde AG exchange ratio)

Linde pic shares exchanged for Linde AG shares

Linde AG common stock tendered as of October 31. 2018 (i) 170,875
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) 154
Linde ple ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Linde plc shares issued 1o Praxair shareholders upon conversion

Praxair shares outstanding at merger date 287.007
Total Linde plc shares issued at merger date 551,055
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(i) Number of Linde AG shates tendeicd 5 tae 200 Dacliange Difiel

1i) Exchange ratto for Linde Ads slores as som 0 10 1o bsiess Lognl i e agreenent

Other Linde pic Ordinary Sharve and Treasury Stock Transaciions

Linde may issue new ordinary shares shares fon divadend 1enn 2stiment and stoch purchase plans and emplon e savings
and incentive plans The number of new Linde ordmary shares ~hares issucd trom merger date thiongh December 31, 2018
was approximately 235 thousand shares Prior to the merger. Pravarr 1ssoed shares refated to such activity our of treasury
stock.

On December 10, 2018 the Linde board of directurs approved the repurchase ot $1 0 bithon of it> comumon stock under
which Lmde had repurchased 4.005.642 shares through December 31 2018 Subsequenthy. on January 22, 2619 the
company '« board of directars anproved the addinonad repuchase of So G bilhon of its common yodk.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling mterest cwnership chanees are presented vwotinn the consolidated <taiements of eguity Lhe
S186 milhion decrease duting Z00S primznily 1elaies o the wale 0 Proson s mdustneal pases husiness in Lutope (2ee Notes |
and 43 The “Impact of Merger™ fing irem of the consolidatod siiements of eqriy chudes the o valae tiie
noncontrolling mterests acquired ftom Dinde 3G mctadmz the 2 o Dinde A shares whieh woere not tendered mothe
Exchange Offer and are mtended to be the subiect of socish-tner 221 squecsze-oul See Naote 3.

The S15 nulhon merease durme 2017 relaes o e baidime provided o PO Technologes LLC 0 PGET by the
JOHIL A SIS Partiet

The 20 mulhon mereas dunng 2070 redates o the salo of a0 ovwnorship mterest m a maporiy -om ned 1eint ventitee n
India durmy the thid guarter oftset by ihe formationg 0 PG G rrnanine omeped qomt sentwre witl, GF Aviateon The 2006
“Additions (Reductions ™ hine itens o the consolidared statcneses S5 cquaty abse meludes an mworeese o Addionad Paid-In
Capital resulting trom the sale of the nopcontionng imerest to the PO jomt ventwre partier

Redeemable Nonconvrolling Fnreresis

Noncontrothing imrerests with redemipiion featiies ~ooh e put sl oprons, that are not solels wottan the company s
control Credeemable noncentrolling mremest="v e reported sopetateh e the consolidated balance staoets ar the cremer ol
carrving value v redemption value Do redecmabde noconitoding imtacsts than are nod yvet exercesable inde caleutates the
redemption salue by aeereting the varsving value te the tedemption vatae o the penod untal exercesable the redemption
value 1s greater than the cantving value. e metease 1 adiosted Jircdtly wedetained earnings and docs not impact net income,
At December 31 200X the redeemable noncontzedbene mteres ol dice i lides one pachaged eos Jistoboror vy the T oasted
States where the noncontretling ~harchalder bas o pat spnon

The tollowimg i~ a ~ummary of tedeenmable noncontolbng oocrests tor B sears endad Dovenber -1 200 2007 and
2016
( Millions of dollars; 2K 2017 e
Beginning Balance ~ s % 113
Net income 3 z 3
Distnibunons to noncontiolhing mieiest Pl 13 (2
Redemption value adjustiment accretion 3 I (6O
Foreign currency translation and othe — 7
Purchase dnvestitute of nonconnotimg miete s — (104
Ending Balance ~ AT s 11
B3 I

In Jume 20060 Lnwde aogquored the remammane 240 ~tadb o i o Scandme o ot venture tor S T4 nadhon The vash
pasmrent refated to this aoquisition s shovorm the Binsdmg section Ut conselidated statemernits of cash flows

under the caption “Noncentrolliag ioreoar s asactions pmd other 7 as there vas po e o centnol



NOTE 17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-based compensation expense was $62 mllion m 2018 (339 million and $39 million 11 2017 and 2016,
respectively). The related mcome tax benaetit recogmzed was S30 mithon 1n 2018 ($53 million and $32 milhon m 2017 and
2016. respectively). The expense was primarily recorded in selling. general and administrative expenses and no share-based
compensation expense was capitalized

Sunnmnary of Plans

The 2009 Praxair. Inc Long-Term Incentive Plan was initially adopted by the beard of directors and shareholders of
Praxair. Inc. on Apnl 28. 2009 and has been amended since its 1nitial adoption (“the 2009 Plan”). Upon completion of the
business combination of Praxair. Ine, with Linde AG on Ocrober 31. 2018, the 2009 Plan was assumed by the company. Prior
to April 28, 2009, Praxair, Inc, granted equity awards unde1 the 2002 Praxair. Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan . (*the 2002
Plan™) which was also assumed by the company upon completion of the business combination. The 2009 Plan permits
awards of stock options. stock appreciation rights. resticted stock and resiricted stock umts. performance-based stock units
and other equity awards to eligible officer and non-officer emplovees and non-employee directors of the company and 1ts
affiliates. As of December 31. 201¥. 8 009.603 shares remamed available for equity graats under the 2009 Plan. of which
2.600,000 shares may be granted as awards other than options or stock appreciation rights.

In 2005, the board of directors and shareholders of Praxair. Inc. adopted the 2003 Equity C empensation Plan for
Non-Employee Directors of Praxair, Inc 1“the 2005 Plan™ Upon completion of the business combmation i October 2018,
the 2005 Plan was alse assumed by the company Under the 2003 Plan. the aggregate number of shares avanlable for eption
and other equity grants was limited to o 1otal of 500,000 shares The 20035 Plan expired on April 30, 2011 by its own terms.
and no shares were available for grant thereafier.

Upon the completion of the business combmation. all options outstanding under the 2009 Plan, the 2002 Plan and the
2005 Plan were converted mto options to acquire the same number of shares of the company and at the same exercise price
per share that applied prior to the business combuation

.

Exercise prices tor options granted under the 2009 Plan may not be tess than the closing market price of the company”
ordinary shares on the date of grant and granted optrons max not be re-priced o1 exchanged without shareholder approval
Options granted under the 2000 Pian subject only 1o tme vesting requirements may become parbally excreisable after a
muimum of one year atier the date of grant but may not become fully exercisable until at least three vears have elapsed From
the date of grant. and all ophions have o maximum duration of ten vears Opbons granted under predecessor plans had simily
terms.

In connection with the business combmation, on October 31, 2018 the company "s Board of Dircetors adopted the Long
Term Incentive Plan of Linde ple (“the LTIP 20187 the purpose of which 1~ to replace certain outstanding Linde AG equity
based awards that were ternunated  Under the LTIP 2018 the aggregate number of shares avanlable for replacement option
rights and replacement restricted share units was set at 473128 As of December 31, 2015, all shares remamed availabic tor
grant. as the Company 1s not obligated to make these replacement awards until 2079,

Exercise prices tor the replacement option rights to be granted 1n 20149 under the LTIP 2018 will be equal to ELUR 1 67
as preseribed in the busimess combination agreement Each replacement option right granted undei the LTIP 2018 wall be
subject to vesting based on continued service untif the end of the four-vear wairting period applicable to the relevant Linde
AG award that had been granted before the business combination. After vesting, each option right will be exercisable for one
year.

In order to satisfy option exercises and other equity grams, the Company may 1ssue authonzed but previously umssued
shares or it may issue treasury shares,

Sreck Option Fair Value

The company utilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model to determine the fair 1alue of stock options consistent
with that used in prior vears Management is required to make certain assumptions with respect to selected modet inputs.
including anticipated changes in the underlyving stock price (i.e.. expected 1 olatility) and option exercise activity (1.e ,
expected life). Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the company’s stock over the most recent period
commensurate with the estimated expected Life of the company’s stock options and other factors. The expected bife of options
granted. which represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outsianding, 1s based primarily on historical
exercise experience. The expected dividend yield is based on the company s most recent history and expectation of dividend
payouts. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasurv vield curve in effect at the time of grant for a period commensurate
with the estimated expected life. If factors change and result in different assumptions 1 future perrods. the stock option
expense that the company records for future grants may differ significantly from what the company has recorded in the
current period.

110




The werghted-av erage fair value of options granted during 2018 was 319 20481240 1m0 2017 and $5 91 In 2010 based
on the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing model The increase m gramt date {air v alue vear-os er-year s prunarily atributable to
an increase m the company's stock price.

The following weighred-av erage assumptions were used to vadue the grants in 2018, 2007 and 2010

Y ear Ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Dividend vield 2 1% 27% 299,
Volatility 13.4% 14.0% [44°,
Risk-free merest 1ate 2.07% 2 03%, J4iv e
Expected term vears s 6 &

[x]

The foliow ing wble summarnzes opuon acun uy under the plans as of December 31, 2015 and changes during ihe period
then ended taverages are calculated on a welghred basis. life i vears: mrinsie value expressed m mulhons).

Number of Ay erage Average Anoreeate
Options Exercise Remaming Intrinsic

Actirvity 10097} Price Life N alue
Outstanding at January 1. 201 0787 S [OR.70
Granted F.625 154 0y
Enercised T Gs "8
Cancelled oi exprred (74 1319
Outstandimg at December 31, 201s 10624 % I17 65 290N JUR
Exergisable at December 51 2018 RS RN 47 0% 317

Ihe aggregate nrinsic vabue represcnis the ditterence between the compans “~ dostinyg stock price of S 156 (4 as ol
Al

December 31, 201 and the exerorse price muluplicd by the number ol the money ophions outstanding as of that date The
total trmsic value of stock opttons exercrsed dutme 2018 was ST milhon (ST37 mdhon and S82 milhon m 2017 and

2016, respectinely)

Casirecenved from opuon exercises under all share-based payvment arrangements for 208 swas $06 nilhon
(S HO7 mibon and S 128 miathon i 2007 aad 20160 sespectively ), The cash tay benetit realized from share-based
compensation totaled S30 muliion for 2008 531 nuthion and $32 nalhon cash tay benefit n 2007 and 2016, respectively s

As of Decetber 3 2018, 510 musthon ot antecoenized compensation cost related 1o non-vested stock aptions 18

expocted to he recognized over 4 werghted-av erage pertod of approsmmateis | vear
Performuance-Based and Restricted Stoch Awards

No performance-based stock awards woere granted 1in 2018 as restricted stock unsts were granted m place of
put formance-bused stock awards in yeurs prion (o 20180 the company granted petlomniance-based stock aw ards under e
2009 Plan to senior management that vest. subject 1o the attainment of pre-established munmmum performance criteria.
principally on the third anniversary of their date of grant. These awards were tied to either return on capital ("ROC™)
performance or relatin e 1otal shareholder return (*TSR™) performance versus that of the S&P 300 The actual number of
shares issued in <ertlement of a vested award can range from zero to 200 percent of the target number of shares granted based
upon the compam *s attamment of specified performance targets at the end of & three-vear period Compensation expense
related 1o these awards 1< recogmized over the three-vear performance perod based on the fan value of the closing matket
price of the company "< ardinary shares on the date of the grant and the estimated performince that will be achies ed
Compensation expense for ROC awards were adpusied during the three-sear performance pertod based upon the estimated
petformance levels that will be achieved TSR avwards were measured at then grant date fur s alue and not subsequenty
Te-mensured

The weighted-average far value of ROC perfermance-hased ~tock avwards gianting dunng 2017 and 20016 was S109 65
amd 593 46 respectively . These far values are based on the closimg marker price of Linde ~ ordimary <hares on the prant date
adjusted for dividends that swill not be pand during the vexting period

The werghted-average tawr value of performance-hased stock tred 1o relatnve TSR performanee granted durmg 2017 was
SI24 P22 0S8 n 20060 and was estimated vsmg o Monte Carlo simulation performed a- ot the gran dare
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Upon completion of the inerger. eacli varstandmg ROC and TSR performance-based avward was comverted into a L inde
RSU based on performance achieved as of immediately prior to the closing of the merger. and became subject to service-
vestrg conditions only. This resulted 1n the comversion of 435,000 performance-based shares into 704.000 restricted stock
units Compensarion expense related ro these awards will contimue to be recogmzed over the remainder of the respective
three-vear service period.

There were 275,907 restricted stock units granted 10 emplovees by Praxair durmg 2018 The weighted-average fair
value of restricted stock units granted during 2018 was $144.686 ($111.93 m 2017 and $98.18 in 2016). These fair values are
based on the closing market price of Linde’s ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends that will not be paid
during the vesting period. Compensation expense related to the restricted stock units is 1ecognized over the vesting period.
These awards were converted into eguivalent Linde restricted stock units at the time of the business combnation.

The followmg table summarizes non-vested parformance-based and restricted stock award activity as of December 3 1.
2018 and changes during the period then ended (shares based on target amounts. axerages are calculated on a weighted basis 1

Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Number of Average Number of Average

Shares Grant Diate Shares Grant Date

1008°s) Fair ¥ alue (000"s) Famr Value
Non-vested at Japuarny 1. 2018 ATV I t13.40 2od b 107.56
Granted — -- 279 143 86
Vested (79} L1998 {153y 117.67
Award comversions {435) — 704 —
Cancelied and Forfetted (151 110,29 {23y 11141
Non-yvested at December 31, 2018 — - 1.071 % 11884

There are approximatets 12 thousand restricted stock shares that are non-vested at Decembet 31, 2018 which will be
settled mcash due to forergn regulmon Iimitations The habdny related o these gramts rettects the current estmine of
performance that will be achieved and the carrent ordmary <hares price

As of December 31, 2018530 milhon of unrecognized compensation cost related o the testricted siock awards is
eapected to be recogmzed primarily through the first quarter ot 2021

NOTE 18. RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans — U8,

Linde has two mam US retrement programs which are non-contributory defined benetit plans: the Linde Pension
Plan and the CB] Pension Plan The fatter program benefits pomartdy former employees of CBI Industries, Inc, which Linde
acquired in 1996, Effective July 1. 20020 the Linde Pension Plan was amended to give participating employees o one-time
choree to reman covered by the old formula or to elect coverage under a new formula The old formula 15 based
predominantly on years of service, age and compensation levels prior to retirement, while the new formula provides for an
annual contribution to an individual account which grows with interest each vear at a predetermined rate. Also, this new
formula applies to all new emplovecs hired after April 30. 2002 into businesses adopting this plan. The U.S and international
pension plan assets are comprised of a diversitied mix of investments. includmg domestic and international corporate
equities. government securities and corporate debt sccurities. Linde has several plans that provide supplementary retirement
benefits primanly to higher level employvees that are unfunded and are nonquabified for federal tax purposes. Penston
coverage for employees of certain of Lmde’s international subsidiaries generally 1s provided by those companies through
separate plans. Obligations under such plans are peimartly provided for through dinersified investment portfolias, with some
smailer plans proyided for under insurance policies or by book reseryves

Defined Benefit Pension Plans — International

Linde has international. defined benefit commutments primarily in Germany and the United Kingdom (U.K.1. The
defined benefit cammitments m Germamy relate to old age pensions. invahidity pensions and sun iving dependents pensions
These commutments also take into account vested rights for periods of service prior to January 1. 2002 based on earhier final-
salary pension plan rules. In addition. there are direct commitments in respect of the salary conversion scheme for the form
of cash balance plans. The resulting pension payments are calculated on the basts of an interest guarantee and the
performance of the corresponding iy estment There are no minimum funding requirements. The pension obligations m
Germany are partly funded by a Contractual Trust Agreement {CTA). Defined benefit commitments in the UK prior to
July 1. 2003 are earmings-related and dependent on the penod of service. Such commutments relate 1o old age pensions.
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i alidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. Beginning m April 1, 2011. the amoeunt of future mcreases
inflation-linked pensions and of ncreases m pensionable emoluments was restricted.

Multi-employer Pension Plans

In the United States Linde participates in six multi-emplover defined benefit pension plans ¢ "MEPS™ ) pursuant to the
terms of collective bargaming agreements, coverning approximately 200 union-represented emplovees. The collecting
bargaining agreements expire on different dates through 2021 In connection with such agreements. the company 15 required
to make periodic contributions to the MEPs in accordance with the terms of the respective collective bargaining agreements.
Linde s participation it these plans is not material either at the plan level or 1n the aggregate. Linde’s contributions to these
plans were $2 million m 2018, 2017, and 2010 tthese costs are not included in the tables that follows. For all MEPs. Linde's
contributions were significantly less than 1%o of the total contributions to each plan for 2017 and 2016. Total 2018
contributions were not vet available from the MEPs.

Linde has obtained the most recently available Pension Protection Act ¢*PPA™) annual funding notices from the
Trustees of the MEPs. The PPA classifies MEDPs as either Red. Yellow or Green zone plans Among other tactors. plans in
the Red zone are generally less than 65 percent funded with a projected insolvency date within the next twenty years: plans in
the Y ellow zone are generally 63 to 80 percemt funded: and pians n the Green zone are generally ar least RO percent funded.
According to the most current data avadable. three of the MEPs that the company participates m are in 2 Red zone status and
three are in a Green zone status. As of December 31. 2018, the three Red Zone plans have pending or have implemented
financial mmpren ement or rehabilitation plans Linde does not currently anticipate sigmficant future obhigations due o the
funding status of these plans. It Linde determined 1t was probable that it would withdraw from an MEP. the company would
record a habihity tor its porvion of the MEP's untunded pension obligations, as calialated af that e Histoncalhy | such
withdraw al payments hav e not been sigmficant.

Defined Conrribution Plans

Linde's U S business emplovees are ehgble to participate 1 the Linde detimed contribotion san mes plan, Emplovees
may connibute up o 40% of their compensation. subject to the masunum aliowable by RS regulations. forthe t S,
pachaged gases business, company contributions 1o thes plan dre caleulated s a percentage of salarny based on age plus
service LLS emplovees other than those mn the packaged gases business have company contnbutions 1o this plan calceulated
on a graduated scale based on employee contributions o the plan, The cost for these defined contmbution plans was
$33 mullion in 2018, %29 mithon in 2017 and $2& muilion in 2016 cthese costs are not included m the tables that follow )

The defined contribution plans include a non-ley eraged emplovee stack ownership plan ("ESOP™y which covers all
employ ees participating 1n thus plan The collective number of shares of Linde ordimary shares m the ESOP towaled 2381714
at December 31, 2018

C ertain mternational subsidiaries of the company also sponsor detined coninbution plans whete contributions are
determmed under yanous formulas, The expense o1 these plans was 532 mulhion m 200N 21 mdhon in 2017 and
18 ullon in 2416 (these expenses are not mcluded o the tables thar follow )

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

Linde provides health care and life msurance benefits 1o certam eligible retired employees. These benefits are provided
through various insurance companies and healthcare providers Linde 15 also obligated to make payments for a portion of
postretirement benefits related to retirees of Linde’s former parent. Additionally. as part of the CBI acquisition in 1996,
Linde assumed responsibility for healtheare and life insurance benefit obligations for CBI's retired emplovees. All
postretirement healthcare programs have cost caps that hmit the company’s exposure to future cost mereases In addition. as
part of the renrement elections made for July 1. 2002, eligible emplovees were unen the choice of maimntainmg coverage n
the current retirec medical design (as mav be amended from time to time ). or (o mote to a design whereby coverage would
be provided. but with ae Linde subsidy whatsoever Alse, all new employees hured aficr Apri] 300 2002 1mi0 a business
adopring these plans will not receive a conmpany subsidy  Linde does nat carrently fund s postretirement benefits
obhigations, Linde™s retiree plans may be changed or termunated by Linde at any time for any reasan with no liabihity 1o
current or future retirees

Linde uses a measurement date of Decembet 31 for its pension and other post-retirement benelit plans
Pension and Postretiremens Benefir Costs

The components of net pension and postretirement benefits other than pension ("OPFB™1 casts for 2018, 2017 and
2016 are shown i the table below (2018 reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger on October 31 2018 ¢wee Notes | and 3

4

and the divestiture of Prasar’s Furopean industrial gases busmess on December 3. 2018 twece Naotes Fand 4 1)
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. OPE
(Millions of dollars) Pensions JPCB
Year Ended December 31. 2018 017 2016 2018 2017 016

Amount recognized in Operating Profit

Service cost $ 408 46 05 45 8 2% ER 2
Amount recognized in Net pension and OPEB
cost (benefit), excluding service cost

Interest cost 128 103 160 5 5 6
Expected return on plan assets (219) (161 {1537) — — —
Net amortization and deferral 71 68 0 t3) {3 (3
Curtailment gam (a) — — — — (18) —
Settlement charges (b) 14 2 4 — —
$ (0) $ 12§ 6 § 2 5 i16) § 3
Ameount recognized in Net gain on sale of
businesses
Settlement gains from divestitures (c) (44 — — — -~ —
Net periodic benefit cost (benefit) S 2405 58 0% 515 4 S (13 % B
{a) The curtatlment gam recorded dunng the vear ended December 31, 2017 resulted from the ternunation of an OPEB
plan m South America n the first quarter.
(b) 2018 includes the impacts of a $4 million charge and a $10 mullion charge recorded in the third and fourth quarters,

respectively. In the third quarter. a series of lumyp sum benefit pavments made from the U.S. supplemental penston
plan triggered a settlement of the related pension obligation. In the fourth quarter. a change in control provision
triggered the settlement of'a U.S. non-qualified plan 2017 includes the rmpact of a $2 milhon charge related to a
series of lump sum benefit payments for emplovees under an mternattional pension plan 2016 includes a charge of
$4 mullion related primarly to the rearement of senior managers in the Uinited Siates (see Note 2

{c) In connection with Praxair merger-related divestitures, prinarily the European industrial gases business. certain
European pension plan obligations were settled. This resulted in the recognition of associated pension benefit
obligations and deferred losses in accumulated other comprebensive income tloss) within operating profit m the
“Net gam on sale ot busingsses™ line item.

Funded Status

The changes in benefit obligation and plan asscts foi Linde™s penston and OPEB programs. imcludhing reconciliation of
the funded status of the plans to amounts recorded 1n the consolidated balance sheet, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are
shown below (2018 reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger on October 31, 2018 (see Notes 1 and 3y and the divestiture
of Pranair’s European industrial gases business on December 3. 2018 (see Notes | and -hy
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(Aidlions of dollars)
Y ear Coded Detember 3.

Change in Benefit Obligation (~PBO”)
Benefir obligation. January |
Merger mipact ay
Sermvice cost
Interest vont
Divestitures (b
Participant contributions
Plan amendment
Actuaral loss tgaim
Benefits pard
Plan curtwiimam
Fonergn curreney translaton and
uther changes
Renetit obbyanon. Decembet 3]
vecunubated benefit obhigation
("ABG )

Change in Plan Assers
Fan value of plaassets Januars |
Nlerger iyt 1
Setad retunn on plan assels
Compans contibutions
Benetits paid fiom plan asscis
Dyivestiames thy
Forergn cureney translation and
vther changoes
Fan valug of plan asscts.
Precomber 3

Funded Stacos. End of Y car

Recorded in the Balance Sheet (Note 9)

Other Jong-terny assels

Ohicy carrent liabilities

Oither fong-term habilities

Net amoun recognized.

December 31
Amounts recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss)
consist of:

Net actaartal Toss eam

Pror service ¢o ~dity

Deterred tax by sote T

Amount recogniz sumtilated

othet votnprehen
1Nore Y)

e Hoss)

Fensions

2018 2017 OPEB
Us. Inter national U.Ss, [nternational 2018 2017
hY 2,218 08 72508 2,066 5 606§ 146 S I56
413 06,920 — — 53 [
12 32 32 14 2 3
74 54 70 32 5 =
— {106} — - — —
— 4 — —- 9 (5)
— 1 _ —- —
{100y 7 153 b el (6}
{13%) (84 (106} 143 (16, (13
— — - — (6
- (20, — 47 th 1
b ARTDE S § 7533 0% 220808 725 % In4 S 16
\) 2428 % TANS % 2013 0 691
N lLosx % 367 0% 1507 & ATV - N -
473 SN — - -
(T2 IR 243 14 -
- B 4 P= -
106 (6 (9o 137
- (_],Lj) N —
— (24) i3 - -
S Lus2 s 6292 % 1,635 % St ~ - % —-
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% i7 % 93 g — % 17 % - % - -
{94 Vith 1im {7 {13 ey
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i R AN 33 % S04 92 S (23 N il5
10 - - Il i35} {0y
1212 (8T (309, 147 - 9
S 022 % 202 % 495 N 156 & (20 S 12




(a) Represents [inde AG plan assets and benefit obhigations assumed as patt of the merger. Such plan assets and benefit
obligations were remeasured as of the merger date and all subsequent activiry through December 31, 2018 15
presented within the respective captions above.

Funded starus mformarion as of December 31, 2018 for select international pension plans 1s presented 1n the tabie
below as the benefit obligations of these plans are considered to be significant relative to the total benefit obligation:

United Kingdom Germany Other International Taotal International
iMillions of dolars) 2018 2018 M 2018
Benefit obligation. December 31 $ 4444 § 1916 § 1.173 % 7.533
Fair value of plan assets. December 31 4,339 1.043 910 6,292
Funded Status, End of Year $ (105 § (873) § (263) § (1.241)
(b} Represents plan assets and benefit obligations associated with the divestiture of the majority of the Praxair industrial

gases busiess in Furope.

The changes 1 plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensiye meome m 2018 and 2017 are as
follows.

Pensions OPEB
(Millions of doflars) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Current year net actuanal losses (gans)* b 286 % 34 05 (I % (6}
Amortization of net actuanal gains (losses) (7t 167} 2 1
Divestitures t12) — — —
Amortization of prior <ervice credits (Costs) th T l 2
Pension settiements (Note 5) i1+ RS — —-
Curtarlments — — - 12
b oreign currency translation and other changes 116) L3 } (2}
Total recogmzed 11 other comprehensive mcome ¥ 173 5 (23) % (7)) 5 7
* Pension net actuanial losses in 2018 are primarily driven by a lower actual return on plan assets. which more than

oftset the benefit derived from favorable habihts experience Pension net actuarial losses in 20417 are dniven by
tower U S, discount rates. which more than offset favorable plan asset expericnce. OPEB net actuanal gaims m 2018
refate to the benefits from higher U'S discount rates and favorable actual participant expertence and net actuanal
gains 1n 2017 relate primarily to tavorable hability experrence

The amounts 1 accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that are expected to be recognized as components of
net periodic benefit cost during 2019 are as follows:

(Millions of doilars) Pension OPEB

Net actuarial loss (gain) 5 54 % (3

Prior service cost (credit} 2 N
$ 56 % (4

The following table provides information for pension plans where the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair
value of the plan assets.

Pensions
2018 2017
(Millions of doflars) L.S. International L.5. International
) ear Ended December 31,
Projected benetlt obligation ("PBO™} 5 2139 % 6,681 S 2215 % 39]
Accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO™) 3 2.060 % 6.586 S 2113 0% 383
Fair value of plan asscts A 1482 S 5307 % 1.655 % 215




$ssumptions

The assumpuons used 1o determine benetit obligations are as of the respective balance sheet dates and the assumptions
used 1o determune net benetit cost are as of the presious vear-end. as <hown below:

Pensions
.8, international QOPEB
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Werghted v ervige wsspmiptians used o dorermine
benetit oblisutions ur December 31,
Discount rate 4.20% 3.61% 272% 4.46% 4.16% 3589,
Rate of mcrease in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.38% 3.535% N/A N A
Weighted v orage assumptions used ro determine
net periodic hencpit cost for vears ended
Decenther 31,
Discount rate 3 73Y, 4.054, 2730 5.00%, 351y 4219
Rate ot merease in compensation levels 3 25% 3.25%, 245 3.73% N A NA
Expected lonu-tenm rate of return on plan
assets (14 AR SO0 513% T.91% NOA N A
th The expected fong term rate v return on the ULS and mternatonal plan assets 15 estimated based on the plunsy’

investnrent strategy and asset allocanon. historical capital market performance and. 1o a lesser extent. historical plan
performance Forthe LS plans. the expected rate of return ot 7 62%: was derived based on the target asset
alfocation of He-60" 0 oguity secuntties tapprosimately 9 3% expected returnk 30%6-50% fised income securties

tapprosamaiely 3 3% eapected returnt and 5%6-1 5% alternativ e myvestments (approximatels 70 expected return)
For the mternational plans. the expected rate of return was dern ed based on the weighted average target asaet
aliocation of T3%a-253%0 equity securtties fapprosamately 100 expected return. 30%0-50% fixed mcome securities
vapproy imately 7 3% evpected return), and 30%0-40" ¢ alternativ e vestments (approsimately 7 5% evpected retarn)
Forthe [ S plan assets. the actual annualized total return tor the most recent 10-vear pertod ended December 31,
201N was approvimatels § 4480 For the mternational plan assets, the actual annualized total return tor the same
peniad wax approvmatels 6.26% Changes 1o plan asset allocations and investment strategy vver this time period
Jlmut the value of nstoreal plan performance as tactor m estimating the expecied long term rate of return Tor 2019,
the expected Jong-term rate of returm on plan assets will be 7 50%, for the U S plans, Fapected werghted average

returts tor mternational plans will vary

INSrfC G et ol con e fadles

Praxair, Inc,
Healtheare cost rend assumed

Rate to which the cost mrend rate 15 assumed to dechime (the ultimate trend rate)

Yeat that the rate reaches the wlumate trend rate
Linde 4G

Healtheare cost rrend assumed

Rate 1o which the cost tend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimmate trend rate)

Y ear that the rute reaches the ultimate trend rate

OPEB
2018 7
6.25% 650",
5.00“ 0 S “““ &3
2023 2023
5490,
G300,
2038

These healtheare cost trend rate assumptions have an impact on the amounts reported However, cost caps limit the

impact on the net OPEB benefit costin the U S, To diustrate the effect a one-percentage pomt change in as~sumed



healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One-Percentage Point

(Millions of dollars) [ncrease Decrease

&

Effect on the total of ser 1ce and interest cost components of net OPEB benefit cost & —
Effect on OPEB benefit obligation $ 7

>
N

Pension Plan Assets

The investments of the LS. pension plan are managed to meet the future expected benetit liabilities of the plan o er
the long term by mvesting n drversified portfolios consistent with prudent diversification and historical and expected caprtal
market returns. When Linde became an independent, publicly traded company in 1992, its former parent retained all
liabilities for its term-vested and retired employees. Linde’s plan received assets and retaimned pension habilites for its own
active employee base. Therefore, the liabilities under the Linde U.S. pension plan mature at a later date compared to pension
funds of other similar companies. Investment strategies are revtewed by management and investment performance 1s tracked
agamst appropriate benchmarks. There are no concentrations of risk as it relates to the assets within the plans.

The mnternational pension plans are managed mdivadually based on diversitied investment portfolios, with different
targel asset ailocatons that vary for cach plan. Linde’s U S and mternanonal pension plans” weighted-average asset
allocations at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the turget asset allocation range for 2018, by migjor asset category. are as
follows:

UL, International
Target 2018 TLargei 2018
Asset Category Wk Target 2017 2018 2017 o Target 2017 2018 2017
Equity secunties F0-60"0  50%-T4H%, 48% 6% 138,280, 306300, 200, RIS
Fined mcome securities 3%a-50" 20%-40" 404 300 3000507 a0t 46, LRUM
Orther SPo-13"a 20e-10" 13 CARTRCT TSR 15 LTRR A [ R uty,
T Target asset allocations provided gbove tor fiscal year 2018 aie caleudated based on weighting the mdn idual Praxan

and L mde AG pension plan target allocations by then respectine portions of the total asset porttolio
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The following table sunmarizes pension assets measured at far value by asset category at December 31. 2018 and
2017 Durmg the vears presented. there has been no transfer of assets between Levels 1, 2 and 3 (see Note 13 for definition of
the levelst,

Fair Value Measuremenis Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 %% Total
rMillions of dofiars) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents v 348 % 75— 58— 5 — % — § 38 8 7
Equity securines.
Global equities 1.151 302 — — — — 131 302
Mutual funds 74 — 43 — — — P17 —
Fixed income securities:
Government bonds — — 1.772 246 — — 1772 246
Emerging market debt — — 522 - — — 522 —
Mutual funds 109 1is 2l —— — — 130 118
Corporate bonds — — RE 18] — — N2 IR
Bank loans — — 313 — — — 313 —
Altemative investments,
Insurance contracts — —- - — S0 - S0
Real estate funds - — -— 298 I58 298 158
Private debt - - - 67 — 67] - -
Other iy estments - - — A3 - - - — 33 —
Liguid alternativ e -- 1192 - — 1,192 -
Total plan asscts at fwr value
December 31. U662 & 427 Sd278 08 427 08 969 F 208 $6904  $1.062
Paoled funds * [.335 1.160
Total fair value plan assets
December 31, w8244 &2002

* Pooled funds are measured using the net asset value CNANT) as a practical expedient for tair value as permisatble under
the accounting standard for fair valae measurements and hayve not been categorized in the fanm valuce hierarchy

** Jhe following table swmmarizes changes i B value of the penston plan assets classitied as level 2 for the perods ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Insurance Reat Estate
(Millions of dollars) Contracts Funds Private Debt Total
Balance, December 31, 2016 % 45 5 135 % — 5 180
Gain'(Loss) for the period (h 12 -— N
Acquisitions — 11 — 11
Foreign currency translation & — -— 6
Balance. December 312017 50 158 — 208
Assumed m Linde AG merges — 4% 667 ®is
Gam (Loss) for the period — 9 4 i3
Acquisitions i — —
NMerger-related divestitures 49 - - 44
Other dinestitures — (17 — (1M
Forewgn currencys translauon 11 — — h
Balance. December 31, 2018 5 -— % 208 5 671 S 2649

The de~xcniprions and fair v alue methodologies for the 1S, and mternational pension plan assets we as tollow s
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Cash and Cash Equivalents — This category includes cash and shor-terin interest bearing mvestments with maturities
of three months or less. Investments are valued at cost plus accrued interesi. Cash and cash equivalents are classified within
level 1 of the valuation hierarchy

Equary Securiries — This category is comprised of shares of commeon stock in U.S. and international companies from a
diverse set of industries and size Comman stock 15 valued at the closing market price reported on a U.S. or mternational
exchange where the security is actively traded. Equuty securities are classified within leve] | of the valuation hierarchy.

Muiual Finids — These categories consist of publicly and privately managed funds that invest primarily in marketable
equity and fired income securities. The fair value of these invesiments is deterimined by reference to the net asset value of the
underlying securities of the fund. Shares of publicly traded mutual funds are valued at the net asset value quoted on the
exchange where the fund is traded and are primanily classified as level 1 within the valuation hierarchy

U7.S. and International Government Bonds — This category includes U.S treasuries, U.S. federal agency obligations and
international government debt The majority of these investments do not have quoted market prices available for a specific
government security and so the fair value is determined usmg guoted prices of sumilar securities in active markets and is
classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy

Corporate Bonds — This category 1s comprised of corporate bonds of ULS. and internattonal companies from a diverse
set of industries and size. The fair values for U'S and mtemational corporate bonds are deternmned using quoted prices of
similar securities 1n active markets and observable data or broher or dealer quotations The fair values for these investments
are classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy

Pooled Funds - Pooled fund NAV's are provided by the trustee and are determined by reference to the fair value of the
underlymg securities of the trust. less 1ts llabibties, which are vajued primarily through the use of directly or indirectly
observable mputs. Depending on the pooled fund. underlying securities may inctude marketable equity securities or fixed
income securities

Bank Loais - This category 1s comprised of traded syndicated loans of larger corporate borrowers, Such loans are
issued bv sub-mvestment grade rated companies both 1n the LS. and internationally and are syndicated by i estment banks
to instituttonal mvestors, They are regularly raded in an active dealer market comprised of large investment banks, which
supply bid and offer quotes and are therefore classitied within levet 2 of the valuation hierarchy

Ligued Aternative Invesimenrs This category 1s comprised of iy estments i alternative mutual funds whose holdings
include liquid securities, cash, and dernvatnes Such funds focus on diversification and employ avanety of investing
strategies including long’short equity. multi-strategy . and global macro The fair value of these myvestments 1s determined by
reference to the net asset value of the underly ing holdings of the fund, which can be determined using observable data (e.g..
indices. yield curves. quoted prices of similar securities). and 1« classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy

Dswrance Contracts - The farr value of msurance contracts 18 determined based on the cash surrender value of the
insurance contract. which 1s determined based on such factors as the fair value of the underlying assets and discounted cash
flows. These contracts are with highly rated msurance companies. Insurance contracts are classified within level 3 of the
valuation hierarchy.

Real Estate Funds — This category includes real estate properties, partnership equities and investments in operating
companies. The fair value of the assets is determined using discounted cash flows by estimating an income stream for the
property plus a reversion into a present value at a nisk adjusted rate. Yield rates and growth assumptions utilized are derived
from market transactions as well as other financial and industry data. The fair value for these investments are classified
within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Privatre Debr — This category mcludes non-traded. privately-arranged loans between one or a small group of private
debt investment managers and corporate borrowers. which are tvpically too small to access the syndicated markert and have
no credit rating. This category also includes similar loans to real estate companies or individual properties. Loans included in
this category are valued at par value. are held to maturity or to call. and are classified within level 3 of the valuation
hierarchy.

Contributions

At a minimum. Linde contributes 1o 1ts pension plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (¢ g.. ERISA in the
United States). Discretionary contributions in excess of the local mmimum requirements are made based on many factors.
including long-term projections of the plans’ funded status. the economic enviromment. potential risk of overfundmg. pension
insurance costs and alternative uses of the cash Changes to these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions
from year to year Pension contributions were $87 nuthon in 2018, $19 mulhon in 2017 and $11 mullien in 2016 Estimated
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reguired contributions for 2019 are currently expecied to be m the range of $93 million to 3160 million,

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estimarted future benefit payments. net of participants contributions

(Millions of dollars;

Pensions

Year Ended December 21, LS. [nternational OPEB

2019 hy 353 % 322 S 14
2020 L30 333 is
202} 146 344 is
2022 168 352 13
2023 149 364 14
2024-2028 767 1.018 59
(a) fn January 2019 benetits of $91 million were paid related to the setttement of a U S, non-qualified plan that was

triggered due to a change in comtrol provision Tl resulted ina $31 mithon charge
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NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company accrues non income-tax hiabilities for contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable
and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. while contingent gains are recognized only when realized. In the event any
losses are sustained n excess of accruals. they will be charged against income at that time. Attorney fees are recorded as
incurred. Commitments represent obligations. such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that are not yet
recorded on the company’s balance sheet as liabilities. The company records Habilities for commitments when incurred
(i.e.. when the goods or gervices are received).

Contingent Liabilities

Liode is subject to various lawsuirs and government investigations that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of
business. These actions are based upon alleged environmental. tax, antitrust and personal injury claims. among others Linde
has strong defenses in these cases and intends to defend itself vigorously. It is possible that the company may incur losses in
connection with some of these actions in excess of accrued labalities. Management does not anticipate that in the ageregate
such losses would have a material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity. however, it1s
possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the company’s reported results of operations 1in any given
period.

Sigmificant matters are.

During May 2009. the Brazilian government published Law 11941/2009 nstituting a new voluntary amnesty
program {~Refis Program™) which aliowed Brazilian companies to settle certain federal tax disputes at reduced
amounts. During the 2009 third quarter. Praxair decided that it was economically beneficial to settle many of jts
outstanding federal tax disputes and such disputes were enrolled in the Retis Program, subject to final
calculation and review by the Brazihian federal government The company recorded estimated labilities based
on the terms of the Refis Program. Since 2009, Praxair has been unable to reach final agreement on the
calculations and mmtiated lingation against the goyernment in an attempt to resolve certain items. Open 1s5ues
relate to the followng matters: (1) appheation of cash deposits and net operating loss carryforwards to satisty
obligations and (1} the amount of tax reductions available under the Refis Program. Ttis difticult to estumate the
uming of resolution of legat matters in Brazil.

. At December 31, 2018 the most significant non-income and income tax claims in Brazil. after enrollment in the
Refis Program. relate to state VAT tax matters and a federal income tax matter where the taxing authortties are
challenging the rax rate that should be applied to income generated by a subsidiary company. The total
estimated exposure relating to such claims, including interest and penalties, as appropriate, is approximately
$205 milhon. Linde has not recorded any liabilities related to such claims based on management judgments,
after considering judgments and opinions of outside counsel. Because litigation in Brazil historically takes many
vears to resohve, it is very difficult to estimate the timing of resolution of these matters: however. it 13 possible
that certain of these matters may be resolved within the near term The company is vigorously defending against
the proceedings

«  On September 1. 2010. CADE (“Brazilian Admimstrative Council for Economic Defense™) announced alleged
anticompetitiy e activity on the part of five industrial gas companies in Brazil and imposed fines on all five
companies. Originally. CADE imposed a civil fine of R$2.2 hillion Brazilian reais (US$568 million} against
White Martins, the Brazil-based subsidiary of Praxair. In response to a motion for clarification, the fine was
reduced to R$1.7 billion Brazilian reais (US$439 million} due to a calculation error made by CADE. The
amount of the fine is subject to indexation using SELIC. On September 2, 2010, Praxair 1ssued a press release
and filed a report on Form &K rejecting all claims and stating that the fine represents a gross and arbitrary
disregard of Brazihan law.

On October 16. 2010, White Martins filed an annuliment petition (“appeal™) with the Federal Court in Brasilia
seeking to have the fine against White Martins entirely overturned. In order to suspend payment of the fine
pending the completion of the appeal process, Brazilian law required that the company tender a form of
guarantee in the amount of the fine as security. Initiafly. 50% of the guarantee was satisfied by letters of credit
with a financial institution and 50" by equity of a Brazilian subsidiary. On April 15, 2016, the Ninth Federal
Court in Brastlia allowed White Martins to withdraw and cancel the letters of credit. Accordingly, the guarantee
is currently satisfied solely by equity of a Brazilian subsidiary.

On September 14, 2015, the Ninth Federal Court of Brasilia overturned the fine against White Martins and
declared the original CADE administrative proceeding to be null and void. On June 30. 2016, CADE filed an
appeal aganst this decision with the Federal Curcuit Court in Brasilia.
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Praxair strongly behieves that the aliegations are without mert and that the fine will be enurely overturmed
durmg the appeal process The company further believes that it has sirong defenses and will vigorously defend
agamsl the allegatons and related fine up to such levels of the Federal Courts in Brazil as may be necessars.,
Because appeul~ m Brazil listorically take many vears to resobve. it)s very difficult to estimate when the appeal
will be finally decided. Based on management judgments, after considening judgments and opimions of outside
counsel. no reser e has been recorded for this proceeding as management does not believe that a loss 1s
probable

«  As stated above. in 2010, the Brazilian competition authority CADE imposed fines on a number of gases

compantes. including Linde AG s Brazihian subsidiary. on the grounds of alleged anu-competitiv e business
conduet CADE imposed a fine of approsimately R$18& miilion Brazilian reais (US 539 million) on Linde AG™s
Braz:lian subsidiary Based on the fact that the fine has been overturned by a federal court in the first instance
and on a subsequent appeal bv CADE. Linde believes that this deciston will not stand up to judicial review m

the third instance either. and deems the possibility of cash ouiflows o be extremely unlikely As a result. no
reserve has been recorded for this proceeding as management does net believe that a loss 1s probable

Commitments

At December 31 2015, Lmde had undrawn cutstandmg letters of eredit. bank guarantees and surets bonds valued at
apprenamately $2.961 methion from tinancial institutions. These relate primartly to customer contract performance guarantees
cncludimy plant construction m connection with ¢ertam on-site contracts ). seli-imsurance claims and other commercral and
o ernmental requirements, inciudime toreign hsgation matters,

Othet comnnuments related to leases tas habihies for uncertann s positons, Jong-term debi ather postretirement
and pension abligatons are summarnized elsewhere in the tinancial statements (see Notes 6.7, 13 and [8).
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NOTE 20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Effectine Qctober 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously announced merger of equals transaction
pursuant to the business combination agreement. resultung i a newly formed corporation named Linde ple. See Notes 1.3
and 4 for additional information on the merger. Although 1t is the company’s wntention to create new operating segments thart
will be used by management to allocate company resources and assess performance. due to the hold separate order with the
U.S. Federal Trade Commussion (see Note 1} it was not possible to implement this new management erganization structure in
calendar 2018. Therefore, the company has added Linde AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with
the merger date, which is consistent with the way the company was managed and results reviewed by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker. As the restrictions under the hold separate order was lifted effective March 1. 2019. the company
implemented a new operating segiment structure effective for 2019 reporting periods. as foliows: Amencas, EMEA (Europe/
Middle East/Africa); APAC (AsiasPacific). Engineering and Other.

Accordingly. during 2018 the company’s operations were arganized into five reportable segments. four of which have
been determuned on a geographic basis of segmentation: North America, Europe. South America and Asia. The company s
worldwide surface technologies business represents the fifth reportable segment As discussed above. Linde AG became a
sixth reportable segment effective with the merger on October 31. 2018,

Linde’s operations consist of two major product lines industrial gases and surface technologics The mdustrial gases
product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospherte gases (oXygen. nitrogen. argon. rare gases) and
process gases (carbon dioxide. helium. hydrogen. electronic gases. specialty gases. acetvlene). Many of these products are
co-products of the same manufacturing process. Linde manufactyres and distnbutes nearly all of its products and manages its
customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde’s industrial gases are distributed to various end-markets within a regional
segment through one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage: merchant or bulk. and packaged or cyvlinder
gases The distnbution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
products can be economically transported outside of a region Therefore. the distribution economics are specific to the
vartous geographies in which the company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance

Linde evaluates the performance of s reportable segment« based primarily on aperating profit. excluding purchase
accounting impacts of Linde AG. inter-company oy alties and iteins not indicative of ongong business trends Corporate and
globaily managed expenses, and research and development costs relating 1o Prasair’s global industrial gases busmess. are
allocated to operating segments based on sales

The table below presents mtormation about reportable segments for the vears ended December 21 2018, 2017 and
2016.

(Mitlions of dollaryy 2018 2017 2016
Sales (a)
North America b 6410 % 6023 % 5592
Europe 1.592 L35K 1.392
South America 1.369 1.501 1,399
Asia 1.964 1.738 1.555
Surface Technologies 6R2 617 504
Linde AG 2873 % -~ ¥ —
S 14900 § 11437 % 10.534




Operating Profit
North America
Europe

South America

Asia

Surface Technologies
Linde AG

Segment operating profit

Transaction costs and other charges

Net gam on sale of business

Purchase accounting impacts -- Linde AG

Total operating profit

Total Assets (b)
North Amernca
Lurope

South America

Asia

Surtace Technologies
Linde AG

Depreciation and Amaortization
North America

Europe

South America

Ast

Surface Technologies

[ inde ACr

segment depreciation and amultivation
Purchase accountmyg mmpacts — Linde AG

Total depreciation and amortization

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions

North America
Furope

South America

AsIa

Surface Technologies
Lmde AG

2018 2017 2016
b 1.645 S 317 S 1431
316 301 273
213 139 263
n 333 27
118 106 99
252 —
2.976 2.496 2343
{3090 (52} (96)
3.204 — _
(71 — —
hY 3247008 2444 % 2,247
2018 2017 2016
S o4z S fo41e % 16,019
THY 3282 1028
RV 273K 2748
IR 3252 Tusg
EALY) N 653
BRI - —-
LS Q33860 0~ 204360 0N [ 332
218 2017 2016
S 6oh 631 % 614
146 16U 155
148 150 133
204 [ 17
14 40 +1
82 —
[4sd Fisd b2z
346 -— —
¥ i.830 % 11584 % i.i22
2018 2017 20146
» R FUNY a8 98
[57 14} 402
u” 129 232
248 20n 165
03 KA 40
30” _ _
- 190G & 1344 & |82




2618 017 2016
Sales by Product Group
Atmospheric gases and refated 32 S.378 0% TRIS S T.329
Process gases and other 2070 2882 2.609
Surface technologies 082 61~ 596
Linde AG 2873 - —
5 14900 § 11.437 % 10.534
2018 2017 2016
Sales by Major Country
United States b 5942 % 4972 % 4.623
Europe, excluding Germany 2435 1,372 1.240
Brazil 1.067 1479 1.091
China 1.032 735 613
Germany S68 4t 373
Other — foreign 3.556 2777 2.594
% 14900 % 11437 % ).534
Wiy 2017 2016
Long-lived Assets by Major Country (¢)
United States 5 7089 % 189749 4 4779
Cutope. excluding Germany 7.754 SN 1170
Germart 2410 413 37y
Chma 2257 1.060 97
Brazil .02 P.204 1. 240
Other — foreign 9114 2.85] 2706
Total long-1is ed assets b 2974708 PER2S S 11,2449
(a) Sales reflect external sales only and mclude two months of Linde AG sales from the merger date of October 31,
2018 to vear end. Intersegment sales. primarthy from North America to other segments. were not material
(hy Inciudes equity mvestments as of Decenther 31, as tollows.
¢Millions of doflgrs) 2R 2047 10106
North America $ . S (RS 1214
Lurope () 34 287 243
Asia 306 A25 353
Linde AG (ii) 1.280 - - —
i3 1.838 8§ 727 % 717
(i) The reduction in European cquity mvestments relates primarily to the sale of Prarair’s 34%0 non-controlling mterest
participation in its [talian joint venture — refer to Note 4. Divesttures, for addinenal infermation, Other fluctuations
relate to equity investment earmings. dividends. and foreign currencs bnpacts.
{ii} Linde AG equrty investments relate primarily o Asia.
te) Long-lived assets include property. plant and equipment — net and refiect the impact of the merger with Linde AG

(refer to Note 3).
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NOTE 21. REVENLE RECOGNITION

Effective Januars 1. 2018, Linde adopted the FASB’s Accounting Standards Update No. 20]14-09 (" ASC 6067 relating
to Revenue Recogmition using the modified retrospective transiton method. The new accounting standard requires revenue to
be recogmized as control of goods or services are transferred 10 customers n an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an ennty expects to be entitled to receive n exchange tor the goods or services, No material cifferences in revenue
recognition were identified as compared to the company’s hustorical revenue recognition accounting: accordmgly, there 15 1o
adjustment to opemng retained earnings at January 1. 2018 and therefore no need to present comparable revenue in
accordance with the prior accounting pohicy The following sections include Linde’s res enue recognition accounting policies
and disclosures 1n accordance with ASC 606

Contracts with Customers

Approaimately 76% of Linde’s consolidated sales are generated from industrial gases and relared products in four
geographic segments (North America. Europe. South America and Asia). Linde AG represents approximately 199, of 2018
sales and the remaining 5%« 15 refated to the global surface technologies segment. Linde serves a diverse group of industries
including healtheare, petroleum refining. manufacturing. food. beyerage carbonation. fiber-opnics, steel making. aerospace.
chemicals and water trcatment.

lindustrial Gases

W ithin each of the company s geographic segments for industrial gases, there are three basie disintbution methods:
(1) on-site or tonnage: (1) merchant or bulk Liquid. and (1in packaged or e hinder gases. T'he distnibution method used by
Lmde to supply a customier 1s determined by many factors, including the customer’s volume requirements and location. The
distribution method generally determines the contract erms with the customer and. accordingly. the res enue recognition
accounung practiees Linde’s primary products inits industrial gases business are datmospheric guses (oxy gen. niyogen,
argon, rare gases) and process gases {carbon dionade. helium. hy drogen. clectronie gases. specialty gazes, acenslenc) These
products are generally sold through one of the three distmibution methods,

Following i~ a descripuon of each of the three mdustrial gases distiibunon methods and the respectiv e revenue
recogrion policies

Chi-vire Customers that require the largest volumes of product and that have a relanivels constant deimand pattern are
supphied by ervogenie and process gas on-site plants Linde constructs plants on o1 adiacent 1o these customers” sites and
supphes the product directls to customers by pipeline Where there are lurge concentrutions of customers. a single pipeline
may he connected to severat plants and customers On-site product supply contracts generally are total requirement contracts
with terms typicatly ranging from 10-20 vears and contain mimmuim purchase requirements and price escalation provisions.
Many of the crvouenic on-site plants also produce liquid products for the merchant market Therefore. plants are typically not
dedicated to a singlc customer Additionaliyv, Linde i responsible for the design. construction, vperations and maintenance of’
the plants and customers tvprcally have no sy olvement i these activities Advanced air separation processes also allow
on-site delivers o customers with smatler volume requirements

I'he company s performance obligations related to on-site customers are satistied over time as customers recen e and
ubtain control of the product, Linde has elected to apphy the practicat expedient tor measuning progress towards the
completion ot a performance obhgation and recognizes revenue as the company has the right 10 i owce each customer.
which generaily corresponds with product dehivery. Accordingtv. revenue is recogmzed when product 15 dejnered to the
customer and the company has the right to mvoice the customer in accordance with the contract terms Consideration in these
contracts 15 generally based on pricing which fluctuates with vanous price indices. Vaniable components of consideration
exist within on-site contracts but are considered constrained

AMerchns Merchant delivertes generally are made from Linde s plants by tanker trucks 1o storage containers at the
custommer’s site Due to the retativels high distribution cost. merchant oy gen and nirogen generally hine arelatively smalt
distribution radius from the plants at which they are prodoced Merchant argon. hydrogen and hehum can be shipped much longer
distances The customer agreements used in the merchant busipess are usually three-to seven-vear supph agreements based on the
requirements of the customer These contracts generally do not contarm mmimum purchase requirements or v ofume comnitments,

The company s performance obhgations related to merchant customers are generally satisfied ata point in timie as the
customets recene and obtain control ot the product. Revenuve 15 recognized when product 1 delisered 1o the customer and
the company has the right to im oice the customer in accordance wath the contract terms, Any sariable compenents of
consideration within merchant contract are constriuned howes e s consideration 1~ not sigmificant

Packaged Gases Customers regquirmg small volumes are supphed products m contamers called oy linders. under
medium to igh pressure Linde distributes merchant gases from its production plants 1o compans -owned ¢y hindet filling
plants where evhinders are then filled for distributien ro customers Cs inders may he dehinvered o the customer’s site o1
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piched up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail store. Linde intoices the customer for the industrial gases and the
use of the cylinder container(s), The company also sells hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from independent
manufacturers. Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-vear supply contracis and purchase orders and do not
contain manimum purchase requirements or s olume commitments.

The company’s performance obligations related to packaged gases are satisfied ar & point 1n time. Accordingly. revenue
is recognized when product is delivered to the customer or when the customer picks up product from a packaged gas facility
or retail store. and the company has the right to payment from the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Anv
vanable consideraticn is constrained and will be recognized when the uncertamty related to the consideration is resolved.

Surtace Technologies

The company’'s surface technologies segment, operated through Praxair Surface Technologies, Inc., supplies wear-
resistant and high-temperature corrosion-resistant metallic and ceramic coatings and powders. Praxair Surface Technologies
is a leading global supplier of coatings services and thermal spray consumables to customers in the aircrafi. energy. printing,
primary metals. petrochemucal. textile, and other industries. Its coatings are used to provide wear resistance. corrosion
protection. thermal insulation, and many other surface-enhancing functions which serve to extend component life. enable
aptimal performance. and reduce operating costs. It also manutactures a complete line of electric arc. plasma and wire spray.
and high-y elocity oxyv-fuel ("HVOF™) equipment

The company’s perfannance obligation related to surface technologies customers are generally sausfied at a point in
lime when the customer recen e and takes control of product. Accordingly. resenue 15 recognized when product 15 delivered
to the customer or when the customer picks up the product from the company s tacility. and the company has the right to
invoice the customer 1 accordance with the contract terms.

Linde Engineering

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industnal gas applications
manufactured specifically for end customers. Sale of equipment contracts are generally comprised o' a single performance
obligation Revenue from sale of equipment s generally recognized over time as Linde has an enforceable night to payment
for performunce completed o date and performance does not create an asset with allernative use, Foi contracts recognized
over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input method Casts meurred to date relative to totai
estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward sausfving performance obligations. Costs incurred include
material. labor, and ov erhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate 1o the transter of contro (o the
customer. (‘ontract modifications are typicalty accounted for as part of the existing contract and are recognized as a
cumulative adjustment for the inception-to-date effect of such change

Contract Assets and Liabdiiics

Contract assets and habilities result from differences in timing of revenue recogmition and customer iy owcing. Contract
assets primarily relate to sale of equipment contracts for which revenue 1s recognized over nme. The balance represents
unbilled revenue which occurs when revenue recognized under the measure of progress exceeds amounts invoiced to
customers, { ustomer mvoices may be based on the passage of time. the achievement of certain contractual milestones or a
combination of both criteria.

Contract liabilities include advance payments or right to consideration prior to performance under the contract,
Contract Habilities are recognized as revenue as performance obligations are satisfied under contract terms.

Linde has contract assets of $283 million and contract liabilities of $1,546 million at December 31, 201 8. Contract
assets and liabilities promarily relate to the Linde Engineering business acquired in the merger. The Industrial Gases
Businesses and Surface Technologies do not have material contract assets or liabilities.

Puvment Terms and Other

Linde generally receives paviment after performance obligations are satisfied. and customer prepayments are not typical
for the Industrial Gases Businesses and Surface Technologies. Payment terms vary based on the country where sales
eriginate and local customary payment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of customary payment
terms Amounts billed for sales and use taxes, value-added taxes, and certain excise and other specific transactional taxes
imposed on revenue producing transactions are presented on a net basis and are not included in sales within the consolidated
statement of income. Additionally. sales returns and allowances are not a normal practice in the industry and are not
significant.




Disaggregated Revenue Information

The campany manages 1ts industrial gases business on a geographic basis. while the surface technologies busimess 1s
managed on a global basis. Linde AG had been managed as a separate segment due to the restiictions under the hold separate
order. which were lifted on March 1. 2019 Further. the company beheves that reporting sales by distribution method n
reportable geographic segment best 1llustrates the nature, nming. tvpe of customer. and contract terms for its revenues.
ncluding ferms and pricing.

The following table shows sales by distribution method for each reportable segment and at the consolidated level for
the vear ended December 31. 2018

(Dollurs mn Millions)

Narth South Surface
Sales America Europe America Asiz Technologies Linde AG Total bs
Merchant S 2364 % 5004 520 0% 624 % — 5 S04 S 4580 3" a
On-Site 1.901 29 454 984 — S0l 4.131 IR0,
Packaged Gas 1.995 682 a6l 221 — 1.257 4.519 RIS L
Other 160 ox B! 135 682 591 1.670 1124
$ 6420 S 1392 % 1369 % 1964 & 682 % 287TF % 14900 100

Remaining Performance Obligations

As described above. Tinde s contracts with on-site customers are under long-term supply amangemants which
generalby require the customer to purchase therr requirements ttom Linde and also have mpmum purchase requirements
The company estimates the consideration related to nupumnum purchase requurerments is approvimatels %45 billion This
amount excludes all sales above numimum purchase requarements, which can be sigmificant depending on customet needs 1o
the future. actual amounts will be different due to mmpacts from several factors: many of which are bey ond the compans s
control meludimg. but not hmited to. trming of newly signed. ternimated and renewed contracts, nflationary price
escalations, curtency eschunge rates. and pass-thiough costs related 10 natural gas and clectricns the actual durazion of
long-term ~upply contracts ranges v 1o taenty vears The campany estmates that appreximatels halt ot the revenue related
Lo nummum purd hase 1equirements ate estimated 1o be carned i the pest five vears and the remammg thereafter.
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NOTE 22, QUARTERLY DATA (LNAUDITED)

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per shure dara)

20618 10 ¢a) 2Q (@) 3Q {a) 4Q (a) YEAR (a)
Sales S 2999 S 3001 5 3024 % 5816 % 14,900
Cost of sales. exclusive of deprecrauon and amorization SO1677 0% 1723 0% 1714 S 3870 S 9.084
Depreciation and amortization b 311 8 311 0% 306 5 202 ¢ 1.830
Operating profit ¢ 653§ 689 % 669 & 3236 & 5247
Net inconie — Linde ple $ 462 % 480 % 461 % 2978 §  4.381
[ncome from continuing operations $ 162 S 480 § 461 $ 2870 § 4273
Income from disconunued operations 3 — % — % — ¥ 108 % 108
Basic Per Share Data

Income from contimuing operations * % el § 1.67 & 1.60 % 627 & 1293
Income from discontinued operations * — — — 0.24 0.33
Weigined ayerage shares ((H107s) 287.504 287 803 288.093 437.51IR 330,401
Diluted Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations * % 159 % 165 % 158 % 622 % 12
Income trom discontinued operations * — — — (323 (.32
Wejghted average shares (10075 290,809 290.908 291,513 461,150 % 334,127
2017 1Q (a) 2Q (a) 3Q (a) 40 ) YEAR (a)
Sales S OO2728 0% 23834 0% 0 2922 % 2453 0% 11437
Cont of sades, exclusne of depreciution and amortizauon S 1549 & 1589 % 1.632 S o6l % 6.461
Deprectation und winortization b REEERY LI ¥ 208 0% 307008 184
Operating protit b 67 % 606§ 632 % 639 & 2444
Net income - binde ple $ RECEEN 406 S 419 5 33 0% 1.247
Basic Per Share Data

Net income $ [.i6 % 142 % 146 % ullr % 4.36
W eighted average shares (0007 2855009 2R6.090 286,407 286076 286261
Diluted Per Share Data

Net income 4 135 S 141 S 145 % 1l % 432
Weiphted average shares (0007 287,384 288535 289216 200456 2841
*

Due 1o quarterly changes wa the <share count as a result of the merger the sum of the four quarters does not equal the
carnings per share amount calcufated for the year

{a) 2018 and 2017 include the impact of the tollowing matters (see Notes 3. 4. 5,7, 13 and 18):




QOperating

Profit/ income from Continuing
{Mitlions of dollars) (Loss) Operations
Transaction costs and ather charges - (1 i) (19 % i18)
Transaction costs and other charges - Q2 (24) 121
Transaction costs and other charges - Q3 3h (29
Pension settlement charge - Q3 (3}
Transaction costs and other charges - Q4 (235} (23%)
Gain on sale of business - (34 3,294 2923
Bond redemption - Q4 — 120)
Pension settiement charge - Q4 — {3)
Tax Act and other tay charges - Q4 7
Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG - Q4 (714 (4519
Year 2018 b 227100 % 2452
[ransaction custs und vither charges - Q1 ) by S th)
[ransaction costs and other clinges - Q2 (i35 (15
[ransucnion costs and other charges - Q3 t1d) i3
Pension settlemient charge - ()3 - o)
Fransaction costs and otlier charges - Q4 ol ey
Faw Act- (4 - (394
Yewr 2017 > (20 43




NOTE 23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Divestitures

On March 1. 2019. Linde AG completed the sale of the majorsy of its mdustrial gases business m Nerth America and
certain industrial gases business activities in South America 1o a consortium comprising companies of the German industrial
gases manufacturer Messer Group and CV'C Caputal Partners Fund VI pursuant to a Saie and Purchase Agreement, dated
July 16, 2018. as amended on September 22. 2018. October 19. 2018 and February 20, 2019. by and among the Company,
Linde AG, Praxair, Inc.. Messer Group and CVC Capital Partners Fund V11 (the “SPA™). Messer Group and CVC Capital
Partners Fund VI paid $2,97 billion in cash consideration after purchase price adjustiments for certain items relating to assets
and liabilities of the sold businesses. The SPA was entered into as part of the comumitments in connection with the merger
control review by the U.S. Federal Trade Comnussion (the “FTC") of the previously completed combination of the
businesses of Praxair. Inc. and Linde AG under the Company (the “business combiation™ — see Note 1).

Ags part of the company 's. Praxair’s and Linde AG’s further commitments in connection with the merger control review
by the FTC. Linde AG divested additional assets within the Americas for aggregare net proceeds of $331 million (i) to
Matheson Tri-Gas. Inc.. five of Linde AG™s HvC O fachities outside the Gulf Coast region. along with Linde AG's hydrogen
pipeline in the Gulf Coast. intellectual property. customer contracts, and other assets. (1i) to Celanese Corporation. Linde
AG’s Clear Lake. Texas plant. and Gio to LyomdellBasell Industries NV Linde AG's La Parte. Texas plant,

Hold Separate Order

Addinonally, concurrent wth the sale of the required merger-telated divestitures in the Lnited States. on March 1,
2019, the hold separate order restrictions described m Note | were Tited and the Company was able to commence integration
activities




ITEM9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNLANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCTAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiy eness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation of the effectiveness of Linde’s disclosure controls and procedures. which was made under the
supervision and with the participation of management. including Linde s principal executise ofticer and principal finaneial
officer. the principai executive officer and principal financial officer have each condiuded that. as of the end of the annual
pertod covered by this report. such disclosure controls and procedures are effective i ensuring that mformation required to
be disclosed by Linde in reports that it files or submuts under the Exchange Act of 193415 recorded. processed. sunmanzed
and reported within the time perieds specified in the Secartties and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. and
accumulated and communicared to management jncfudig Linde s principal execuinn e ofiicer and principal finaneial uificer.
o allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Management's Report on Internal Control Onver Financial Reportiing
Reter 1w Itam » for Management's Report on [nrernal Contol Over Frinaneaal Reporung as of Decembar 31 201
Changes in Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting

There were no chunges 1 Linde < internal conttol over financial reporting that sccuted durmg the quarter ended
December 31 2018 that hove matenally wifected. of we reasonably Jikeis o matenially altect Dinde’ s imternal controf ove
finuncial reporting

FIEM 6B, OTHER INFORMATION

None



PART I
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain information requured by this item is incorporated herem by reference to the sections captioned “Corporate
Governance and Board Matters - Director Nominees™ and “Corporate Governance And Board Matters-Section 16ia)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by Apnt 30. 2019 for the Annual
General Meeting

Identificarion of the Audit Committee

Linde has a separately-designated standing Audit Comnmntiee established 1 accordance with Section 2(an 584 A) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act™). The members of that audit comnuttee are Prof.
Dr. Clemens Bérsig (chairman). Dr. Nance K. Diccrani, Dr. Thomas Enders. Edward G Galante, Larry D. McVay and
Dr. Victoria Ossadnik. and each member is independent within the meaning of the independence standards adopted by the
Board of Directors and those of the New York Stock Exchange,

Audit Computtee Finuncial Expert

The L.inde Board ot Directors has determined that Prof Dr. Clemens Bor<ig 1~ an “audit commitiee tinancial expert™ as
defined by Item $07(d)( 51} of Regulation S5-K of the Exchange Act and is independent withu: the meaving of the
mdependence standards adopted by the Board of Directors and those of the New York Stock Exchange

Code of Ethicy

Linde has adopied a code of ethics that apphes 1o the company “s directors and ail employees, mcluding ds Chier
Executive Officer. Chief Financial Officer. and Controller This code of ethics. includmg specific standards for implementing
certain provisions of the code. has been approved by the Linde Board of Directors and s named the “Caode of Business
Integrity”™ This document 15 posted on the company s public webaite, www linde com but s not meorporated herein

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Intformation required by thix em 1s incorporated hercns by reference to the sections captioned L secutng
Compensation Matters™ and “Corporate Governance and Board Matters — Director Compensation”™ m L inde™s Prosy
Statement 10 be filed by April 30, 2019 for the Annual General Meetimy




ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICTAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Equin Compensarion Plans Informarion -- The table below provides mfonmation as of December 31. 2018 about
company shares that maxy be 1ssued upon the exercise of options. warrants and rights granted to emplovees or members of
Linde’s Board of Directors under equuty compensation plans that were assumed by Linde upon the completion of the
business combination on Cctober 3i. 2018

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to W eighted-ayerage future issuance ander
be issued upon exercise eaercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options. outstanding options. (evcluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights (a) warrants and rights (b reflected in column (a})) (¢}
Equity compensation pians approved by
shareholders 11,694,110 (1 & f17.65 SA82.73 (2
Equity compensation plans not approsed by
sharcholders - —
Futal 11603110 % 117.63 ¥ AR 73]
(h This amount includes 1070423 restricred shares
(2 This amount includes 009,603 shares ay ailable for future issuance pursuant to the Amended and Restated 2009

Pravamr, Ine Long Term Incenuve Plan ussumed by Linde. and 473128 shares v atlable for future issuanee pursuant
to the Linde pic 1 ong Term Incentive Plan 2088

Certam informanan reguned by this item regarding the beneiicial omershup ol the company s ordinars shares =
incorpotated herem by reference to the section captioned “Informaton on Share Ownership " Linde’s Prosy Statement 1o
be filed by Aptil 30, 2019 for the Annual General Meeting

I'TEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item 1< mcorporated heremn by rederence to the sections capioned “Corporate Governance
And Boatd Matters - Review . Approval o1 Rautication of Transactions with Refated Persons” “Corporate Governance And
Board Matters  Certam Relationships and Transactions.” and “Corporate Governance And Board Matters Directon
independence™ in Lnde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by Apnil 30, 20049 for the Annual General Meenng

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERMICES

Informatnon required by this item 1s meomorated herein by reference to the section captioned “Audit Matters™ in
Linde’s Prony Statement to be filed by April 30, 2019 for the Annual General Meetig.

)
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ITEM 5.

{a)

PART Iv
EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The feilowing documents are filed as part of thus repore

tl

The company’s 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report of the Independent Regisiered
Public Accounting Firm are included in Part I, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Financial Statement Schedules — All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not
applicable or the required infotynation 1s shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Exhibits - The extubiis filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the accompanving
index.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Description

Business Combination Agreement by and amoeng Linde Aknuengesellschaft, Praxair. Inc,, Zamahght
PLC. Zamalight Holdeo LLC and Zamalight Subco. Inc. dated as of June 1. 2017 (Filed as

Ealybit 2.1 to Praxair. Inc.’s Current Report on Form £-K dated Fune |, 2017, Filing No 1-11037.
and is incorporated herein by reference )

Amendment No 1. dated August 10, 201710 the Business Combinatnon Agreement. by and among
Praxair. Inc.. Linde Aktrengesellschafi. Linde ple. Zamaiiglht Holdeo LLC and Zamalight subvo. Inc.
(Filed as Eahibit 2.1 1o Praxait. Ine “» Current Report on Form S-K dared August 160, 2017, Filing

No [-11037, and 15 incorporated hereby M reference.)

Sale and Purchase Agreement. dated July 5. 2018, by and among Praxair. Inc . Taryo Nippon Sanso
Corporation (“Tano . and Linde pke with yespect to the sale of a majority of Praxair’s businesses in
Eurepe to Taivo mn comection with the Busmess Combination Agreement (Filed us Exhubit 2 1 to the
Company "> Quarterls Report on Form [0-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, File

No 1-38730. and 15 incorporated hereby by reference .

Sale and Purchase Agreement. dated July 16, 201X by and among |inde AG. Pranan. Inc . MG
Industries GmbH. Messer Canada inc . MG Industries USAL Ine (the MG entities and AMesser
Canada. Inc bemyg collectnely reterred o s "Messer™n and Linde ple with respect o the sale of
certain assets of Einde AG 10 the Amenicas and certam assets of Praxawir. Ine. to Messer i connection
with the Busiess Combipanon Agreement {Filed as Exhibit 2 2 to the Company "s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-0) for the quaner ended Seprember 20, 2018, Tile No 1238730, and 1~ incarporated
hereby by reference)

First Amendment dated Seprember 21, 2015 1o the Sule and Purchase Agieement. dated July 16,
2018 by and amoeng inde AG, Prazant Ine o Moessersand Lide ple with respect to the sale ol certinn
additional assets of Linde AG m the Amerncas 1o NMesser in connection with the Busmess
Combmanion Agreement (Diled as Exhibit 2 3w the Company > Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) for
the quarter ended September 30, 201 s, File No  1-357300 and 1 incorporated hereby In reference)

Second Amendment dated October 19 20T tothe Sale and Purchase Agreement dated fuby 16,
2018 as amended by the Fust Amendmoent theteto by and among Dinde AG. Prasan. Ine Messer.
and Linde ple. with respect o the sale of cortan additronal assets ot Finde AG o the Amerieas to
Megser mr conneenon with the Busimess C ombmanon Agreement tFifed as Fahibit 2 2 tothe
Compam "« Quarteriy Report on Form 10-0) tor the quarter ended Seprember 35 2018, File

No, 1-11037. and s incorporated hereby by reterenced

Third Amendment dated Cebruary 200 2019 o the Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 201K,
as amended by the First and Second Amendment thereto, by and among Lmde AG. Prasan. Ine .
Messer. and Linde plo. with respect to the sale ot certam additional assets of Linde AG m the
Amernicas to Moesser m connection with the Busmess C ombimation Agieement dated as of June |
2017, as amended, 1o etfect a combinanion ot the busimesses of Lmde AG and Prasao. Tne (Frifed as
Exhibit 2 4 o the Company ~ Current Report on Forny 8-Ko filed on Mareh 7 20090 File No 1-11037,
and i~ incorporated hereby by referenees

Amended and Restated Public Limited € ompany Constizution of Linde ple ¢Filed as Fxluba 3 1 to
the Company’™s Current Report on Form 8-K. filed on October 31, 2018, File No 333-2 15485, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Indenture. dated as of July 15, 1492, between Praxair, [nc. and U.S Bank National Association, as
the ultimate successon trustee 1o Bank of Amenca. Hlinos, tformerly Continental Bank, National
Association (Filed as Extubit 4 to Pravan. Ine.”s Current Report on Form &K dated March 19, 2007,
Filing No. 1-1103%, and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Subordinated Indenruic for Prusau. Ine (Filed as Fxhibit 4 3 (o Pravar. Ine "« Form S-3.
filed on May 12, 2015 File No 333-204093 and = mcorporated herem by reference )

Copres of the agrecments relaung tofong-aerm debt which are notrequined 1o he filed as exhibins o
this Annua! Report on Form 10-K will be furnished o the Secunties and Exchange Conmission upan
request.

Credit Agreement dated as of December 19 2074 among Pravanr. Ine. and the Ehgible Subsidraries
Retferred to thetemn. the Lenders listed therem. and Bank of America. N A Cas Admimistratn e Agent.
Citibank N A . Deutsche Bank Secunties Ine apd HSBC Securmes (LSA Ine as Syndication
Agents was filed as Exhibit 10 ] to Prasxann, Ine "~ current teport an Form S-K. dated December 22,
2004, Filmg No 1-11037 and 1~ incorporared heremn by reference.

Wanver. dated a~ of June 22, 201X, o the Credit Agreement dated as ot Decentber 140 20014, as
amended, among Pravan. ine . the Ehigible Subsidiaries party thereto from time o time. the lenders
party thereto from ume o time and Bank of Americi. NVA L as Admpustrative Agene (Filed as
Exhibit 101 1o Prasan. Ine s Quarterly Report on Fonm 10-0) for the second guarter of 2008, Tile
Nov - To3T and s meorporated Trereny baorelerences



Exhibit No.

10.02

10.02a

*10 03

*10.04

*10 05

*10.05a

*10.05b

*10.05¢

*10.45d

*1(.05e

*10 06

*10 060

*10.06b

*10.06c¢

*10.06d

*10.06e

*10 06f

*10.07

*10 07a

*10.07h

Description

Credit Agreement dated as of July 18, 2013 among Linde AG and Linde Finance B V.. as
original borrow ers. the Lenders listed therem. and Deutsche Banlk: Luxembourg S AL as Agent
and EUR Swingline Agent. Deutsche Bank AG. New York Branch. as U'SD Swingline Agent.
and the several Lead Arrangers listed therein.

Waner, dated as of June 19. 2018, to the Credir Agreement dated as of July 18, 2013 among
Linde AG and Linde Finance B.V.. as original borrowers. the Lenders listed therein. and
Deutsche Bank Lusembourg S.A.. as Agent and EUR Swingline Agent. Deutsche Bank AG.
New York Branch. as USD Swingline Agent, and the several Lead Arrangers listed therein.

Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of Linde plc (Filed as ExJubit 4.4 to the Company’s Form S-§.
filed on October 31. 2018. File No. 333-228084. and incorporated herein by reference)

Linde plc Annual Variable Compensation Plan effective January 1, 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Carrent Report on Form §-K. filed on January 25. 2019, File No. 1-38730,
and 1s incorporated hereby by reference).

Form of Executive Severance Compensation Agreement effective Tanuarv 1. 2009 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.02 to Praxair. Inc.’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and
mcarperated herein by reference ).

Form of Amendment. effective December 31, 2012, to Executive Severance Compensation
Agreements that were effective January 1. 2009 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Praxair. Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated December 14. 2012, Filing No. 1-11037. and corporated heremn by
reference.

Form of Executive Severance Compensation Agreement effective January 1. 2010 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.02 to Prasarr, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the gquarter ended June 30.
2010, Filing No. 1-11037. and mcorporated heremn by reference).

Form of Amendment. effectinve December 31, 2012, to Executive Severance Compensation
Agreements that were effectnve January 1. 2010 (Fited as Exlubit 10.02¢ 10 Praxair. Inc "s 2012
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form ot Executive Severance Compensation Agreement effecuve January 1. 2013 (Filed as
Exhubit 10 02d 1o Pravair, Ine.’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and
mcorporated herein by reterence.

Form of Assumption of Pranaur. Inc Executive Severance Compensation Agreemient by [ mde
ple.

Praxair. Ine. Supplemental Retirement Tncome Plan A eticerive January 1, 2008 (Filed as
Lxhibit 10.05a to Praxair, Inc s 2008 Annual Report on Torm 10-K. Filing No 1-11037. and
incorporated herem by reference).

First amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A cffective
January 1. 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05b to Praxar, Inc.’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Fiing No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to Praxair, Ine Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effectne
February 28, 2017, (Filed as Exhabit 10.05¢ to Prasair. Inc.’s 2016 Annual Report on

Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and 1~ incorporated hereby by reference).

Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B amended and restated effective

December 31. 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10.03b to Praxair, Inc.’s 2008 Annual Report on

Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated heren by reference).

First amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Inconie Plan B effective
January 1, 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05d to Praxair, Inc.’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Filing No 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to Praxatr. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective July 1.
2012 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05¢ to Praxair Inc.”s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing

No. 1-11037. and incorporated hercin by reference).

Third Amendment to Praxair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective

February 28, 2017. (Filed as Cxhibit 10.05¢g to Praxair. Inc.’s 2016 Annuat Report on

Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and 1s incorporated herein bv reference).

Praxair. Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan amended and restated effective December 31, 2007
{Filed as Exhibit 10 05¢ to Praxair, Inc.’s 2008 Annual Repott on Form 10-K. Filing

No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by reference)

First amendment to the Praxair. Inc Equalization Benefit Plan effective January 1. 2010 (Filed
as Exhibit 10,05f to Praxair Inc.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No 1-11037, and
mcorporated herein by reference)

Second Amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan effective February 28,
2017.(Filed as Exhibit 10.05) to Prasair. Inc.’s 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing

No. 1-11037, and 1s incorporated herein by reference).
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Description

Third Amendmemnt to the Praxarr. Ine Equalization Benefit Plan effective December 1. 2017
tFiled as Exhibit 10,03k to Praxair Inc 's 2017 Annual Report on Form 1=K, File Mo 1-1103 7.
and 1s incorporated heren by refetrence).

Fourth Amendment o the Praxa. Inc Supplemental Reurement Income Plan B effectine
December 1. 2017 (Filed as Exhibit 10.05] {o Praxair, Inc.’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.,
File No. 1-11037, and is incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effective
December 1, 2017 (Filed as Exiubit 10.05m to Prasair. Ine "s 2017 Annual Report on
Form 10-K. File No. 1-11037. and is incorporated herein by reference).

Praxai. Inc. 2018 Equalization Benefit Plan (Fiied as Exhibit 99.1 to Praxair, Inc.’s Current
Repart on Form &-K filed on October 22, 2018, File No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by
reference)

Prasair. Ing 20H1% Supplemental Reurement Income Plan A (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 10 Praxan,
fne.’s Current Report on Form §-K filed on October 22, 2018, File No 1-11037. and
mceaaporated heremn by reference )

Pravarr. ine 2018 Supplemental Reorement Income Plan B (Filed as Exhubit 993 to Prasan.
ine s Curtent Report on Form 8-K filed October 222 2018 File No [-11037. and incorporated
fierein by reference)

Pra~xuan. Inc Dector’s Fees Deterral Plan amended and restated effective January 26, 2010
thiled as Fxhibic 10 06 o Praxair Ine "s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
No o 1-TT0R7 and incorporated heren by reference)

Mavan. Ine Compensatien Deterral Program Amended and Restated a~ ot July 15,2014 tFiled
a~ Exhibit 1001 1w Prasair, Toe"s Quarterts Report on Form 10-0) o the quanter ended
September 3tk 2083 Hling Noo 1-11037. and meorporated beren by reference)

I o~ Amendment to the Puenarr Compensation Deterral Program effective February 280
20174 Mded as Fxlubit 10 074 10 Praxair. Ine s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
No 1=-1H037and 1= ineorporated herem by referencel

Serviee Credn Arrangement for Stephen B Angel dated May 23, 2007 was fited as

Fabubit 10 20 to Prasair, Inc.s Form 8-K filed an May 24, 2007 and 1~ mcorparated herermn by
refercnce
Amended and Restated 2009 Prasa. Jne. b ong Term Incentive Plan (Fited as Txhibit 403 (o

Praxam. Ine " Form S-8, filed on October 31, 200180 File No o 3332228084 and mcorporated
herem by refetenced
Form of Standard Optiom A ard under the 2008 Praxan. Ine Long Tenm Incentive Plan (Fried

as Lahiabn 10 22 0 Prasarr, Ine s 2009 Annual Report on Form [0-K. Taling No  [-11037, and
mcotpurated heremn by reference)

Form of Transferable Option Award under the 2009 Praxair. Inc Long Term Incentive Plan
tFiled as Exhibit 10.23 to Praxair. Inc "s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
No 1-11037, and incorporated herem by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the 2009 Prasair. Tnc. Long Term Incentive Plan
i Filed as Exlubit 10,24 to Praxair, Inc.’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
No 1-11037, and mcorporated herein by reference’
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Descriprion

First Amendment. dated as of April 25, 2017, to the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Ine
Long Term Incentive Plan (Filad as Exhubir 10.01 o Praxaw. Inc.’s Quarterfy Report on

Form [0-0) 101 the quarter ended March 21, 2017, Filing No. 1-11037. and is mcorporated
herem by reference)

Form of Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Reswated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long
Term Incenuve Plan for grants made in 2015-2017 (Filed as Exhibit 10.26 to Praxawr. Ine."s
2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No 1-11037_ and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Transferable Oprion Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long
Term Incentive Plan for grants made m 2018 (Filed as Exhibit 10 26a w0 Praxair, Inc.’s 201 7
Annual Report on Form 10-K., File No. 1-11037. and mcorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long
Term Incentive Plan for grants made in 2015 and thereafter (Filed as Exhibit 10.27 to Praxair.
In¢ "s 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No 1-11037, and incorporated heremn bv
reference)

Form of Restricted Stoch Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long
Term Incentive Plan for grants made in 2048 (Filed as Exhibit 10 27a to Prasair. Inc.’s 2017
Annuat Report on Form 10-K. File No. 1-11037_ and incorporated herein by reference).

Form ot Performance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Pravair. Inc
Long Term Incentive Plan for grants made m 20135 and thereafter with Carnmgs Per Share
performance metries (Filed as Exhibit 10 28A to Praxaur, Inc s 2004 Annual Report on

Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and mcorporated herem by reference)

Form ot Pertormance Share Uit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc.
Long Term Incentive Plan for grants made m 2016-2617 with Total Sharchotder Return
petiormance metries {Filed as Exhibit 10 280 1o Prasaie. Ine s 2015 Annual Report on

Formi 10-K. Fihing No 1-11037, and incorporated herem by reference)

Form of Non-Fmployvec Director Restricted Stock Umit Award under the Amended and Restated
2009 Prasair Ine Long Term Incentive Plan iFrled as Exhubit 10 01 to Praxarr, Ine *~ Quarterh
Report on Form 10-0 1o the gquarter ended June 30, 2015, Kihing Moo [-TT037, and mcorporaied
heren by referenee

Forny of Transferable Opaon Award undet the Amended and Restuted 2009 Praxar, Ine Long
Ferm Dncentive Plan for grants beginnmg i 2019

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Prasarr, Ine. Long
Term Incentive Plan for grants beginning in 2019

Form ot Performance Share Unit Award uander the Amended and Restated 2000 Prasair, Tne

I ong ferm hcentive Plan tor grants heginnimg m 2019 with Return on Capital performance
met e~

Form of Pertormuance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Prasair., Inc.
Long Term Incentive Plan for grants beginning m 2049 with Total Sharcholder Return
performance metics.

Separation Agreement and General Release dated April 6. 2018, by and between Praxair. Inc.
and Scott Telesz, Executive Vice President of Prasair (Filed as Exlubit 10.01 to the Praxair.
Ine."s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended March 31, 2018, File No 1-11037.
and incorporated herein by reference).

Plan conditions 2013 Awards under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan.

Plan condimions 2016 Awards under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan.

Plan conditons 2017 Awards under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan.

Form of Furst Amendment to the Plan Condiions under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term
Incentive Plan

Form of Second Amendment to the Plan Condittons under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term
Incentive Plan.

Formt of Award Agreement under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan.
Form of Emplover-Funded Pension Plan Executive Agreement of Linde AG

Form of Linde AG Executive Employment Agreement.

Formy of Change Control Appendix to Linde AG Executive Emplovment Agreement.

Executinve Employment Agreement by and between Linde AG and Mr. Saniiv Lamba. dated
March 9. 2011 as amended.
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Exhibit No. Description

*10.17 Form ot Linde ple Director Indemmiticaton Agreememnt (Filed as Exhubit 10.1 10 the Company's

Cwrent Report on Faom SR fited on Oeraber 210 2018, File No. 3533-218485 and mcorparated
heremn by reference

21.01 Subsidiaries of Linde ple

23.01 Consent of [ndependem Regisiered Public Accounting Firm.

3101 Rule 13a-14a) Certification

31.02 Rule [3a-14a) Cerufication

32.01 Section 1350 Ceruficanon (such ceruficauons are furnished for the informauon of the C omnussion

and shall not be deemed mcorporated by teference mto any filing under the Securrties Act or the
Exchange Act)

32.02 Section 1350 Cettificaton (such ceruficanons are furnished for the mtormanon of the Commussion
and shall not be deemed meorporated by reference mmto any filing under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Acty.

101.INS NBRE Instance Document

101 SCH XBRL Tasonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL NBRL Tavonomy Fatenwion Caleulanon Linkhase

101 LAB NBRL Tasononn Extension Label Binkbase

101 PRF ABRL Taxononn Extension Presentation Linkbase

101.DEE NBRI Tasvononn Extension Definmon |inkbase

Copies of exhibits incorporated by referency can be obiwmed frons the ST and are located mosbe Bile oo 1-11037

= Indicares o management contret o compens oy plan or arangement

o Certam schedules or sinvlar attachmients have been omitted pursuant to Bem 601ibN 2y of Regulanion S-K The
Registrant agrees to furnssh suppdementad] copies of apy of the onitied schedules or agachments upon request by the
SEC
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SIGNATURES
Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Pursuant i the requiremenis of the Securities Exchatige Act of 1934 the rego=tiant ha- duby caused thns report to be signed
on 1ts behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Linde plc
{Registrant}
Date: March 18, 2019 By s Kelern B HuvT - —— N
kelees L. Host
Cisief {ecaunting Uffice)

Pursuant to the 1equirements of the Securiries Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been wignad below by ihie ful
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capaciuies indhcated on March 18, 2019,
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